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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP
OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”), substantially
owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, one of
the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading gas
utilities group in China, the principal businesses of which include the
purchases and sales of natural gas, the construction and operation
of pipeline facilities, gas for vehicles and vessels, combined cooling,
heating and power, and integrated gas services, etc. Its operations
are strategically located in areas of China, which are economically
more developed and densely populated and areas with rich reserves
of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s
execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand rapidly in
2022 via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2022, CR
Gas’s portfolio consisted of 273 city gas projects in 25 provinces
of China including 15 provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative
municipalities with an annual gross gas sales volume of some 35.9
billion cubic meters and 54.37 million customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution
control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas
consumption in China. The PRC government has, in recent years,
taken various measures to promote the development and utilization
of less polluting energy sources. The natural gas industry is in sync
with the core development idea of innovation, harmony, green, open
and sharing as compared with conventional energy resources such
as coal and crude oil. In “The 14th Five-Year Plan” and the draft
of “Long-Range Objectives through the Year 2035”, the state once
again emphasized that the promotion of green and low-carbon
development, the enhancement of the construction of ecological
civilization and the promotion and application of natural gas played
an important role in protecting the ecological environment and
promoting the transition to green development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important
development period, as China remains the most important region in
the global rise of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed
to take advantage of such a favorable operating environment
and to become the most respectable leader in the PRC’s gas
industry by continuously expanding through organic and external
growths; diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue
of excellence; delivering a safe and reliable supply of clean
energy as well as the caring, competent and efficient service to
our customers; offering growing and sustainable performance
to shareholders; creating extensive professional and personal
development opportunities to employees; and contributing to
the protection and improvement of the Chinese and global
environment.
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ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2022, in the midst of the complicated and grave world situation
with the emergence of the impacts of geopolitical conflicts, elevated
inflation, and multiple events beyond expectation, the operating
environment of all walks of life has experienced significant challenges.
Despite this, the Group continued its pursuit of the spirit of excellence
to constantly optimize its operating management initiatives. During
the year, the Group actively implemented its annual operational
and management theme of “benchmarking, enhancing safety and
promoting development”, proactively responding to the complicated
and grave situation of gas sources, constantly improving its capability
to coordinate and secure gas sources, focusing on developing
integrated service and steadily advancing integrated energy, and
carrying out comprehensive and in-depth regional safety inspections
to eliminate safety hazards. The Group is committed to constantly
expanding and consolidating its core advantages and brand presence
in the city gas market of large cities and developed regions. During
the period, the Group recorded a gas sales volume of 35.89 billion
cubic meters representing a year-on-year increase of 5.3%, a turnover
of HK$94.34 billion representing a year-on-year increase of 18.5%, a
profit after tax of HK$6.31 billion representing a year-on-year decrease
of 25.3%, and a profit attributable to owners of HK$4.73 billion
representing a year-on-year decrease of 26.0%. It was proposed to
distribute a final dividend of 90 HK cents, with a total dividend of 105
HK cents for the year, representing a dividend payout ratio of 50.0%.

B CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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The Group will expand steadily via sustainable organic growth and quality

external acquisitions while at the same time proactively exploring new
opportunities arising from its gas value chain and customer base.

AAREE SALE OF NATURAL GAS

T oF 2ERARKEBEHES3,663 In 2022, the national apparent consumption of natural gas reached
B K - R TEE1.7% + B LR 366.3 billion cubic meters, representing a decrease of 1.7% as
—ERELIHTERNER  H1TEE compared with the corresponding period of last year. The increase
MRAZE  WHEERAREBLSER I in procurement costs suppressed the demand growth to a certain
{EIERR/NESR - BRAR TR T extent. In terms of gas consumption by industry, there was a steady
MEBEARILRFAERE - AEEBENH increase in urban residential gas consumption, a small increase in
BRARWE 2 HBAXBPHAK  BiGHE chemical and fertilizer gas consumption, a decline in commercial gas
PRENIESHITERE  BE/MHE consumption, and a significant drop in the growth in industrial and
XHE 2EEDHIAIXNE] BERERE power generation gas consumption. The Group tightly grasped the
R opportunity in market consolidation, made every effort to expand its

customer base, actively promoted the development of key industries
in the region, focused on small and micro business development,
comprehensively promoted the “bottled-to-piped-gas conversion”
reform, and realized growth in sales volume of natural gas.

FR - RNEBHEEISS8.89E8 H KK During the year, the Group sold 35.889 billion cubic meters of natural
AR HRTEHEREHS187.6218 L gas, of which industrial gas sales recorded 18.762 billion cubic
oK ER3.0%  HAKEEAEDN meters, an increase of 3.0%, accounting for 52.3% of the Group’s gas
52.3% : EEIHREEF75.33BL T K - sales; commercial gas sales recorded 7.533 billion cubic meters, an
EE10.0% EAEEHAEN21.0% ; increase of 10.0%, accounting for 21.0% of the Group's gas sales;
MEREREAIER11.0%584.971ELF and residential gas sales increased by 11.0% to 8.497 billion cubic
KOMEREBEHREN23.7% © meters, accounting for 23.7% of the Group’s gas sales.

ZEMIERBRLT —B--FEH
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DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USERS

By the end of 2022, the proportion of permanent urban residents
across the country increased to 65.2% from 64.7% last year. With
the construction and expansion of major strategic areas, core cities,
and city clusters, the core cities will see continuous expansion in
geographical coverage amid greater population inflows. With the
promulgation of the Guidance on Integrated Residential Community
Construction by the General Office of the Ministry of Housing and
Urban-Rural Development of the PRC, there is an opportunity for
developing users in urban old residential communities. On the back
of its relatively large number of large-scale city gas projects, most of
which are in major national strategic areas such as the Beijing-Tianjin-
Hebei region, Yangtze River Delta region, Chengdu-Chongging Two
Cities Economic Zone, and Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area, the Group has room for relatively stable development of the
user market.

The Group continues to focus on the development of urban natural
gas users, vigorously assists local governments in pollution prevention
and control, prudently develops rural “coal-to-gas conversion” users
around its projects, and optimizes the energy structure by replacing
bulk coal. The Group had 43,286 new industrial and commercial
users and 4,076,574 new residential users connected during the year,
including the connection to 3,559,000 new houses users, 433,000 old
houses users, and 85,000 rural “coal-to-gas conversion” users.

Benefit from the constant merger and acquisition by the Group and
the expansion of more operation areas by the project companies of
the Group, during the year, the average gas penetration rate of city
gas projects operated by the Group in China increased from 55.0% at
the end of 2021 to 58.2%.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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EXPANSION OF NEW PROJECTS

The Group continues to focus on the core business development
of city gas by leveraging on its reputable corporate brand image,
strong market development capabilities, and outstanding operation
capabilities. In 2022, 3 projects were signed and 18 projects were
registered at Group and project levels. 13,000 km? of new concession
areas of 19 projects located in four major strategic areas in China
were recorded with a GDP of RMB2,800 billion and a potential gas
sales volume of 6.14 billion m?.

As of 31 December 2022, the number of registered city gas projects at
the Group level reached 273, spanning across 25 provinces, including
3 direct administrative municipalities, 15 provincial capital cities, and
76 prefecture-level cities. The ever-expanding operational regions and
prime geographic locations of the projects have laid a solid foundation
for the sustained and rapid growth of the Group’s core business.

AARNSEBER
Sustainable Growth of Natural Gas

TR K
BCM

350
300
250
200
150
100

50

KRR HFEE Natural Gas Consumption

B KPR A4 ZE Natural Gas Production

BRRR: —F-—F (BREXE - BRHAB)
Source: 2022 (NDRC, NBS)

TERETEE T - —FIFAFEKERE2000-2022 CAGR
400 JH#E & Consumption: 13.0% 4 EProduction: 10.0%

2000 2005 2010 2011 2012 2013

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

sEpaereRAn —2--F545 N



FERE
Chairman’s Statement

RERBER

BIE—Z2-—F AEECHE539258
FERRMBF  405,463F B M F 136,819
FIXRAF  ERBEAXEENRFEER -
BAEAEBEERR L2 EENFTER B
B AEBFEINAMEFRHESREN
BERBEMMRE  UHERARTFEL
2RERAFPER  BETERTERE
MERLELERER  TELEELE2E 4
Rig - BEDMBERMMEAETLE - A
BERHIZ2+ME | —WwBERSTE
BINEEHME  BESEF(ER8 -

AEEBRRRSRE  ERENRBES
BRRIERINERRBREE  UEEE
BARRGERBEHES -

FR - AEBFETOCGAERBEBLEK
FIRE31.85EE T - ALIER425%  H
RIRREEEEE4EBL FALEER
49.56% : MRIRBFETE & XFES 0288
UL RAIIER22.31%  TEEBLEBEE
1444187870 - ELHLIER46.96% ° NEE
FERGEEZERDEMNMEL - HER
BEEERAERE - KRGS RIS EB K&
ANRBREREE - KAAEEEZEKAE
REBD ©

4

COMPREHENSIVE SERVICE BUSINESS

As of 2022, the Company had 53.925 million residential users, 405,463
commercial users, and 36,819 industrial users. Relying on its large
and high-quality customers resources combined with its expertise
and technological advantages in gas safety, the Group focuses on
providing the customers with high-quality integrated service products
and services and continuously enhancing the safety protection of
the customers and user experience. The Group has established an
intelligent operation system based on security guarantee and built an
intelligent terminal for kitchen electrical appliances. Leveraging on the
Internet of Things technology and the cloud computing platform, the
Group offers one-stop solutions with “safety + quality”, thus increasing
the customers’ loyalty and winning the trust of customers.

The Group adhered to its philosophy of providing customers with
high-quality and safer services and built a convenient service system
with grid management to carry out comprehensive service business
operations with light assets.

During the year, the revenue from the comprehensive services
business on a statuary basis reached HK$3.185 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 42.5%, of which turnover of gas appliances
reached HK$1.149 billion, representing a year-on-year increase
of 49.56%; turnover of gas insurance business reached HK$0.592
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 22.31%; turnover of
relocation business reached HK$1.444 billion, representing a year-
on-year increase of 46.96% respectively. The penetration rate of
the Group’s comprehensive service business is still at a low level.
The Group believes that through continuously vigorous promotion,
the comprehensive service business will step into a stage of rapid
development in the future and become an important part of the

Group's business.

JI®» CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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RERREKRRE COMPREHENSIVE ENERGY BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT
ZEZF AEBEEREZCEREIRE In 2022, the Group strictly followed the development trends of green
T BEREAM  KETEHERNHTSENE and low-carbon energy technologies. Relying on its significant market
FPERED RHERRGKALREBNE and customer resources advantages, the Group continuously explored
EEX  URISHBSREERBEERE the operation model of the comprehensive energy business, and
MEBEPZITLNBETK - FR - HE steadily promoted the expansion of comprehensive energy projects to
#9581EIEH - TEFM R EFEA4. 4188 meet the diversified energy demand of customers. During the year, the
RFTIE B SEE 2021/ - Group newly signed 58 projects, with an estimated total investment of

approximately HK$440 million in a total of 202 projects.

AEE I EGHRERZBERMS - F The Group also actively expanded the clean transportation energy
W FREREIIOE - RETGEFR B market. During the year, 39 charging stations were newly put into
1718 - 2FEEREFRAIIER206%E operation, resulting in the total number of 171 charging stations
2.71RE ¢ REEME UL T - REtitE putting into operation; the sale of electricity throughout the year
BREEENETUI5E - HhmR Yy - £ increased by 20.6% to 270 million kWh as compared with the same
5~ 85 A R JTME period of last year; 7 hydrogen refueling stations were put into

operation, bringing the total number of hydrogen refueling stations that
had been approved for construction and operation to 15, spanning
across Weifang, Xiangyang, Wuxi, Baicheng, Wuhan, Taizhou, etc.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

In the course of its rapid development, the Group proactively
facilitated the development of the corporate governance of the Board.
It kept enhancing the role of the Board and the management, whereby
each had defined terms of reference and responsibilities, executed
effective check and balance, and conducted rational decision-making,
thus forming a corporate governance structure with high efficiency.
The Group has always attached great importance to honesty &
integrity management, and complied with laws and regulations,
international practice, and business ethics. It has also insisted that the
relationship among staff, suppliers, customers, relevant government
authorities, partners, competitors, and other stakeholders shall be
dealt with on an arm’s length basis and in good faith, so as to gain
market share and win respect with integrity and to improve the
Company’s inherent qualities and value with compliance management.

The Group also attaches great importance to environmental, social
and governance (ESG) management, and has established an ESG
working group under the leadership of the Board with the participation
of all departments of the Group to promote the full implementation
of the ESG sustainable development management system. With the
efforts of all employees and effective management, in 2022, the
Group’s carbon dioxide emission per RMB10,000 production value
(comparables) reduced by 32.2% in terms of tons, and comprehensive
energy consumption per RMB10,000 revenue (comparables) reduced
by 23.6% in terms of tons of standard coal. We also continue to
engage consulting firms to provide professional advice on the Group’s
ESG management system, policies, data disclosure, performance, and
practice, and strive to further improve the Group’s ESG performance.
The Group believes that these measures in place will promote the
Group’s sustainable development and contribute to the construction of

a better ecological environment.

In 2022, the Group organized members of the Board and management
to conduct anti-corruption and environmental protection training by
carrying out an in-depth study to strengthen the culture of integrity and
awareness of environmental protection. During the year, the Group
was awarded the Environmental, Health and Safety Gold Award under
the Hong Kong Green Awards 2022. During the year, MSCI maintained
the Group’s ESG rating at A. The Group will obtain recognition and
affirmation from all walks of life through pragmatic and accountable
ESG quality management measures, integrating the national dual
goals of “peak carbon dioxide emissions target by 2030 and reach
carbon neutrality by 2060” into daily operational management to
achieve substantive business development.

D CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The Group achieved a turnover of HK$94.338 billion in 2022,
representing a year-on-year increase of 18.5%. Overall gross profit
margin of the Group was 19.2%, representing a decrease of 4.9ppt
compared with that of last year. The decrease in overall gross profit
margin was mainly due to the decrease in the gross profit margin of
sale, distribution of gas fuel, related products and gas filling stations
businesses, the increase in the share of revenue to operating revenue
from 81.4% last year to 83.2% in 2022, and the decrease in the share
of revenue from gas connection with higher gross profit margin from
15.0% last year to 12.9%. The Group believes that revenue structure
will continue to be optimized in the future, and the Group is optimistic
that it will maintain high quality and sustainable development in the
future.

The Group has been adopting prudent financial resources
management policies to keep borrowings and capital expenditure
at a sound level. In 2022, the Group’s operating cash flow achieved
HK$4.351 billion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 48.14%.
The Group has sufficient funds and available banking facilities to meet
capital expenditures and operating requirements in the future.

HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity (i{E&
MEIEPHLX)) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture (FHEEHREETIEHE)) and requwes every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration (FiEAHEE)).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing its standard of corporate
governance by benchmarking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook
based on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 42 to 61 of this
annual report.
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CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2022, the share price of the Group has increased by
7.6 times from HK$3.4 to HK$29.4 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 21.1 times from HK$3.08 billion to HK$68.03 billion.

From 2008 to 2022, the profit of the Group increased by 18.7 times
from HK$240 million to HK$4.73 billion, turnover increased by 30.6
times from HK$2.99 billion to HK$94.34 billion and total assets
increased by 29.2 times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$112.05 billion.

Based on Bloomberg’s report, as at 31st December, 2022, the Group
was covered by 80 analyst reports.

Given the Group’s robust performance, Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s
and Fitch maintained the credit rating of the Group at A2, A- and A- in
2022. The ratings reflect the Group’s development strategy of focusing
on its core business comprehensive services and comprehensive
energy and its financial performance for current period has been
widely recognised by the market, which will further reduce the finance
costs to be incurred by the Group in its potential financing activities,
and provide sufficient financial resources for the long-term healthy
development of the Group.

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECT

In 2022, in the face of a complicated and grave business environment,
the national apparent consumption of natural gas reached 366.3
billion cubic meters, representing a decrease of 1.7% compared with
the corresponding period of last year. With the adjustment of the
epidemic prevention and control policy in December 2022, and the
positive setting of macroeconomic policies at the Central Economic
Work Conference, the monetary, fiscal, real estate, industrial, and
other policies will successively implement in 2023, and the market
sentiment will improve. The domestic demand will expand gradually in
line with the recovery of consumption, economic growth will recover
steadily, and the operation and development of city gas enterprises
will continue to have a promising development prospect.

JI[D CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2023, the Group will strive to improve its capability to coordinate
gas sources, optimize price management and stabilize the
fundamentals of the development of its principal business; actively
focus on the goal of transforming into a low-carbon energy business,
accelerate business transformation and upgrade, continue to improve
the penetration rate of the integrated service business, selectively
upsize the integrated energy business, strengthen its drive for energy
innovation and explore new drivers for business growth; further reduce
costs and increase efficiency, consolidate its line of defense for
safe operation, facilitate steady growth in results, constantly improve
shareholders’ return and promote the sustainable development of the
Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group's
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their
duties and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

31st March, 2023
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OPERATING RESULTS

Active in pursuit of excellence, the Group reduced the negative impact
of multiple events beyond expectation during the year ended 31st
December, 2022. During the year, the Group’s turnover increased by
18.5% to HK$94.34 billion and we recorded profit attributable to the
Company’s equity holders of HK$4.73 billion, representing a decrease
of 26.0% over the previous corresponding period. The operating profit
of the Company decreased by 17.3% to HK$8.66 billion and the cash
generated from operations decreased from HK$8.39 billion in 2021 to
HK$4.35 billion in 2022.

The revenue of the Group was derived from sales and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection, comprehensive
services, design and construction services and gas stations, which
respectively accounted for 79.6%, 12.9%, 3.5%, 0.5% and 3.5% of
the revenue for 2022 (2021: 77.0%, 15.0%, 2.8%, 0.8% and 4.4%,
respectively).

Gross gas sales volume increased by 5.3% from 34.08 billion m?® to
35.89 billion m2.

B CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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The management team continuously improves
the operational efficiency of the Group to achieve
sustainable organic growth.

AEERERITHIEER B MBESRH TS With excellent project planning and active market development
HEXRE BEZERTREEENTA strategy, the Group continued to focus on the development of new
PH%E —ZT__FHEREERPEY users of city gas projects. The total number of newly connected
H_ZE - —FM35248F LR15.7% 2 residential users in 2022 increased by 15.7% from 3.524 million in
40778 2021 to 4.077 million.

RZTZZF  AEBEBEETHOEE In 2022, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested
B A20 B A RIER 18 &3 1184.6 or paid HK$8.46 billion in 20 city gas projects. Most of these projects
BHEL EFARIFHDEEHAEER2EL are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.
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The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 84 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending
on their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that
the investments will create synergies with the Group’s existing gas
operation, thereby broadening the Group’s revenue base as well as
enhancing and sustaining its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments,

which are essential for making decisions on future investments.

PRECISE BENCHMARKING

“‘Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one’s business
processes and performance metrics to the best practices of the
industry. The Group has implemented benchmarking initiatives from
best practitioners in all business sectors. “Benchmarking” has started
off internally with intra-group benchmarking and have extended to
benchmarking against external best practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and
is also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic
goal to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for
change and generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline
necessary to effectively track progress on that road map over time in
terms of cost reductions and performance improvements. All member
companies were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility
Contracts” with head office, and continued to deepen 27 quantitative
benchmarks, highlighting the key objectives and becoming more
focused and precise. This ongoing campaign has led to many
satisfying results in 2022.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 84 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The centralisation of the Group’s design and construction activities will
further enhance standardisation of pipeline construction and central

procurements thereby resulting in further cost reductions.
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continued its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects, and the new
or revised guidelines covering various categories of projects and
quality control measures were issued and implemented. With the help
of centralised procurement IT system, the procurement of most of our
materials has been centralised, representing 90% of total material
procurement expenditure up to the end of 2022. While safeguarding
product quality, the Group reduced procurement costs through
centralised procurement.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility
professionals with significant expertise and experiences across
financial, law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to
provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment
for employees and commit to their training and professional
development.

In view of the significant increase in operation size of the Group in
recent years, we continued to promote the application of information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for
gas stations, office administration, centralised cash management,
financial reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and
customer service at various levels of the Group’s operation, so as to
improve our operational efficiency.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, through
continuously diversifying product portfolio, enhancing the success
rate of household safety inspection, shortening user complaint
processing time, promoting internet payment, quickening the response
of user hotlines and other measures, the Company has optimised user
experience to continuously increase user satisfaction.

I CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has
successfully promoted value-oriented management system to each
member company and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses.
In particular, we further enhanced the centralization of cash
management with the inclusion of more member companies in the
system with significant increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the
Group has greatly reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore,
various taxation rationalization and reduction measures were taken to
reduce tax exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies
and procedures, and has hired qualified engineers and technical
staff as well, to manage and prevent any potential accidents in the
Group’s natural gas related facilities which may cause damage to the
environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied
with the relevant local and national environmental protection

regulations and licensing requirement.
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To improve our safety standard, the Group carried out a range
of company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns.
Meanwhile, the Group applied new technologies such as big data and
intelligence to explore intelligent monitoring and dispatch management
of gas, so as to strengthen key aspect and potential defect treatment.
The Group continued to carry out safety audit, completed auditing
work for 39 regional companies throughout the year, discovered over
3,121 hidden safety hazards, and vigorously promoted the rectification
of units at all levels. In 2022, the Group invested HK$0.409 billion and
completed the transformation of 387.1 km of cast iron pipeline.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, the Group regularly organized
trainings and seminars for relevant staff, and the training for certified
safety engineers, with an aggregate of 357,763 persons/times of
training received which effectively regulated employees’ safety
behavior. For end users, explanations of safety procedures are given
and regular seminars as well as distribution of brochures and booklets

on safety are arranged.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2022, the Group have approximately 56,114
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to
the Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training
centres covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-
Western China. These centres are located in our regional centres
of Wuxi, Jining, Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of
management and technical trainings are conducted through the Group
for different levels of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills.
Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’'s management team comprises
utility professionals with significant expertise across financial,
law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide
and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for
employees and commit to their training and professional development.
The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
work experience and the prevailing market wage level. Further,
bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards are made
to employees based on merit and performance. The Group believes
this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same time

encourage the employees to give their best performances.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with
negative consequences facing the industry and has been taking
various measures to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to
ensure compliance with national and local safety regulations.

The Company has set up 6 regional audit centers across the country
and continued to promote regional companies to improve audit and
risk control functions. A total of 26 audits were carried out at the Group
and member company levels, covering areas such as operation,
finance, and project procurement. The Group has revised and issued
various audit and risk control management guidelines, organized
major risk management and internal control self-investigation, and no
systemic risks occurred throughout the year.

In 2022, the Group kept improving its institutional system, equipped
its internal control system with information technologies, and took
comprehensive measures to prevent and control major risks and to
supervise and inspect how the internal control system worked, thereby
setting up an internal control system that can strengthen internal
control, prevent risks and promote compliance. By doing so, the
Group made full use of the internal control system to safeguard its
operations and control risks, prevented systemic and major risks from

happening, and boosted the high-quality development of the Group.
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies
of the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural
gas business. In 2022, the Group’s carbon dioxide emission per
RMB10,000 production value (comparables) reduced by 32.2% in
terms of tons, comprehensive energy consumption per RMB10,000
revenue (comparables) reduced by 23.6% in terms of tons of standard
coal, and the comprehensive energy consumption per RMB10,000
value added (comparables) reduced by 10.4% in terms of tons of
standard coal.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies conducted
activities such as poverty alleviation, donation for education, caring
for particular groups as well as volunteer services in a number
of regions, making donation (including money and materials) for
various public welfare undertakings during the year, thus building a
reputable corporate image of the Group. In 2022, CR Gas vigorously
implemented sustainable charity and public welfare undertakings,
taking positive actions to help build a harmonious society. Throughout
the year, CR Gas’s total charitable donations amounted to HK$4.96
million, with cumulative volunteer services of 76,429 persons/times.

APPRECIATION

| would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to
our customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the
shareholders and employees.

YANG PING
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31st March, 2023
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Financial & Operational Highlights

HMRERE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
g,
—E—-= T4 CR)
For the year ended Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEE 31st December, 2022 2021 (Decrease)
FExT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
- Turnover 94,338,329 79,642,030 18.5%
EH Gross profit 18,081,851 19,176,192 (5.7%)
EEF NI ISR A KR Profit from operations
EhEERBENTIEE) (before finance costs and
share of results of joint ventures
and associates) 8,663,040 10,475,175 (17.3%)
P35 R Profit for the year 6,308,519 8,439,832 (25.3%)
RARRAFE B AL & F Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 4,733,455 6,395,368 (26.0%)
KRBTSR e F5E Net cash from operating activities
(ZEBRZ%) (after tax payments) 4,351,390 8,390,058 (48.1%)
BRERBFO (BT Basic EPS™ (HK$) 2.09 2.82 (25.9%)
BURARABRR S - "I OB Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 90 112 (19.6%)
2FRES - G OBW) Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 105 127 (17.3%)

M (1) SREARMNZRDEITROOMETF
BYEE - T REEEE 8 A R

% o

Note: (1)

scheme.
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Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average
number of issued shares, excluding shares held for incentive award
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—E-=F —E-F M CRD)
For the year ended Increase/
BZE+=-A=1+—HLEFE 31st December, 2022 2021 (Decrease)
FHET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
BEE Total assets 112,051,660 106,136,308 5.6%
RITHEBRIRESO Bank balances and cash® 6,437,479 10,088,053 (36.2%)
R17 > ZENMEMEEHEFE®  Total bank, notes and other
borrowings® 22,462,820 11,510,903 95.1%
BEF5E Net borrowings 16,025,341 1,422,850 -
RARRAFFE AEMLER Equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders 39,334,706 41,256,915 (4.7%)
AR M 2 Non-controlling interests 13,205,760 12,780,747 3.3%
EmMaE Total equity 52,540,466 54,037,662 (2.8%)
—=E=-= —ZT-—F =)
MBEER Financial Indicators 2022 2021 Change
EF=E Gross profit margin 19.2% 24.1% (4.9ppt)
FERIE(FR) Net profit margin (for the year) 6.7% 10.6% (3.9ppt)
FHE (BRERFEG) Net profit margin (attributable to
shareholders) 5.0% 8.0% (3.0ppt)
BERBELE® Debt to capitalization ratio® 29.9% 17.6% 12.3ppt
BEABLLER® Debt to assets ratio® 20.1% 10.8% 9.3ppt
ENEETES Return on equity 12.0% 15.5% (3.5ppt)
B3 Notes:
(1) 2021FB&EXRHE$2,525,103,000/% (1)  Restricted cash for privatisation HK$2,525,103,000 in 2021.
5o

(2) 20224 R EER A FIKIE2,507,449 (2)  The amount due to an intermediate holding company of HK$2,507,449,000
T T R ERT R R M & A 7 50182,238,960 and amount due to a fellow subsidiary of HK$2,238,960,000 in 2022,
THETT - 2021 F R F EZER D RIFKRIEA as well as the amounts due to an intermediate holding company of
5,015,768 T8 7T K JEN R R & A R 0E HK$5,015,768,000 and amounts due to a fellow subsidiary of HK$0 in
OB TTA ARIT - RERAMBERE - 2021 are included in total bank, notes and other borrowing.

(3) EBEABEHRERTT ERELKEMEER (3) Debt to capitalization ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other
HERT RRKEMEBEEAERRASL borrowings to total bank, notes and other borrowings and total equity.
BRI -

(4) BEBEBEHXRERT ZERLEGEER (4) Debt to asset ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other borrowings to
HEEELENLA - total assets.
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EERE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
TEICFEEHE Operational data for 2022
R-B=-ZF RZTZ—F
+=A=t+-H +ZA=+—H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, )
EERE Operational Performance 2022 2021 Change
EHER Number of projects 273 266 7
ERTEEFY (BEFR) Connectable householders
(million) 93.02 83.16 11.9%
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 58.2% 55.0% 3.2ppt
BHERE (BEIHXK) Gross sales volume (million m?) 35,889 34,082 5.3%
BERAR Residential 8,497 7,654 11.0%
T¥RF Industrial 18,762 18,212 3.0%
EERP Commercial 7,533 6,851 10.0%
CNGNE CNG station 716 870 (17.7%)
LNG N5 LNG station 381 495 (23.0%)
FHERE KL EF Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(ARMEIHN) (RMB per m?) 3.52/3.07/0.45 2.93/2.41/0.52 0.59/0.66/(0.07)
ERRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 291,605 229,362 62,243
BERAE Connected customers 54,367,130 45,873,609 8,493,522
ERBF Residential 53,924,848 45,488,645 8,436,203
T¥/RFP Industrial 36,819 28,443 8,376
EERP Commercial 405,463 356,520 48,943
FHEREBRUA (ARY) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,663 2,675 (12)
FREERERS (BEWX) Gross new households with paid
connection fee
FEE) Total 4,076,574 3,524,027 552,547
AfOE Consolidated 3,076,036 2,770,945 305,091
MEIE(CNG/LNG/L-CNG)  Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 332 (202/76/54) 347 (212/85/50) (15) ((10)/(9)/4)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s annual turnover in 2022 amounted to HK$94.34 billion
(2021: HK$79.64 billion).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$6.31 billion (2021: HK$8.44 billion)
and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$4.73
billion (2021: HK$6.40 billion).

Turnover

In 2022, the Group recorded a gross gas volume of 35.89 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 5.3%. The turnover of CR Gas
registered an increase of 18.5% from HK$79.64 billion to HK$94.34
billion for the year ended 31st December, 2022, mainly due to the
rapid development of the Group’s gas sales business during the year
and the rise in the price of upstream natural gas.

The Group recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity
holders of HK$4.73 billion, representing a decrease of 26.0% as
compared to HK$6.40 billion for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The Group’s overall gross profit margin was 19.2%, representing a
decrease of 4.9 percentage points as compared with that of last year.
The decrease in overall gross profit margin was mainly because the
revenue from the Group’s sale and distribution of gas fuel and related
products and revenue from gas stations as a percentage of operating
revenue increased from 81.4% last year to 83.2% in 2022, while the
percentage of revenue from gas connection with higher gross profit
margin decreased from 15.0% last year to 12.9%. The Group believes
that the increase in the percentage of revenue from sale of gas
reflects the continuous optimization of the Group’s business structure,
which lays a solid foundation for its sustainable development in the
future.
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Other income, costs and expenses

The decrease of HK$110 million in other income was mainly due to
the fact that in 2022, interest income from other deposits decreased
HK$140 million, a year-on-year decrease of 68.1%.

As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as
well as the administration expenses were 6.7% and 4.1% respectively
(2021: 7.2% and 4.8%, respectively).

Finance expense increased by HK$180 million was mainly due to the
increase in total borrowing.

The decrease in share of results of joint ventures by HK$620 million
and increase in share of results of associates by HK$40 million were
mainly due to the loss of Tianjin project and the improvement in the
operation of Chengdu Project.

Taxation amounted to HK$2.31 billion, representing 26.8% of profit
before taxation (2021: 24.5%).

Operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to bring in healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$4.35 billion. The
Group recorded bank balances and cash of HK$6.44 billion at the end
of 2022. The Group continued to leverage on its strong balance sheet
to raise low cost finance during 2022 and had a total bank loans and
senior notes and other borrowings of HK$22.46 billion outstanding as
at 31st December, 2022. The Group maintains a very healthy balance
sheet with a low gross debt to total asset ratio of 53.1% (2021: 49.1%).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city
gas distribution operation maintained reasonable return on equity of
12.0% in 2022, representing a decrease of 3.5 percentage points from
2021. The Group invested a total of 20 new projects in 2022. The rates
of returns were expected to improve once all these newly acquired
projects started to attain higher operating efficiency and generated
more returns in 2022 and thereafter.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2022, their contribution percentages
decreased and were taken up by others such as Chongqging, Tianjin,
Ningbo, Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, Anyang
and Wuhan. The percentage contribution from all projects were
expected to gradually become more evenly distributed in the future.
The broadening of the Group’s earning base will ensure that the
Group will not rely heavily on any single city gas project.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$4.35 billion (2021: HK$8.39 billion).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$8.46 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$6.24 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2021: HK$5.68 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash
on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances and
cash and other deposits was HK$6.44 billion (2021: HK$10.09 billion).
Among the balances, 6.45% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar
and 93.5% in Renminbi and 0.05% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of fund to
finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of the year,
the Group had total bank, notes and other borrowings of HK$22.46
billion (2021: HK$11.51 billion). 55.4% (2021: 97.4%) of the bank,
notes and other borrowings are considered as current liabilities and
repayable within one year, and the remaining are repayable in more
than one year. Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and Japanese
Yen, denominated borrowings accounted for 67.2%, 24.5%, 7.6% and
0.7% of the total borrowings respectively (2021: 1%, 48%, 49% and
2%). 30.9% (2021: 48.1%) of bank, notes and other borrowings are
interest bearing on floating rate terms and 69.1% (2021: 51.9%) are
interest bearing bank loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.

The bank balances and cash of the Group was HK$6.44 billion as at
the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year,
calculated as total bank, note and other borrowings over total assets,
was 20.1% (2021: 10.8%). The financial position and liquidity of the
Group is very healthy and stable.

EWRREREMAT —B-—FER



EEEFNWE DA

Management Discussion and Analysis

NEEAERRRESS2 3EBITT - ERA
R#338.9f87T * 38. 81 Bt 22{8%T
2156 3BT (ZE=—F : 708E T -
AR#89.7(87T - 38. 81 Bt kefEETT
RIE - —FEZ T - =F3HNRTHE
FA%E - BB AEERR  WLUZEF RET
B o RNEFL  AEBEBEFEAISRHETHE
AR (- —F :71%) 7% (T =—
F1.5%) HMARBERER70%H BT
HHE(ZTZ—F :83.2%) °

N2

B ESTAraoh - AN SR E A0 M At B A GE (S
ERAE-CERAERDESEETE B
THIHEESBEEEMN  AEEBERTH
H R A AR R R A

BEK

RZEZZF+-A=+—H  XKEE

Tﬁﬁ%ﬁfﬂ‘ X0.90 B BB TIEAEN KA
HEFNE ZRFWER -

BE_Z-—_F+-_A=1+—HILFE -

REBRBHTRA D HEEERBRE « #a3
REFELZHAB68ERBT  RRERET

EAHESHASS. 7TEBTT -

HAREE

RZZB-__F+-A=+—0  AEEL
BEFMERKABE -

MBEEREBEE

AEBRBEBETNAERERNEEN
BREERE - $%Iﬂﬁﬁf&‘ﬁﬁlﬁuaf¥ﬂ
KR EEERRREABREIEREZ— °
Kﬁgﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁjT,,\Eﬂ&%E@j

AEBARBLEEMBEHAET £
MARBEE  MOBIARTEHE - &
5 978 B AE 0k 75 T N R H B KA SMMEOR
HERE

The Group has been granted a total of HK$58.23 billion, RMB33.89
billion, JPY3.88 billion, US$0.22 billion and HK$15.63 billion (2021:
HK$7.0 billion, RMB8.97 billion, JPY3.88 billion and US$0.6 billion)
banking facilities with maturities from 2022 to 2023. The facilities are
unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end of the year,
35% of the HK$ facilities (2021: 7.1%), 7% of the RMB facilities (2021:
1.5%) and 70% of the JPY facilities (2021: 83.2%) has been drawn
down.

Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining
flexibility in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient
uncommitted short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2022, bank deposits of HK$0.90 million were
pledged as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2022, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$0.68 billion on plant, machinery and
equipment and HK$5.57 billion on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2022, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group'’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.
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Mr. WANG Chuandong, aged 60, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from
1st June, 2012. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination
Committee and the Investment Committee. He was re-designated as a
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company
on 31st January, 2019. He was appointed as a Director and the General
Manager of China Resources Gas Group Limited in February 2007. He
is currently a Deputy General Manager of China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited. Mr. WANG joined China Resources Petrochems
(Group) Company Limited in 1985 and was previously its Director and
Deputy General Manager. He has over 36 years of corporate management
experience in the area of petroleum and related products trading and
distribution and holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Science majoring in
Petroleum Refining from the China University of Petroleum and a Master
of Business Administration Degree from the University of Texas, USA.
On 27th March, 2020, he served as non-executive director and chairman
of the board of directors of China Resources Power Holdings Company
Limited.
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Mr. YANG Ping, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director
and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 23rd December, 2021,

and is also chairman of Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. YANG
Bk was the Chief Representative of the Shanghai Representative Office of

Mr. YANG Ping China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2005 to 2011, the General

Manager of the Office & Administration Department of China Resources
Gas Group Limited from 2011 to 2012, the Vice General Manager of the
Wuhan Region and the General Manager of Wugang China Resources
Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014, and the General Manager of the
Greater Hubei Area from 2014 to 2016. Mr. YANG was appointed as and
has been Vice President of China Resources Gas Group Limited since
December 2016, successively responsible for the operation of Central
China Region and Southwest areas. Mr. YANG graduated from Tongji
University and holds a Bachelor's Degree in Gas Profession.
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Mr. GE Bin, aged 59, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible
for customer service and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai,
Jiangsu, Fujian, Hunan and Hubei. Mr. GE joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with China

Resources Gas Group Limited since September 2007 and held former
positions as Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager, Senior

BWrsE . i , ) . .
Mr. GE Bin Vice President. Mr. GE holds a Master's Degree in Engineering from

Nanjing Tech University, and holds a senior economist qualification.
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Mr. WANG Gaoqiang, aged 54, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 15th September 2021, and is also a member of the

Investment Committee of the Company. He also serves as an external director

IEmRELE
Mr. WANG Gaogqiang

of business unit of China Resources Group. From March 2020 to August
2021, he served as the Deputy General Manager of the Audit Department of
China Resources Group; from February 2012 to February 2020, he served
as the Vice President of China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited;
from August 2002 to January 2012, he successively served as the Senior
Manager and Deputy Chief Officer of the Audit & Supervision Department
of China Resources Group; from March 2000 to July 2002, he served as the
Manager of the Audit Department of China Resources Logistics Co. Limited;
from August 1992 to February 2000, he successively served as the deputy
chief officer and manager of the Finance Department of China Resources
National Corporation. Mr. WANG has nearly 30 years’ experience in corporate
finance, internal audit, internal control, risk management and corporate
governance. Mr. WANG holds a bachelor’s degree of economics from the
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies, and has obtained the International
Certified Internal Auditor qualification and the PRC Accountant qualification.
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Mr. LIU Xiaoyong

Mr. LIU Xiaoyong, aged 59, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 15th September 2021, and is also a member of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company. He also serves
as an external director of business unit of China Resources Group. He
joined China Resources Capital Holdings Company Limited in 2015 as the
General Manager. He was appointed as the Chairman of China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. and CR Asset Management Company Limited in
2016 as well as the Chairman of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.
in 2017. Mr. LIU joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in
2019 as the senior Deputy General Manager of the Strategy Management
Department. Prior to joining China Resources, Mr. LIU worked in the
Head Office of the People’s Bank of China, the Regulation Department
of the China Banking Regulatory Commission and the Shanxi Office of
the China Banking Regulatory Commission, etc. Mr. LIU holds a master’s
degree of international finance and a Ph.D. of monetary banking from the
PBC School of Finance, Tsinghua University, an EMBA degree from the
Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business and a post-doctor of applied
economics from the Guanghua School of Management, Peking University.
He has extensive experience in finance and corporate management.
Since 8th October 2021, he has served as a non-executive director of
China Resources Land Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1109).
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Mr. LIU Jian, aged 62, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the
Company on 15th September 2021, and is also a member of the Audit
and Risk Management Committee of the Company. He also serves as an
external director of business unit of China Resources Group. He joined

China Resources Group in July 1986. He successively worked in China
Resources Textiles (Holdings) Company Limited and China Resources
Environmental Protection Technology Limited (ZEBHRERIFEARAA)
and was responsible for sales and procurement management of such

BIR g4
Mr. LIU Jian

two companies. He graduated from the Guangdong University of Foreign
Studies, majoring in imports and exports. He has rich experience in
international trade and sales.
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Mr. HE Youdong, aged 59, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company on 28th September 2022, and is also a member of the

Investment Committee of the Company. He also serves as an external
director of business unit of China Resources Group. He joined China

fAIRREE
Mr. HE Youdong

Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“China Resources Cement”) in
2010; successively served as Deputy Regional General Manager (Fujian)
of China Resources Cement and General Manager and Regional General
Manager (Fujian) of China Resources Cement (Yongding) Limited from
2010 to 2013; served as a vice president and Regional General Manager
(Fujian) of China Resources Cement from 2014 to 2022. Prior to joining
China Resources, Mr. HE worked as the director of Fujian Shunchang
Cement Factory (fi24&IBE/KJEM), general manager of Fujian Ore
Refining and Cement Limited ({82 AKEARAFT) and general
manager of Fujian Cement Inc. ({8 &7/KEIRMHBRAF]). Mr. HE graduated
from Fuzhou University and possesses qualification of senior engineer.
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Mr. WONG Tak Shing, aged 72, was appointed as an Independent

=EEBRE
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of the
Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and Risk
Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee
and Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. WONG involves in various
professional appointments and public duties, including Member of Probate
Committee of the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working Party
on Charities and Trust of the Law Society of Hong Kong (2011-2023). He
was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a
solicitor of England & Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor
of Singapore in 1995 and was appointed as a China-Appointed Attesting
Officer with effect from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the
Society of Trust and Estate Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th
February, 2010. Mr. WONG has been in private practice in Hong Kong
for over 30 years. From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor
with two local law firms in Hong Kong before setting up his own practice
in 1987. Mr. WONG holds a Master’s Degree in Laws from the Peking
University of China and a Master’'s Degree in Laws from the University of
London of England.
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MEELE
Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 74, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. YU is
a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He
was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently
a non-executive director of Haier Smart Home Co., Ltd., which is listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange — (stock code: 600690SH) and on the Main
Board of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited (stock code: 6690) and
an independent non-executive director of Keck Seng Investments (Hong
Kong) Limited (stock code: 184), One Media Group Limited (stock code:
426), MS Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1451) and Playmates
Toys Limited (stock code: 869). In the past 3 years, Mr. YU served as
an independent non-executive director of Haier Electronics Group Co.,
Limited (stock code: 1169 now privatised) Media Chinese International
Limited (stock code: 685), China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
(stock code: 987), New Century Asset Management Limited (stock code:
1275 now privatised), and Playmates Holdings Limited (stock code: 635),
all of which are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Mr. YANG Yuchuan, aged 59, was appointed as an Independent Non-

executive Director and a member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee

BEII%E
Mr. YANG Yuchuan

of the Company in August 2018. Mr. YANG is the Guest Professor of Hong
Kong Financial Services Institute, independent non-executive director of
China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited, the chief executive
and chief macro economist of Prime China Securities Limited, responsible
for the day-to-day management and operation of the company. He has
extensive experience in financial industry. Mr. YANG was an executive
director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0509); a non-executive
director of TTG Fintech Limited, a company listed on the Australian
Securities Exchange (stock code: TUP); an executive director of Partners
Capital Securities Limited and the chief executive of Sunshine Asset
Management (HK) Limited. Mr. YANG holds a bachelor’'s degree from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC and a master’s degree of
business administration from University of San Francisco in the United
States of America.
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Mr. HU Xiaoyong, aged 58, was appointed as an Independent Non-

HERE K4
Mr. HU Xiaoyong

executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company in January 2019. He was appointed as the Chairman and an
executive director of Beijing Enterprises Clean Energy Group Limited
(Stock code: 1250) (“BECE”) in May 2015 and he acted as a joint
chairman of the board of BECE in July 2021. Mr. HU graduated from
the Tsinghua University with an executive master degree of business
administration. He has approximately over 25 years’ experience in
business management. From 2001 to 2013, Mr. HU worked with A%}
BIRREEER AR (Zhong Ke Cheng Environment Protection Group
Company Limited*) as chairman. During the period from August 2008 to
March 2016, he was an executive director and the chief executive officer
of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited (Stock code: 371) (“BEWG”").
He has been appointed as the honorary chairman of BEWG since March
2016. During the period from September 2014 to October 2018, he was
an executive director of Beijing Health (Holdings) Limited (formerly known
as Beijing Enterprises Medical and Health Industry Group Limited) (Stock
code: 2389), shares of which are listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHU Likun, aged 56, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in January 2014, responsible
for Party organization and human resources. Mr. ZHU Likun holds
a Master's Degree in Economics from Soochow University and a
certificate of senior engineer. He joined Suzhou China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd. (a member of China Resources Group) in 2003 and has been
working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since then.

Mr. HUANG Weizhong, aged 57, was appointed as a Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in September 2007,
responsible for legal affairs. Mr. HUANG Weizhong holds a Master’s
Degree in Economics from Fudan University and certificates of
engineer and lawyer. He joined China Resources Petrochemical
Investment & Development Co., Ltd. (EBA{LREERBRAA, a
member of China Resources Group) in 2000 and has been working for
China Resources Gas Group Limited since 2007.

Mr. YIN Xiaojun, aged 49, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in April 2012, responsible for the
work of West China Region. Mr. YIN Xiaojun holds a Bachelor's Degree
of Engineering from Tongji University and a certificate of engineer.
He joined Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (a member of China
Resources Group) in 2003 and has been working for China Resources
Gas Group Limited since 2011.

Mr. LU Hong, aged 52, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2012, responsible for the
work of Central Region. Mr. LU Hong holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Economics from Tianjin University of Commerce. He joined Yueyang
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (a member of China Resources Group)
in 2007 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited
since 2011.
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Mr. LI Joshua, aged 44, was appointed as a Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of China Resources Gas Group Limited
in December 2020, responsible for financial management and
industry development. Mr. LI Joshua holds a Bachelor's Degree in
Economics from Guangdong Commercial College (EREZP). He
joined Shenzhen China Resources Petrochemical Investment and
Development Co., Ltd. (FIITEBHALFZEZERBR AR, a member
of China Resources Group) in 2005 and has been working for China
Resources Gas Group Limited since 2007.

Mr. CHE Dechen, aged 48, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in December 2020, responsible
for the work of EEMAEERMHAERAF. Mr. CHE Dechen holds
a Bachelor's Degree of Engineering from Harbin University of Civil
Engineering and Architecture and a certificate of senior engineer. He
joined Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (a member of China
Resources Group) in 2003 and has been working for China Resources
Gas Group Limited since 2014.

Mr. XIAO Zhonghua, aged 51, was appointed as the Secretary of
Disciplinary Committee (42Z &%, Deputy General Manager level of
the business unit of China Resources Group) of China Resources
Gas Group Limited in December 2020. He is responsible for the
Disciplinary Committee and inspection work. Mr. XIAO Zhonghua
holds a Master's Degree in History from Sun Yat-sen University and
certificates of senior political work specialist and senior human
resources manager. He has been working for China Resources Gas
Group Limited since 2007.

Ms. QIN Yan, aged 45, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in October 2021, responsible for the
work of East China Region. Ms. QIN Yan holds a Master's Degree in
Business Administration from Nanjing University and a certificate of
economist. She joined China Resources (Nanjing) Petroleum Gas Co.,
Ltd. (AREBAMRBAER AT, a member of China Resources Group)
in 2004 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited

since 2017.
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Mr. LI Xuesong, aged 52, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in January 2021, responsible for the
work of South China Region. Mr. LI Xuesong holds a college degree
from Inner Mongolia Radio & TV University (R HEEERAZ). He
joined Zhongshan Public Utility Gas Company Limited (FR LLI/AFARA
[R/2 7], a member of China Resources Group) in 2007 and has been
working for China Resources Gas Group Limited since 2017.

Mr. HAN Wenchen, aged 50, was appointed as a Vice President
of China Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2022, responsible
for safety management, operational management, intelligence and
digitization, and technological innovation. Mr. HAN Wenchen holds a
Master's Degree in economics from Dongbei University of Finance &
Economics, and holds certificates of accountant and certified public
accountant. He joined Shenzhen China Resources Petrochemical
Investment and Development Co., Ltd. CRIITEBALEREZEREABR
‘A\], a member of China Resources Group) in 2001 and has been
working for China Resources Gas Limited (ZEEMRRABMRAF]) since
2007.

Mr. JIANG Hougui, aged 52, was appointed as a Vice President of
China Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2022, responsible for
the work of Southeast Region. Mr. JIANG Hougui holds a Bachelor's
Degree in engineering from Jiangsu Institute of Technology (JI# L
Zt) and holds a certificate of engineer. He joined Shenzhen China
Resources Petrochemical Investment and Development Co., Ltd. (&3l
MEBATIEEERBR AR, a member of China Resources Group) in
2006 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group Limited
since 2007.

Mr. SHAO Peng, aged 45, was appointed a Vice President of China
Resources Gas Group Limited in March 2022, responsible for the
work of Northern Region. Mr. SHAO Peng holds a Master’s Degree
in business administration from Dalian University of Technology and
holds a certificate of accountant. He joined Huaibei China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. (FILZEBEMAIERAF], a member of China Resources
Group) in 2006 and has been working for China Resources Gas Group
Limited since 2006.

EWRREREMAT —B-—FER



EEERBRE

Corporate Governance Report

AEBE-—HEBRNEF —EERUENLE
ERRE  REBRREH-EEEHAE -
NHMEERE -

ETEEERT

RARI BB R ATES ETAR (LW
A Wi+ HE - ArEt EERT
BTSRRI AR A9 il RSO AR TE © BT
A TR BRI E - AARIERZ
EERE+ A+ =—BENCEELT
M\ rFMl)  WEESI R -_ZZ)NF -
ZEENF 2 -TF T —ZF
—E-=F ZFE-NOF - ZZFE-—HF -
ZE-RF ZE-NFRZZTEZZFYH
HETEN - FHRARRE (AP EE)&E
ERE  ESHETEFRZNEESFA
EHEEBETESFR WL - AR
AIEZERRERE M- RE  BER
TEELZET (FEAIEZHERERER
ZEw] [FNEEg] [RE£EEE

[REZEE | RIBXERZEE]) MG
RIGERE  EERE  HEREER R
RIRGBREEENRETFTREZENEZ T
{EBRERND - FMEHEMIL <EFRIE
Fr 7 o8 &l M SO IR TE o BRI BE ST BRI 3C
C.3.3% « RABNRF AN B ESFF A& 58 Hl
HEXHRE - REETRAZEBENT -

=E - BE BBkt
ARAFMBRLRERAEBRRANEEE
HOKRABRERNEZNER —RELR
REEHE - REFPFRMLGEFLE
REL - aftE  Exz  BRE - A
BIEIFAERREEM AN - TER
MEAMAERREL  F2BE - EE - &
R BBEERAIUN R BE
EREERRASEEM - UFP AT
O RBZEMEEF R - BEH-VAAER
FE G BENEFPERBREBEKENEE
R EIE B AR o

The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Part 2 of Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”). In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code,
the Company adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the
*Handbook”) on 23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated it
in 2008, 2009, 2010, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016, 2018 and 2022
respectively. The contents of the Handbook include, among others,
directors’ duties, model code for directors’ transactions in securities,
model code for securities transactions by relevant employees, the
functions and terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management,
Remuneration, Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance
Committees of the Company (each “Audit and Risk Management
Committee”, “Remuneration Committee”, “Nomination Committee”,
“Investment Committee” and “Corporate Governance Committee”),
disclosure of information, communication with shareholders,
procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director and Board diversity policy. All the mandatory provisions
under the Code have been adopted and reflected in the Handbook.
The Company has throughout the year complied with the mandatory
provisions of the Code except for the deviation from the code
provisions C.3.3 which is explained as follows:

PURPOSE, VALUES, STRATEGY AND CULTURE

The core purpose of the Company is to create value for its
shareholders. It strives to become a world-class energy service
enterprise that is trusted and beloved by the public. Aiming to
satisfy customers’ needs and its social responsibilities, the Company
supports people’s livelihood, strengthens supply, emphasizes safety,
and enhances services, fostering and contributing to the joint efforts
to create a better life. To not only lead in terms of size and profit, but
also become first-class in all aspects including strategy, organization,
operation, innovation, and digital intelligence, all of us at CR Gas
must make persevering efforts. Customer-centric, the Company serves
a variety of energy needs and provides one-stop solutions to help
customers achieve the dual-reduction goal of reducing energy costs
and reducing carbon emissions.
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The Company adheres to the corporate mission and value strategy
of promoting green development and creating a better life. With
shareholders and employees, it innovates development models,
achieves excellent results, realizes co-construction and sharing,
and continuously enhances the sense of gain; with customers and
partners, it upgrades products and services, taps the industry value,
achieves symbiosis and integration, and continuously improves the
sense of happiness; with society and the environment, it adheres
to a low-carbon cycle, promotes stability and harmony, achieves
co-management and co-governance, and continuously enhances
the sense of security. In this connection, it endeavours to maintain
accountability to its employees, consumers, shareholders, the society,
and the environment. These purpose and values shape the Company’s
strategy, which are geared towards becoming a world-class energy
service enterprise trusted and beloved by the public whereby
sustainable values for shareholders are created.

The Company’s purpose, values and strategy form the foundations of
the Company’s corporate culture. Its corporate culture is centered on
adherence to high ethical standards and practices, and striving for
sustainable development.

Under the code provision C.3.3, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in
accordance with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required
to refer to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties”
issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”
and “Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their
duties and responsibilities as Directors. Besides, the Directors are
required to comply with the requirements under statute and common
law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
Company’s business and governance policies.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.
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THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors, five Non-executive Directors and four
Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. YU
Hon To, David has the appropriate professional accounting experience
and expertise as required under the Listing Rules. The names and
biographical details of each Director are disclosed on pages 29 to 41
of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that
he is independent of the Company and the Company also considers
that they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive
Director, including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a
period of three years subject to the requirement that one-third of all
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship), if any, among members of the Board are disclosed in
this annual report. There is no such relationship between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.

FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022



RIB- % BEXZGUEEEMEES
2EFABBEPA-Z-__FHA-+
+H ZEZFARZ+NR =T
“F+ZRAZ+RA ZE-_F+-A
ZTAM4BREERER - AEH LI E4
HERES -

EZeR _T__FROEMEE - TK
BOIRESMERNLEBR -

EEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

In 2022, the Board passed 4 written resolutions by all members of the
Board dated 27th April, 2022, 28th September, 2022, 26th December,
2022 and 30th December, 2022, respectively to review and approve 4
management proposals.

The Board held regular meetings during 2022. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—EB--F CZB--f CZE--E CB--f B CZB--F

A -R+=A =A+NB RA+=HR AKA=+H NA=t+XHB +=A+EA
12th 18th 13th 30th 26th 15th
January, March, June, June, August, December,
Date 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022
HTEZ Executive Directors
Bivrs Mr. GE Bin 0 0 N V v v
BERE Mr. YANG Ping J | y y y V
FETES Non-executive
Directors
FEREE Mr. WANG Chuandong v J y v 0 y
Taars Mr. WANG Gaogiang v v v v V V
HBERAE Mr. LIU Xiaoyong V v v v v v
2R% 4 Mr. LIU Jian | | y V y v
RREE (R=ZF==F Mr. HE Youdong (Appointed N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A J
NEZTN\BEZE) on 28th September, 2022 )
BIFHTES Independent Non-
executive Directors
s Mr. WONG Tak Shing v v v v 0 v
AEERE Mr. YU Hon To, David | y V V y J
BE%EE Mr. YANG Yuchuan | V V y y J
MEELE Mr. Hu Xiaoyong N N V V 0 0
B (TVEARTXEE) Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below)
V=B \ = attended
0 = BJE O = didn't attend
N/A = 3@ A N/A = not applicable
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The Company held one general meeting during 2022. Details of

individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

ot S
HE EA=t+H
Date 20th May, 2022

BITES
Bivxt
B¥Et

FPITES
TEREE
TamitE
ZBEB s
IR G 4
MRREE (RZTZZFAAZTN\BEZE)

BUFBITES
BRBRE
AEE A
BENEE
LR

Executive Directors

Mr. GE Bin (0]
Mr. YANG Ping V
Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong N
Mr. WANG Gaogiang N
Mr. LIU Xiaoyong (0]
Mr. LIU Jian V
Mr. HE Youdong (Appointed on 28th September, 2022) N/A
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing Vv
Mr. YU Hon To, David v
Mr. YANG Yuchuan v
Mr. Hu Xiaoyong O

RZZTZZF » TRERRBBEILIEHT
EERTTEH VEEGBEEHFE -

EEERESTLBER
AREIRZZE—=F)\A=Z+=-HEME
EERELEBER ([HEX]) TR ==
ZEF+Z AT RBHEITTERE o M
BRI BER AT B MG E .20
T2 B MEREE N T OUEE -

BRME

ARAREBEEGEEN S TERERHEF
EZMNERZTR —HEEZTINES
ERERABTRKE HERRITER
BoAER HIRAEMEENESEEN
B WAIMNUFE - ZEZEHNETE
EENRBEAEKBETAZE - WA A 8
BATRBEEFE -EFEMAELEY
REZGRRBAVEFMTEOREERE
BKFEH o

In 2022, the chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-

executive directors of the Company without the presence of other

directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on
23rd August, 2013 and updated the Policy on 26 December, 2022. A
summary of this Policy, together with the measurable objectives set for
implementing this Policy, and the progress made towards achieving
those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the
Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity
and measure progress accordingly. For the year under review, no
measurable objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

While the current Board and senior management of the Company
comprise all male members, viewing from the Company’s perspective
as a whole, as at the end of 2022, the Company has 56,114 employees
in total comprising of approximately 19,864 females and 36,250 males
(a female-to-male ratio of 1.8:1), reflecting a gender equality principle
generally adhered to by the Company. The Company is mindful of
the objectives as set out in the diversity policy when assessing the
candidacy of the employees, and will ensure that the Company shall
continue to follow the policy. To achieve gender diversity in the Board,
the Company will appoint at least one female Director by the end of
December 2024 to comply with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Board will annually review the implementation and effectiveness
of the Board diversity policy. The Board considers that the policy is
effective to achieve diversity at the Board.

L]
Gender

LEDS
Ethnicity

FiRAa R

Age Group 40-49.(1)

BR75 45

Year of Service

BE=AH

50-59 (6) 60-69 (2)

0-5 (7)

Number of 1 > 3
Directors

iy
o
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~
.
.
|
o
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Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board’s composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the
statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.
The relevant updates on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are also
provided to the Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their
concerns on good corporate governance.

Participation of Directors in continuous professional development
during the year is as follows:

BEXEY - HER

He agBk R RESRMEEER
Wil RS - REBEA QRS
CEVYE- HEBHWER
Reading

Receiving training; regulatory
attending and/or updates or
giving talks at information
seminars, relevant to
conference the Company or

and/or forums its business

HITES Executive Directors
B kL Mr. GE Bin N Y
HEEE Mr. YANG Ping V v
FHTES Non-executive Directors
T ERELE Mr. WANG Chuandong V V
FREEE Mr. WANG Gaogiang \J v
BB L L Mr. LIU Xiaoyong N N
BIRSEAE Mr. LIU Jian \J v
AIRREE (RZTEZZF Mr. HE Youdong (Appointed on N v

NAZ+N\BEZF) 28th September, 2022 )
BIYFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
=HEBELEE Mr. WONG Tak Shing N Ni
BEE L Mr. YU Hon To, David v V
BEINEE Mr. YANG Yuchuan N V
HABEE Mr. Hu Xiaoyong N V
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The Board has adopted effective mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board. Subject to approval of
the Chairman of the Board, Directors may seek, at the Company’s
expense, independent legal, financial or other professional advices
from advisors independent from those advising the Company as and
when necessary in appropriate circumstances to enable them to
discharge their responsibilities effectively. The Board will review the
implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual
basis.

The Board considers that the above mechanisms are effective in
ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the Board.

CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. WANG Chuandong while Mr. YANG Ping is the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate,
together with the Board, the business strategies and long-term
objectives of the Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer
carries out the decisions made by the Board and is in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees
namely, the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination,
Investment and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board,
with each performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. WONG Tak Shing and
Mr. YANG Yuchuan and two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. LIU
Xiaoyong and Mr. LIU Jian. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as
internal audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the
following three main areas:

o make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;
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° review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts;

o oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal
controls and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During 2022 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2021, and those for the
half-yearly results and yearly results for 2022. These include the
review of the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;
the review of the continuing connected transactions of the Company
conducted in 2021 and 2022; and the review of the internal audit
reports prepared by the Company’s Audit Division.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has held three meetings
during 2022. Details of individual attendance of its members are set
out in the table below:

IR HE
Chairman Members
MEELE fBELE H S EBBLE BENEE
Mr. YU
Hon To, Mr. LIU Mr. LIU Mr. WONG Mr. YANG
BE Date David Xiaoyong Jian Tak Shing Yuchuan
—E-—#=f+-A 11th March, 2022 | | v y V
—E-—F)\ft++thA 17th August, 2022 v v v y v
—Z-=F+-AAR 9th December, 2022 V v v 0 y
FHESS Remuneration Committee

FHEREENTIEREAEE MadEER
BARAERA BB BMEE - 21FED
PRANTEALETE) - ﬁ%ﬂ#ﬂ&ﬁm%ﬁﬂﬁﬁbﬁ
B URREERSRERASNIANE
NEFeHHE -

FHEECHERBEED LHEB I RA
NGIE D

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Directors
and senior management, including but not limited to bonus plan,
Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan, as well
as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Director and senior
management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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RAFHRAH  FNEE SR =B LI As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
PWTEFESBELEE(ER)  aEREEAE comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely Mr.
MBS AELEM o WONG Tak Shing (Chairman), Mr. YU Hon To, David and Mr. HU
Xiaoyong.
FHEZEERN T _FRITREH During 2022, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review
NENREERATEERRREREENE and determine related bonus and compensation of the Executive
BAEA RS - TRHNEKE @R L Directors and senior management. Details of individual attendance of
B its members are set out in the table below:
£ RE
Chairman Members

BBBAE MEERE HBEEEE
A& Date Mr. WONG Tak Shing ~ Mr. YU Hon To, David Mr. Hu Xiaoyong
—Z-ZF\AtZH 12th August, 2022 | y |
REBEZT-_Z_F+-A=1+—HBIEFE " For the year ended 31st December, 2022, the remuneration of the
SREEAERBEE D ZFHWEI AT members of the senior management by band is set out below:

AE

FrfeaE (B n) Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons
07T 21,000,000 7T HKDO to HKD 1,000,000
1,000,001/ 7= 1,500,000 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 -
1,500,001/ 72,000,000 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1
2,000,001 7L E 2,500,000/ 7T HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2
2,500,001 7% 7L 2 3,000,000/ 7T HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 3
3,000,001/ L& 3,500,000/ 7T HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 -
3,500,001/& L E 4,000,000/8 7T HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 2
4,000,001/E L E 4,500,000/8 7T HKD4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 2
4,500,001/ L& 5,000,000/8 7T HKD4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 1
5,000,001/ L E5,500,000/8 7T HKD5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 -
5,500,000/ 7L £ 6,000,000/ 7T HKD5,500,000 to HKD®6,000,000
BRAEEMEe N AERSTFALTZEZ Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the
1B 2R EMAAMEE16 2 E T AR five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant
B WHRGRS M EmERMEI - to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to review
the structure and composition of the Board, to make recommendation
to the Board on the selection of individual nominated for directorships,
to formulate and maintain a director nomination policy and propose
amendments thereto to the Board when necessary, to review the
effectiveness of the implementation of the Board diversity policy at
least annually, and to make recommendations to the Board on the
policy and objectives of gender diversity of Board members.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises of one Non-executive Director namely Mr. WANG Chuandong
(Chairman), and three Independent Non-executive Directors namely
Mr. WONG Tak Shing, Mr. YU Hon To, David and Mr. YANG Yuchuan.

The selection criteria for Directors is that the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship
for discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which
the Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination.
Directors thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the
Company in the next general meeting or next annual general meeting,
as appropriate, according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2022, the Nomination Committee passed 1 written resolution
by all members of the Nomination Committee dated 28th September,
2022 to propose the nomination of non-executive Directors and the
structure, size and composition of the Board.
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Nomination Policy

Nomination policy aims to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration
to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(a) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b) Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of

available time and relevant interest;

(c) Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

(d) Reputation for integrity;

(e) Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the
Board;

(f)  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The above Criteria are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion
to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due
consideration to the criteria including but not limited to:

(a) The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s)
to the Company, including but not limited to the attendance
of the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and
general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level
of participation and performance on the Board and/or its
committees;

(b) Whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend candidate(s)
for the position(s) of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but
not limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, subject to any amendments as may be made from
time to time, in addition to the Criteria. Where any Independent Non-
executive Director has been in office for more than nine years, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the reason why such Director is
still an independent person and should be re-elected.

Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedures
and process:

(a) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising,
recommendations from third-party agency firm and proposals
from shareholders of the Company with due consideration given
to the Criteria;

(b) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;

(c) The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information and biography for the Nomination
Committee’s consideration. The Nomination Committee may
request the candidate(s) to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary;

(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment;

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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(e) The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information
of the selected candidate to the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

(fy The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and where a non-executive Director is considered,
the Remuneration Committee will make the recommendation to
the Board on the proposed remuneration package;

(g) The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not members
of the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter
deliberate and decide the appointment as the case may be;

(h) All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
prescribed form with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong and
updating (and, if necessary, filing) of the Register of Directors of
the Company.

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$8 million
to US$20 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been
uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee
comprises of three Non-executive Directors namely Mr. WANG
Chuandong (Chairman), Mr. WANG Gaogiang and Mr. HE Youdong,
and one Independent Non-executive Director namely Mr. WONG Tak
Shing.

During 2022, the Investment Committee passed 2 written resolutions
by all members of the Investment Committee dated 20th January,
2022 and 27th September, 2022 to review and approve 2 investment
proposals.
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Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance which are applicable to the
Group and make recommendations to the Board, and to develop a
Shareholder communication policy and review it regularly to ensure its
effectiveness.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. WONG Tak Shing and Mr. YANG Yuchuan, and one
Executive Director namely Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman).

During 2022, the Corporate Governance Committee passed 1 written
resolution by all members of the Corporate Governance Committee
dated 20th December, 2022 to review and approve the Corporate
Governance Handbook.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives. The above risks include, but are not limited to, material risks
related to ESG.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
conducts annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems
of risk management and internal control covering all material controls,
including financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit functions
as well as those relating to the Company's ESG performance and
reporting, and their training programmes and budget. With respect
to procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination
of inside information, the Company has set out written policies and
procedures in relation to the handling of inside information, including
but not limited to measures to ensure compliance of disclosure
requirement.
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The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During
the year, the Internal Audit Division also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection,
pipeline infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc);
financial management (cash custody and management, payment
approval process, receivables management, accounting policy
adherence, etc); safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection
and maintenance process, safety system and related safety incident
reporting structure, etc); engineering and construction management
(tender process reviews, project management procedures and
practice); key materials procurement (vendor and materials
qualification process, tendering and quality control processes, etc).

In addition, internal audit division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units on their self-inspections of key risk areas.

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption and anti-bribery
policy to govern acceptance of advantages by employees and a
whistleblowing policy to provide guidance to employees and external
stakeholders to report concerns about any suspected or actual
improprieties relating to the Group.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system
currently put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 81
to 90.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as independent auditor during
the year. The remuneration for services provided during the year to
the Company’s Auditor includes:

—E-—
2022
FHT
FriR 1 AR % Services rendered HK$’ 000
BET RS Audit services 14,847
IERETRTS - PHIZERR Non-audit services for: Interim results review 1,401
Chl Total 16,248
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lo Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lo, aged 73, was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 1st September, 2017. He qualified as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and has been in continuous practice
since qualification. During the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 March
2022, Mr. Lo was a partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo. With
effect from 1 April 2022, he ceased to be a partner but remained with
the firm as a consultant. Although Mr. Lo is not a full time employee of
the Company, he reports to the Board and in his capacity as Company
Secretary advises the Board on governance matters. The primary
contact person of the Company with Mr. Lo is Mr. Joshua Li, the Chief
Financial Officer. Mr. Lo confirmed that he had fulfilled the 15 hours of
Continuing Professional Development training required of a solicitor in
respect of 2022.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not
within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing
more than one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene
a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged
at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02,
China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and
(b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office
with a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant
expenses, not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a
requisition requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week
before the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that if
an AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the
maximum number of Directors determined by the members in general
meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to
the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period
for lodgment of such notices will commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company's new Bye-Laws were approved by a special resolution
passed on 20th May, 2022.

Investor Relations

The Board has adopted a Shareholder’'s Communication Policy
in 30 December, 2022 which sets out the Group’'s commitment of
maintaining an effective ongoing dialogue with shareholders. In
summary, the Company establishes different communication channels
with shareholders and stakeholders including: (i) provision of printed
copies of corporate communications; (i) provision of timely corporate
information on the company website; (iii) holding of annual general
meetings to provide platform for shareholders to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board; and (iv) arrangement in serving the
shareholders in respect of all share registration matters. The Board,
through the Corporate Governance Committee, reviewed the validity
of implementation of the Shareholder's Communication Policy during
the year and considered that it remained effective in enhancing timely,
transparent, accurate and open communication between the Company
and the shareholders.
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The Company has always recognised the importance of investor
relations activities, as it believes that effective communication with
shareholders and investors is very important to help investors to gain a
better understanding about the Company’s business performance and
strategies.

In 2022, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 1,300
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may
be made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: crgas_IR@crcgas.com

Tel: 852-2593-8200
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in note 48 and
note 49 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s business prospects, the Group’'s compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group, the relationships of the Group with its key stakeholders
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 to 11, Report
from the Chief Executive Officer on pages 12 to 21, Management
Discussion and Analysis on pages 25 to 28, Corporate Governance
Report on pages 42 to 61 and Directors’ Report on pages 62 to 80
of this annual report. Description of key risk factors and uncertainties
that the Group is facing is provided in the Chairman’s Statement,
Report from the Chief Executive Officer and note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements while the financial risk management objectives
and policies of the Group are provided in note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s performance during
the year using financial key performance indicators is provided in
Financial and Operational Highlights on pages 22 to 24 of this annual
report. The Group’s environmental policies and performance and
future prospects of the Group’s business are provided in the Report
from the Chief Executive Officer on pages 12 to 21 and the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 2 to 11 of this annual report respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2022
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 91 to 92.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 95 to 96 to
the consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at
31st December, 2022, amounted to HK$5,454,045,000.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of the 2022
Final Dividend of 90 HK cents per share. Together with the interim
dividend of 15 HK cents per share paid, total distribution for 2022
would thus be 105 HK cents per share (2021: 127 HK cents per
share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the 2022 Final Dividend will be payable on Tuesday,
18 July 2023 to shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 2nd June 2023.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including:

° the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

o shareholders’ interests;

° general business conditions and strategies;

° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the other members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

° any contractual restrictions on payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries
to the Company;
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o the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

. liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend;

o taxation considerations;

. possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;

. general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such
interim dividends subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended from time to time) and the Bye-laws of the Company.

Except in the case of interim dividend, any dividends declared by the
Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders
at an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares subject to
and in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 (as amended from
time to time) of Bermuda and the Bye-laws of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
22 May 2023 to Thursday, 25 May 2023, both days inclusive. In order
to determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend and
vote at the annual general meeting to be held on Thursday, 25 May
2023, completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 19 May 2023.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after
the close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 June 2023 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 1
June 2023 to Friday, 2 June 2023, both days inclusive, during which
no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to
be entitled to the proposed final dividend, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office, Tricor Secretaries Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 31
May 2023.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,314,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the reserves of the Group was HK$39,103,305,000. Details of the
movements in the issued share capital of the Company are set out
in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis in this annual
report and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2022, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$8.46 billion in 20 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.
As at 31st December, 2022, CR Gas portfolio included 273 city gas
projects and its footprint covered 25 Chinese provinces and included
3 direct administrative municipalities, 15 provincial capitals and 76
prefecture level cities.
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GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available,
the Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis
continues to be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2022 are set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is
set out on page 277 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of
the Group during the year are set out in note 20 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2022, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 10%
of the Group’s total turnover.

For the year ended 31st December, 2022, the aggregate procurement
volume attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for around 58% of the Group’s total procurement volume,
of which that attributable to the largest supplier around 24%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital has any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

TP CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various
forms of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$4,958,849
(2021: HK$6,158,470).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. YANG Ping
Mr. GE Bin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WANG Chuandong

Mr. WANG Gaogiang

Mr. LIU Xiaoyong

Mr. LIU Jian

Mr. HE Youdong (Appointed on 28th September, 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. YANG Yuchuan
Mr. HU Xiaoyong

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the
Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 101 of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. HE
Youdong shall retire from office at the Annual General Meeting, and
he is eligible and offer himself for re-election.
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Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. GE
Bin, Mr. WANG Chuandong, Mr. WONG Tak Shing and Mr. YANG
Yuchuan shall retire from office by rotation at the Annual General
Meeting, and they are eligible and offer themselves for re-election.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including
Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years
subject to requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the
Bye-laws of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its
fellow subsidiary was a party subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected
entity is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Group. The current market situation will also
be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be granted
to individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to the Group.
All the aforesaid form the remuneration policy and long term incentive
for Directors of the Company.

The remuneration and benefits package of the executive Directors
shall include remuneration, bonuses, performance related incentive
payments, and retirement benefit schemes contributions, as well as
the Company’s share repurchase cash award scheme and other long-
term incentive schemes; non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors shall be entitled to director’s fees for services
rendered by them as Directors of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2022, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

Frit#Esm

BEAIL

HREEKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEHR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

EHSB A 5=} 100,000 0.0043%
Mr. WONG Tak Shing? Long position

EERRELS A 800,000 0.035%
Mr. WANG Chuandong?® Long position

HESH e 30,000 0.0013%
Mr. LIU Jian* Long position

B &E Notes:
1. WAR-_Z-_—_F+_A=+—A8FF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

FARRE AR MABBRN 7R B
EARRBZHEBETRONBDLL -

2. EXMEENMEERREHESUE
BEBAFDFE °

3. TEREAEWEAEEHEBZ
800,000l 17 2 1z ©

4. 30,000 MHEF - BIREEW
RAEREBERB 210,000 KM% 2

g

W o

ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total
issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2022.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

3. Mr. WANG Chuandong was deemed to be interested in 800,000
shares through interests of his spouse.

4. Among 30,000 shares, Mr. Liu Jian was deemed to be interested in
10,000 shares through interests of his spouse.

gEnaeReRAs —2-—s=5 @GR
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(b) RALXAMEBZEEZEHEBRZERAR
AR (EHER) CRITEERKRMA
B IR A By RS

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (“CR
Medical”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frik ez

HwEEo L

HRIXE R EE Aggregate

EEHR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

BEEE HE 80,000 0.0062%
Mr. YANG Ping Long position

B EE Notes:
1 AR —F+=A=+—HF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

PR B AR R B
FEHEREZMDETRONEIL

2. LXHRBHMARARAEEIAE
BEBAFDEAE °

REEREEE

RIZZENF+-A—HB  ARFRHB—IA
B BER S REE ([RBE)) &
bt AEBERBRERRNEIEREREL AR
RIEFT SR B2 8@ EHE] - RE QBT
FA—RKARR B EELEEER %A
tRBEDENAR ([RERQTF]) @ patE
BEERADLME ERERBMFAR
BB D LARUAERBRBEMARFE
ZRERNZETHERFNE DL

HEET S ERTE TREN T REER
SELEE - WIRERB RBEAEE R
BRRGBERAREREEEZES - 1
HEINAARHRAEEERRESIRHE
BREERZ - RIEWESSRATKL - BE
FrEIEHM A B TFAB - RIEEBET
B SRR IR R A BB B AR I T 4
HiEEE RO MNBE RO BIARAF]
TR EITIRAA5% [ 0.5% AR °

ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Medical to the total
issued shares of CR Medical as at 31st December, 2022.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”), pursuant to
which selected employees of the Group or investee companies (being
any company in which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5%
or more attributable equity interests (the “Investee Company”), and
in calculating the percentage interest so attributed, the percentage
interest held in the Investee Company shall be multiplied by the
percentage interest in each level of entity through which such interest
is held by the Group), are entitled to participate in the Incentive Award
Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Company in
retaining their existing employees and recruiting additional employees
and to provide them with a direct economic interest in attaining
the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless early
termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date. The maximum aggregate numbers of award shares which can
be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and to a selected
employee throughout its duration are limited to 5% and 0.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time respectively.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by
the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and
be held in trust for the relevant selected employees until such shares
are vested with the relevant selected employees in accordance with
the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000
shares were purchased at an aggregate cost of approximately
HK$253,534,680 (including transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009,
representing approximately 4.95% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at date of acquisition. The Company does not intend to
purchase any further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme (the “Scheme”). The Company will utilize
the proceeds generated from disposal of the award shares held by
the Trustee for the awards made under the Scheme. The awards will
be subject to the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee
and the cash under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of
relevant vesting conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

The Scheme expired on 1st December, 2018 and the Company was

working on the closure of the Scheme. During 2022, the Company

did not grant any award share. Details of the movement of the award

shares held by the Trustee are as follows:

REROEE
Number of
award shares

R-ETHAFMNA+ERBE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
RZE—EFRERLE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RZE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RIZ—ZFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RZZE—=FRHELE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RITE—mNFRHEEE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
RZT—HFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
RZTE—A"EREREE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
RZE—tEFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2017 (0)
RZZ—NFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2018 (0)
RZTZ—NFREERLE Granted and disposed of during 2019 (0)
RIZE_TFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2020 (0)
RIZTZZ—FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2021 (0)
RZTZZFRERLE Granted and disposed of during 2022 (0)
RIZTBZZF+A=+—AN%EH Balance as at 31st December, 2022 45,797,384

ERRRERERAF

—=2==545% @il
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with a
number of connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons which are subject
to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules,
details of which are summarised herein below. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the agreements governing them, and on terms that

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2022

or the maximum daily amount are summarised as follows:

For the year
ended

31st December,
2022

BEWmE
(FE LR : AK¥1,304,680,000T)

RARZZREMBRAR (BIFLREBESR
RERAR - BREBREBRAF - KA
ERRRARAR EMEBRRABRA
A BHEBRRERARREEEBRR
BRAR) BUAXRARBROERAT (—K
R ARKME ([HE]) K ZHEREE
DA BARFIRBAR (AL REEESR
MEARAF)HEERR) REXAR - A
H3F - 2 HEA T —F+ A=+
—HEUYE S —F—A—BEEx-

BE-_E-—F+-_A=+—BIEE

WNIE B ERIGE
(FE LR AR¥33,000,0007T)

RZZEZ—FXAZ+=B  KARAZ2EMN
BABMMERRRARARGAER=
NORMN) BEERAR (EHBESEAR
REIMIEZENBAR) RELE - M
BERRIDEBH U EREBAHES
B RHA3E o

HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HULHFE

Sale and Purchase Agreement
(Annual cap: RMB1,304,680,000)

Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company including Hongdong
China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd, Yangquan
China Resources Gas Limited, Datong China
Resources Gas Co., Ltd, Huozhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd, Yangqu China Resources Gas Co.,
Limited and Loufan China Resources Gas Co., Limited
from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited, a limited liability
company established in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) which is the substantial shareholder
of the subsidiary of the Company namely Hongdong
China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd. All agreements
entered into on 31 December 2021 and effective from
1 January 2022.

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

Chenzhou Project Framework Agreement
(Annual cap: RMB33,000,000)

On 22 June 2021, Chenzhou China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into an agreement in respect of supplying
energy for cooling and heating, steam and part of
electricity to China Resources Sanjiu (Chenzhou)
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group
Limited for 3 years effective from the date of the
agreement.

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

ERRRERERAF

AREFTT
RMB’000
371,485

ARBTE
RMB'000

SRS CFER
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S — e
tZA=+—H
IFENEBRRDEE
Maximum daily amount

during the year ended
31st December,

2022
B S ERE Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(£ LR : ARM1,700,000,0005) (Annual cap : RMB1,700,000,000)
(OREES St (i)  Commercial banking services
a RIZEZ—F+ZA=+-— a.  On 31 December 2021, the Company
H - ARRIBEAEERT entered into an agreement in respect of
fR#G MK GEBEBRITRG the use of commercial banking services
BRAF(TFEBRT]) (— with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
42 303X R ER 8 A 4 Th ER Co., Ltd., (“CR Bank”), a municipal
TR —IiHE  8=F bank headquartered in Zhuhai for 3
ZZF-A—ARBRER A years effective from 1 January 2022
BA3EF (FRIEEAMR A —2F (unless extended for a further period).
ER) - EERHARDA China Resources Co., Ltd (“CRC") has
(TERARG 1) #HAEHRT a controlling interest in CR Bank and the
STANNTE Company.
AREFT
RMB’000
BE_Z-_—_F#+_-_A=+—HI1t Maximum daily outstanding balance on 1,264,469
FEAMETRBANEH any given day during the year ended
SISYEE 6] 31 December 2022
b. BRTHEFRBIN  KAEE b.  Other than deposit services, the Company
RERRIT 2 ERITIRG utilised commercial banking services and
REEM ° products provided by CR Bank.
ARBFT
RMB’000
HE_T--_F+-A=+—H1t Maximum daily outstanding balance on -
FEAMETHBRNEH any given day during the year ended
SISY R e 31 December 2022
(i EERESEERY (i)~ Trust and funds management services
RZFEZ—F+=ZA=+—8" On 31 December 2021, the Company entered
ARAAIGEREERESERR into an agreement in respect of the use of trust
BHEERRAEKRETLER QA and funds management services with China
(TEBEED LMz 8 Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd (“CR Trust”) for
- F—-A—HRBEW A 3 years effective from 1 January 2022 (unless
H3F (BRIFHRCHE—FER) o extended for a further period). CRC has a
EHROPFEEBETRAQAF controlling interest in CR Trust and the Company.
MRk AR RS o
ARBTFT
RMB’000

HE-_FT-_—_#F+-A=+—AH1L
FEIMETBHNEH
= {SYER I

Maximum daily outstanding balance on
any given day during the year ended
31 December 2022
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ERE MR Framework Loan Agreements
(FE LR : AK¥2,000,000,0007T) (Annual cap : RMB2,000,000,000)

iy RZZT—AF+=_A+/\H AQFFHALX (i) On 18 December 2019, the Company entered into an
AI(REEMEBAR (ERPEKZIHES agreement in respect of the intra-group lending between
Broh)) B (K@) BRAR ([EHEEARQ the Company (and any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity
ﬂj) AEEERD REHEERARN AT R established in the PRC) and China Resources (Holdings)
EXEMEAMRERAR (REBBERIZME Company Limited (“CRH”), any company in the CRC, CRH
BRABERETHAR) (KAFKRIN) ([E#EH and their respective subsidiaries, which is listed on the
%‘%iﬁﬂﬁjj) AR SR E A RE @S Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
T ARBRETERNEBRNBEELT LR other than the Company (“China Resources Group listed
BT TF-A—HBAEKR - BHSF company”) and any of their subsidiaries in respect of Hong
(BRIFHRAE —FLER) ° Kong dollars, RMB or, United States dollars loan for 3

years effective from 1 January 2020 (unless extended for a
further period).

iy RZZ—NAF+—A+N\H K2FHAAE (i) On 18 December 2019, the Company entered into an
EFIEX.LE’JEHWI% AIREMRG (RER agreement in respect of the intra-group lending between
MRP B MIEREAR) EHEE E any PRC established subsidiary of the Company and CRC

AT (MEEEERIT - FHETERARTAEM (and any PRC established subsidiary of CRC) or a China

LhpE N Tﬁ‘%?lﬁﬁ?ﬁ/\ﬁﬁﬂ% AEBEANTEE Resources Group listed company, but excluding CR bank,
Ayt BZTEZTF-A—BBRER - A CR Trust and any subsidiary of the Company in respect of
Hi3EF (BRIFHARLHE —FLER) © RMB loan for 3 years effective from 1 January 2020 (unless

extended for a further period).

AREFR
RMB’ 000
HE-T-—F+=-A=+—H Maximum daily outstanding balance on 1,683,823
IEFEEREE BRSNS any given day during the year ended
SISTER o 31 December 2022

sHRRERERAT —2-—F5% @O
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Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions in normal course

of business are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial

statements. Some of these transactions constitute connected

transactions as defined under the Listing Rules which are set out as

follows:

B F
2022
FHET
HK$’ 000
HE THB AR B FEIZERAR R Sales to non-controlling shareholders of 315,784
subsidiaries
S EE I =PNCINREdi Gl e SNSRI N Interest income from deposits placed in 18,385
a fellow subsidiary
AR RZH B AR ENERF B UA Interest income from loan to a fellow 47,493
subsidiary
A R A AR B R B A Interest income from loan to an intermediate 771
holding company
BB EME A A IEEAR AR R (FFE) Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of 572,633
subsidiaries (Note)
ENRRHBARNHEEEL Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries 32,310
BB R FEERKRRENASHAT Rental expenses paid to non-controlling 145
shareholders of subsidiaries
BT B A R A B R Interest expenses paid to an intermediate 18,342

M eEAILAERARBRNDARIBRBRA

RATER  REBEE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+
—HIEFE  EBETLEMRANE14AER
WEHTE -

holding company

Note: Included purchases of natural gas from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for

the year ended 31st December, 2022.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2022
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

RELDBNHER Long Position in the Company
Frib s
wEES
HREIXE BRoEE Aggregate
RREH g4 Long or short Number of percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity position shares of interest’
ERHEE (RR) BRAF BEmEBA TR 1,407,828,991 60.84%
(MEBEERA])? Beneficial owner Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited (“CRH Gas”)?
EH(£E) ARAR? REHIA R R Ha 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company’s interest ~ Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited (“CRC SEHA RIS g 1,422,298,991 61.46%
Bluesky”)? Controlled company’s interest ~ Long position
ERBROARLR ([FEKMN )2 RGN AR TR 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Inc. (formerly Controlled company'’s interest Long position
known as China Resources Co.,
Limited) (“CRCL")?
mEFERERAT ([HEZER])? B VNI oL TR 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Company Limited Controlled company’s interest Long position
("CRNC")?
JPMorgan Chase & Co.? ZAEH A A A S e 9,213,811 0.40%
Controlled company'’s interest Long position
KA 5,518,915 0.24%
Short Position
REEIR TR 16,804,800 0.73%
Investment Manager Long Position
RBENHEEEZESFERZNALT S=¥ 617,300 0.03%
Person having a security Long Position
interest in shares
BEHAENERRIE TR 109,238,175 4.72%
Approved lending agent Long Position
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1. WARZZE-ZZF+-A=+—HAHEY
B RABEBRNDTEAEEARAZEE
BITRDMBE DL °

2. EHEEMRERAEBERABIINAR
711,407,828,991 B i% 15 K 14,470,000 fi%
BOPHEEEERER  ZMRAFAEIRE
H(EE)BARARMNEZEWBAR -
g =B (SE) AR AREBEIERARR
A1/ 1,422,298,991 R P A HE -
=M (%£H)BRAAACRC Blueskyfy
TEWMBAR  EMAEBRNHNEERE
B EBRMDATREBNHNZEMNER
Al At - EH(£E)BMRAAE - CRC
Bluesky * B & B BWARER A
AAEIHY1,422,298,991 B AR (D R A RS ©

3. REFFLRBEEROIEXVHBE2REIDH
RERMARARRBENERNETR  ZERH
mJPMorgan Chase & Co. 7RI A
99.99% K 49% 2 il # 2 JPMorgan Asset
Management (Asia Pacific) Limited &
China International Fund Management
Co., Ltd. ARHMBAEZEXHERS
100% ZHIEZEEFE - Hh - &
860,200/ 7 (47 &) 2,361,790 A
ORE) DHRERWHIFELTHTETA -

ERBRRNBEBEBOELE

RZB-—RFENANRA » AR (ERER
A) =R RITH—IB10EBTHIFHE
HBMETUBREWRS - ZAEFWEREE
ARGFE  BREF\EREBFHEBEHZ
FIVAHBHR=FE ARHEE -

RIE B EE e B A T - AR RE
MR R EE () R A BAREFRE
EREABMEERAREETORARAE
BITRAMS0% ([FEBRYAEME]) - HiE
REMBSEROBESHBERENSZE B
FAEBIRITIEMEELEEB R, HEM
P B R (BB SRS R A B AT A 8 & E A
AR R EA FOR BN BB A -

Notes:

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in ordinary
shares and underlying shares to the total issued shares of the Company
as at 31st December, 2022.

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited were directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of
the Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned by
CRCL. CRCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. So, China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore
deemed to have interest in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

3. According to the information disclosed to the Company under Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of SFO, these shares were held by JPMorgan Chase &
Co. through JPMorgan Asset Management (Asia Pacific) Limited and China
International Fund Management Co., Ltd. which are controlled indirectly
as to 99.99% and 49% by it respectively and other corporations controlled
directly or indirectly as to 100% by it. Among which, 860,200 shares (long
position) and 2,361,790 shares (short position) are cash settled unlisted
derivatives.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 6th August, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks
shall declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all
outstanding amounts together with interests accrued thereon and
all other sums payable by the Company to be immediately due and
payable.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be
avoided by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President,
Vice-president, Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary
and other officers for the time being of the Company and the trustees
(if any) for the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company, and their respective executors or administrators, shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if
any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own wilful neglect or
default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2022.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs.
Ernst & Young and Messrs Ernst & Young will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and will not be re-appointed.
A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to proposed appointment of KPMG as the
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 31st March, 2023
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Independent auditor’s report

To the shareholders of China Resources Gas Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 91 to 276, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December,
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December, 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in the context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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BARETEE Key audit matter
BRESTSEEESPNMER How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B E R E Impairment assessment on goodwill
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We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill as a key
audit matter due to the involvement of significant judgements and
assumptions in estimating the recoverable amounts of the cash-
generated units (“CGUs”) to which the goodwill has been allocated.

As at 31 December, 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill was
HK$2,539,906,000. As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, goodwill acquired in a business combination
was allocated to the CGUs that were expected to benefit from that
business combination. Management considered that each subsidiary
represents a separate CGU for the purpose of goodwill impairment
testing. The recoverable amounts of the CGUs were determined based
on the value-in-use calculations, which required the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on goodwill
included:

° Obtained an understanding of the key controls over impairment
and management’s process and basis used in preparing the
cash flow forecasts, including significant assumptions;

° Assessed the appropriateness of the discount rate used
by comparing the cost of capital of the Company with the
organisations in the industry, involving our internal valuation
specialists to assess the methodology of the impairment test,
independently developing expectations for the discount rate and
comparing the independent expectations to those used by the

management;

o Evaluated the sensitivity analysis performed by management in
respect of the growth rates and pre-tax discount rates to assess
the extent of impact on the calculations of the value-in-use;

° Evaluated the cash flow forecasts used by comparing them to
the recent performance of the CGUs and trend analysis; and

. Assessed the adequacy of the disclosures made in the financial
statements on the impairment assessment, specifically on the
key assumptions that had the most significant effect on the
determination of the recoverable amount of the goodwill.
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We identified the recognition of gas connection income, assets related
to contract works and contract liabilities as a key audit matter due to
the involvement of a number of judgements in the recognition.

As disclosed in notes 6, 25 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recorded gas connection income amounting
to HK$12,207,857,000 for the year ended 31 December, 2022 and
recognised assets related to contract works and contract liabilities
amounting to HK$3,285,077,000 and HK$10,488,646,000, respectively,
as at 31 December, 2022.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is recognised
using the percentage of completion method, measured by reference
to the costs incurred during the year relative to the estimated total
costs of the contract, which requires the status of contracts to be
assessed on a regular basis. The management of the Group exercises
significant judgements in assessing the extent of progress in the
satisfaction of the performance obligation in gas connection contracts,
the valuation of contract variations, the completeness and accuracy
of forecast costs to complete, and the ability to deliver contracts
within forecast timescales. The complexity of the above assessment
process applied in the Group’s recognition policies on gas connection
requires significant judgements and could have a material impact on
the revenue, assets related to contract works and contract liabilities
reported in the consolidated financial statements.

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas connection
income, assets related to contract works and contract liabilities
included:

° Obtained an understanding of the accounting policies related to
gas connection income, and reviewing the construction contracts
on a sampling basis to assess the appropriateness of revenue
recognition;

° Tested the key controls over the contract budgeting and
management process;

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Discussed with management to assess the assumptions used in
the recognition and management’s key judgements involved in
determining the extent of work;

Reviewed the construction progress reports on a sampling basis
prepared by project managers by agreeing the contract sum
and budgeted total costs to the respective signed contracts and
approved budgets, checking material costs and labour costs
incurred to purchase invoices and internal payroll records, and
recalculating the performance progress with the input method
based on the costs incurred and the budgeted total costs;

Evaluated the historical accuracy of the Group’s estimates on the
progress in the satisfaction of the performance obligation through
identifying if there were any late adjustments on the same
contracts across different years and checking the completion of
selected contracts through evidencing the delivery of completed
contracts; and

Performed the analytical review procedures by comparing gas
connection income and margins over the different periods.
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We identified interests in joint ventures as a key audit matter due to
the significance of these investments to the Group’s consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the involvement of judgements
in the recognition of gas connection income which could affect the
amount of interests in joint ventures as at 31 December, 2022 and the
share of results of joint ventures for the year then ended.

The Group’s principal joint ventures were engaged in the business
of the sale of natural gas, liquefied gas and the connection of
gas pipelines as set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial
statements. As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying amount of interests in joint ventures as at 31
December, 2022 and the gas connection income of the joint ventures
for the year ended 31 December, 2022 were HK$17,073,491,000 and
HK$4,371,021,000 in aggregate, respectively.

Due to the involvement of judgement explained in the above key audit
matter entitled “Revenue recognition”, we considered the recognition
of the gas connection income as one of our focus areas in the
component audits of the principal joint ventures.

Our procedures in relation to the interests in joint ventures included:

o Compared the accounting policies and estimates adopted by
the joint ventures to assess the consistency with the Group's
accounting policies in all material aspects;

o Obtained an understanding of the Group’s principal joint ventures
by reading their financial information and discussing with their
respective management and component audit teams about the
financial performance, significant events which occurred during
the year and the key areas of judgement made in preparing the
financial information to identify and assess the risks that were
significant to the audit of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements;
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° Evaluated the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence
obtained from the work performed by the component audit teams
of the principal joint ventures of the Group by reviewing their
audit documentation and discussing the results of their work with
them; and

° Worked with the component audit teams of the principal joint
ventures to carry out those procedures set out in the above key
audit matter entitled “Revenue recognition”.

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated

financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BB RS
Independent auditor’s report

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tjen, Michael.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March, 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BE-S--F+-A=t+-ALFE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

—E-C-F —E-—F
2022 2021
{iFs3 FiEx FAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
el
restated
WA Revenue 6 94,338,329 79,642,030
HEKAE Cost of sales (76,256,478) (60,465,838)
EH Gross profit 18,081,851 19,176,192
H bl A Other income 7 770,571 893,449
HERDHERY Selling and distribution expenses (6,303,129) (5,758,032)
THRA® Administrative expenses (3,883,450) (3,825,113)
SREANEEZRERBEBSFE  Impairment losses on financial and contract
assets, net (2,803) (11,321)
BETE R AR Finance costs 8 (557,018) (382,381)
RN Share of results of joint ventures 83,385 702,351
it Share of results of associates 426,149 388,572
KA A& F Profit before taxation 8,615,556 11,183,717
BE Taxation 10 (2,307,037) (2,743,885)
FREF Profit for the year 6,308,519 8,439,832
Hih 2 HE Other comprehensive income
FREMZE (X)), ks Other comprehensive (expense)/income for
the year
BHETREEF P BZE#EE  Items that may be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
BEHESNELZSE Exchange differences arising on
translation (4,957,019) 783,397
BETESEH T EEHEHHEE  Item that will not be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
BEARAFEFAEMER Equity investments designated at fair value
WERHRAEE through other comprehensive income:
NFEZE ORTIE) Changes in fair value, net of tax (18,834) 14,421
EHRREREE Unfunded defined benefit plans (4,311) (5,253)
FREME2E (X)W Other comprehensive (expense)/income for
(NBFIR) the year, net of tax (4,980,164) 792,565
FREAMEBE Total comprehensive income for the year 1,328,355 9,232,397
AT ATEEFERET Profit for the year attributable to:
BRAERA Owners of the parent 4,733,455 6,395,368
AR S Non-controlling interests 1,575,064 2,044,464
6,308,519 8,439,832
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

—E-C-F —E-—F
2022 2021
BisE FTHERT FAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
el
restated
MNTALTEEERZEYR S Total comprehensive income for the year
AR attributable to:
[SYNSIEZZ=DN Owners of the parent 975,825 7,035,864
s Non-controlling interests 352,530 2,196,533
1,328,355 9,232,397
BT BT
HK$ HKS$
FREF Earnings per share
B Basic 2.09 2.82
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 31 December, 2022

—E-CH —E-—F
+=ZH=+—-8B +=ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
B s FBT FAET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FEMBEE Non-current assets
M - BB RRE Property, plant and equipment 14 48,109,353 47,349,282
BB Investment properties 15 83,506 89,262
FREAE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 3,187,652 3,253,642
REERNAN R Interests in joint ventures 17 17,073,491 12,991,745
B E A R = Interests in associates 18 7,490,673 7,692,448
BEBEANFESAEME  Equity investments designated at fair
EW KRR E value through other comprehensive
income 19 288,673 164,794
EES Goodwill 20 2,539,906 1,274,030
e Operating rights 21 2,464,538 1,958,365
BEBIREE Deferred tax assets 34 508,859 463,247
m—EEERARIREER Loans to a joint venture 22 1,937,600 -
WIEEEMIZS Deposits for acquisition of assets 294,830 322,424
BEEE Deposits for investments - 11,586
JEMBEERTE Total non-current assets 83,979,081 75,570,825
MENAE Current assets
eSS Inventories 23 1,306,646 1,142,272
EWE SRR R EMEMF  Trade and other receivables 24 17,042,481 15,705,278
ARIBABEE Assets related to contract works 25 3,285,077 3,628,060
EIEIRIRITER KL Pledged bank deposits and restricted
ZRHIRE cash 26 896 2,526,923
RITHEM LIRS Bank balances and cash 27 6,437,479 7,562,950
mBEEER Total current assets 28,072,579 30,565,483
mENAE Current liabilities
JENE ZERFREMERMZ  Trade and other payables 28 27,046,179 26,184,673
aRaRE Contract liabilities 29 10,488,646 15,185,964
B e Government grants 30 21,587 35,907
RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings 31 7,695,765 615,659
HEaE Lease liabilities 16(b) 102,566 122,471
BEAZR Senior notes 32 - 5,583,770
FEAIBIIR Taxation payable 879,508 969,296
mEN B EEEE Total current liabilities 46,234,251 48,697,740
mMEEEFRE Net current liabilities (18,161,672) (18,132,257)
BEERTEEE Total assets less current liabilities 65,817,409 57,438,568
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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At 31 December, 2022

—E-CF —E-—F
+=—A=+—-8 +=-A=+—H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
M FHExT FHET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
s Equity
R AN Share capital 35 231,401 231,401
(=] Reserves 39,103,305 41,025,514
BREER AEGER Equity attributable to owners of the
parent 39,334,706 41,256,915
FEFE AR = Non-controlling interests 13,205,760 12,780,747
1B T Total equity 52,540,466 54,037,662
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
BT Bh Government grants 30 757,947 845,182
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 31 10,020,646 295,706
HERE Lease liabilities 16(b) 304,829 267,238
HEfRHEIEE Other long-term liabilities 33 627,900 675,571
RIEFIE & & Deferred tax liabilities 34 1,565,621 1,317,209
ERBBERTE Total non-current liabilities 13,276,943 3,400,906
65,817,409 57,438,568

FNE2I6AZHAMBHEALHESTS

R-ZZE-_=F=A=+—B#ERZEET

BEAHTINALTRRE=TSRE

The consolidated financial statements on pages 91 to 276 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31

March, 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

TER
WANG CHUANDONG
BE
DIRECTOR
E2:3
CHAIRMAN

By
YANG PING
£F
DIRECTOR
o2
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Eqwty

BE-_2__F+-A=1t—RLEE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

BOREEARK
Attributable to owners of the parent
RERTE
W REEE  BAR&  EARE  ERBR  GEZBf  RMER GRRE REER N FEREE  RA4E
Shares
held
foran
incentive Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital ~ Translation award Other Merger  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium*  surplus®  reserve®  reseve'  scheme' reserves’  reseve' profits'  Subdotal  interests equity
i TEL T TER Tin Tin i TEL TR TR TR TEn
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOO0  HKSOO0  HKSO0D  HKSOO0  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO0  HKSO00
(a) (i) () (o)
(Notea) — (Noteb) (Notec) — (Noted)
e At 1 January, 2021 81401 10038588 7,388,600 324,356 P44 (166290) 4216692  (B727518) 2574004 6204287 10594072 46868359
EWM‘J Profit or the year - - - - - - - - 635368 6390368 2044464 84308%
BATEALLRTNE Change in fai vaue of equy
RERADTEED (R  invesiments at ai value
i) through other comprehensive
income, net of tax - - - 14248 - - 14,248 173 144
BRI RTRE Unfunded defined bene plans - - - - - (3149) - - B9 Ry %)
ERRBELHEL 2ENE Exchange diferences arising
fe2EkE on fransaton and other
comprenensive income for the
Jear - - - - 629,397 - - - - 629,397 154,000 183,307
EmRENELE Tota comprehensive income for
the year - - - - 629,307 - 11,099 - 636368 T0%HM64 219653 9232307
HERERTE Caplta confbuton fom non-
contraling inerests - - - (30) - - - (36) 79,904 79,868
HENBLA Acauistion o subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - 1050808 1050808
BHLENRELT Paril disposalof a subsidary - - - A - - O Y N Vi
a7 Disposal o & subsicary - - - - - - - - S (Bt (48
RRRE(ED Divdends paid o 12 - - - - © ORI (1090 - )
ERHEREEAREERE Dhidends paid o non-contoling
Interests of subsiciaries - - - - - - - (1331,059)  (1.331,09)
BREATIEN Tranfer from reained profs - - - - - IS - [36%) - - -
HZEZ-E+2FZ1-B A3t Deoember, 2021 81400 10038568 7,388,600 30560 1028721 (166,50) 4795416 (8727518) 26292307 41266916 12780747 54,037 662
H-522E-5-B A1 January, 2022 21401 10,038,588 7,368,600 30560 108720 (166,250 4795416 (8727518) 26202307 41296915 12,780,747 54,037,662
?WM‘J Proit for the year - - - - - - - - 4TRSS 4733485 1575064 6308519
?@%AHM% Wﬁ Change in far valg of equiy
TAREDTEED (B  invesiments al fai value
i) through other comprehensive
income, nef of tax - - - - - - (1039) - - (103) (8505 (188%4)
b b Unfunded defined benet plans - - - - - - - | I 1 I K]
ERAEELEL2ERE Exchange diferences arising
{2k o franslaton and other
comprehensive income for the
Jear - - - - ) - - - - [T (121919 (A009
ERcEARLR Tota comprehensive income for
the year - - - - (3745100 - (12,530) - AT 975,825 3/2530 1328355
HERERTE Capitalcontrbuton fom non-
confroling inerests - - - - - - - - - - (24580 (453
WENRLT Acauistion o subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - 0BT 1083372
WEMBNAZENEE  Acquison of addiiona nfrest
i subsidres - - ) - - - - 1 N Y
BiRa () Dividends paid (Note 12) - - (2880639) - - - - - - (28806%9) - (2880639)
BATBATFEARERRE Diidends paid o non-contoling
Interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (931,269 (931,269)
EREETED Transfer from retained profs - - - - - - i - (H3400) - - -
RBZZE+2AZ1-R A3t December, 2002 21401 10,038,588 4,507,967 33159 (71319 (166,250 5196266 (8727518 30612452 39334706 13,205,760 52,540,466
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE_E__H+-A=1+—-RALFE

ML

BEARAR-_Z——FAA=THAEH
HFREFR ARG EBENFIRER
% %8/57,388,600,00078 7T &0 I 17 )i (B i
FHEOCHBEEZHARG - BARB AT
AEEHEELERAN AR ER(I1981FE
RERAE)BHNEMASR - HEZZT
ZZF+TZA=t+—BLHFE EHA
2,880,633,000/8 L LB ©

AABEREMFEREEAEN DA
U HERKBRABMNRRMEN
WEE B Z R EE -

HitFE RN P EARLMNE ([HE])
PRIV A R AR B R AT EE A
2HRENBRAREXTEZY - —REFH
B EATRRREE  DEBRES  RE
Rume REERSGREENRAOTE T R
DO 8 R A e R 7 A SR AR A
BEFEZEH -

—REGDHEFEETHBRARANKRBTR
AR5 % E10%MEENE - WAHKES
BNESERESHBARMAMSIEZMAR
EE - wHEBERBHEER BRXBEAR
WREENMEBZA

atEEE(OENRERE BRADIKE
FRME AT RARBPAETRND « H(ii)
SEEATCAHER 2D BITRARE
B MmERE -

ERFERREGAVERREF VLS
##1539,103,305,0008 T (=T = —4 :
41,025,514,000 7T) °

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

Notes:

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special
general meeting of the Company on 30 May, 2011, the amount of
HK$7,388,600,000 standing to the credit of share premium has been
transferred to the contributed surplus. The contributed surplus is a
distributable reserve and will be used for the payment of dividends and for
such other purposes as allowed by the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the amount of HK$2,880,633,000
has been used for the payment of dividends.

The capital reserve arose from the difference between the amount by
which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration
paid/received for the acquisition/disposal of interests in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise the changes in fair value of equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, general
reserve, statutory surplus reserve, enterprise expansion fund, statutory
public welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve of subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and the
changes in net assets attributable to the Group in relation to the increase
in ownership interests in subsidiaries through capital contribution.

The general reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to
10% of the profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by
their boards of directors in accordance with the articles of association of
the subsidiaries. This reserve should only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into capital and expansion of production and operation.

The merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash
consideration paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares
issued by the Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium
of the combined entities under group reorganisations.

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$39,103,305,000 (2021: HK$41,025,514,000) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
BE-_Z-__F+-A=+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

—=E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
B3 FBT FAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BT OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B B A& A Profit before taxation 8,615,556 11,183,717
FHE - Adjustments for:
BT RZR Finance costs 8 557,018 382,381
2 U A Interest income 7 (242,790) (329,321)
BAFEFAEMEEKZE  Dividend income from equity
R IR AR & B AR B A investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 7 (1,748) (2,647)
EHERBT S Government grants recognised 7 (75,180) (72,800)
JEEAERNRI RELZARE  Share of profits and losses of joint
A % B8 ventures and associates (509,534) (1,090,923)
HEWE  BELKEEIE  Loss on disposal of property, plant
and equipment 9 23,810 27,952
HEFAREENRE Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets 9 (9,473) (2)
HAEHEEEAFAKE Gain on deemed disposal of joint
ventures 7 (6,755) (95,393)
Gy Tank=—d N L Gain on deemed disposal of
associates 7 - (34,356)
HE — R B A R Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 7 - (25,074)
FEWE B ORfER R ),  (Reversal of impairment)/impairment of
RIE trade receivables 9 (8,262) 12,663
H b ERFRE O (B B Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of
) other receivables 9 10,429 (790)
ARBEME,CRERER) Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of
contract assets 9 636 (552)
EEIRRE Impairment of construction in progress 946 2,730
ME - BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 9 2,970,836 2,392,713
FRAEEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9 269,777 194,784
REMERE Depreciation of investment properties 9 5,018 4,697
Ko e B Amortisation of operating rights 9 113,979 76,628
CEEASEEAN Operating cash flows before movements
KERERE in working capital 11,714,263 12,626,407
FEEmMm Increase in inventories (272,283) (104,266)
FEUE 5 BRI Increase in trade and other receivables
H b UG AN (2,353,868) (2,937,941)
HRIEEEEERD Decrease in assets related to contract
works 37,165 10,166
B SRR KR Increase in trade and other payables
H b JRE < R0 1,647,054 2,171,575
aRBERD Decrease in contract liabilities (4,056,300) (427,712)
REEBREENES Cash generated from operations 6,716,031 11,338,229
BRRBEPEMER PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (2,364,641) (2,948,171)
REXEBAER TR NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES 4,351,390 8,390,058
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-Z-_—_H+-A=t+—HILLEE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
B = FER FHT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
LEXER INVESTING ACTIVITIES
f& o) B th i FT 1S 5008 Proceeds from redemption of other
deposits 21,807,341 42,710,518
BlEERTIKE Dividends received from joint ventures 136,826 195,715
[SAGEAYNEIE S Dividends received from associates 99,003 248,586
BEHFE Interest received 231,570 328,455
HEWE  WENRZEHS  Proceeds from disposal of property,
IR plant and equipment 108,334 48,535
I 4SS REFT S B Proceeds from disposal of operating
rights - 9,936
HEREYEFTSHRIE Proceeds from disposal of investing
properties - 323
mSEYE - BEKEZEBE Receipt of government grants for
BT B & property, plant and equipment 62,627 463,410
EGast Business combinations (2,488,760) (749,247)
T RCE A 7 3R Placement of other deposits (22,122,333) (42,985,152)

BEVE  BERKENNRK

Payments for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment (6,238,706) (5,682,820)
RE—MEZRKBRARMNEF Repayment from a fellow subsidiary 1,417,870 705,200
(M& &R RIRHHERE (Advances of loans to)/repayment from
P/ RABGEARIKER  joint ventures (2,037,895) 18,073
MBS N BIRMEHEREZR  Advances of loans to associates (4,066) (24,192)
RE &N ERIRE Investments in joint ventures (5,550,992) (151,563)
RS QAR E Investments in associates - (3,520,983)
BEYWE  BMEMEEESE  Deposits for purchase of property, plant
and equipment - (43,704)
ERAEEERS Deposits for right-of-use assets (69,178) (22,849)
KERE Deposits for investments - (11,413)
ERAEEENK Payments for right-of-use assets (110,350) (200,542)
RE (7R A EMEITF . Withdraw/(placement) of pledged bank
REREIHRE deposits and restricted cash 2,410,643 (2,476,875)
BEREMENRK Payments for acquisition of investment
properties (972) (2,228)
WEEBHTARS F58 NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES

(12,349,038)

(11,142,817)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE-_2__F+-A=1t—RLEE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
B = FER FET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
MEZRK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
FgRIT R EMER New bank and other loans 36,145,678 1,843,965
1;@?&17&Eﬁﬂ1ﬁ“ Repayment of bank and other loans (17,827,084) (3,755,438)
Rk Tﬁam)/ (Repayment to)/amounts due to an
F‘EHEPFEﬂ KIE intermediate holding company (2,500,000) 2,500,000
RIEEY NG / Amounts due to/(repayment to) fellow
(MR RWE A RER) subsidiaries 2,096,847 (18,913)
&4 ARIRE, Amounts due to/(repayment to) joint
(A E\EQT}&TJ\) ventures 15,144 (204,440)
FERTIT B A R SEFE A% 2 U8 Amounts due to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries 9,541 75,679
FEERFITE Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 92,189 79,904
BEAHBE Dividends paid (2,880,633) (2,109,440)
[EANE SN I Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders (1,222,589) (1,233,440)
EARFLE Interest paid (540,522) (363,065)
BRELARE Repayment of senior notes (5,598,179) -
MAONREZE D Principal portion of lease payments (174,391) (166,456)
BMEEBHG,(FTA) NET CASH FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING
B4 55 ACTIVITIES 7,616,001 (3,351,644)
B RIS SEWMAIFE  NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (381,647) (6,104,403)
FURELBELEED CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 7,562,950 183,442,206
EXFFHHFE  FE Effect of exchange rate changes, net (743,824) 225,147
MRIE%&EEA”F% B14R CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
B RIAES END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 6,437,479 7,562,950
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GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate
parent company is China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited (“CRH"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and its
ultimate holding company is China Resources Company Limited
(“CRCL") (formerly known as “China Resources National Corp.”),
a company established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"). The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set
out in notes 48, 49 and 50, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$") as the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where
most of its investors are located, and therefore, the directors of
the Company consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the
operating results and financial position of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$18,161,672,000,
and the Group had capital commitments of HK$2,613,779,000 as
at 31 December, 2022. As at 31 December, 2022, the Group had
bank and other borrowings totalling HK$17,716,411,000, of which
HK$7,695,765,000 was classified as current liabilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities of HK$28,760,660,000
and internally generated funds of the Group, the Group has
sufficient working capital for its present requirements for the
next twelve months from 31 December, 2022. Accordingly, the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a
going concern basis.

[P CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:

Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual improvements of Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and
HKAS 41
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3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 3 replace a reference to the
previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting (the “Conceptual
Framework”) issued in June 2018 without significantly
changing its requirements. The amendments also add to
HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception
specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that
would be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int
21 if they were incurred separately rather than assumed
in a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to business combinations
that occurred on or after 1 January 2022. As there were
no contingent assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
within the scope of the amendments arising in the business
combination that occurred during the year, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

[[73) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z--F+-A=+t—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting

from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment

any proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for it
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management. Instead, an entity recognises the proceeds

from selling any such items, and the cost of those items

as determined by HKAS 2 /nventories, in profit or loss. The

Group has applied the amendments retrospectively to items

of property, plant and equipment made available for use on

or after 1 January 2021. Since there was no sale of items

produced prior to the property, plant and equipment being

available for use, the amendments did not have any impact

on the financial position or performance of the Group.
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DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(c)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a
contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that
contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that contract
(e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item
of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the
contract as well as contract management and supervision
costs). General and administrative costs do not relate
directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The Group has applied the amendments prospectively to
contracts for which it has not yet fulfilled all its obligations
at 1 January 2022 and no onerous contracts were identified.
Therefore, the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z--F+-A=+t—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendment that is applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether the
terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those paid
or received between the borrower and the lender,
including fees paid or received by either the borrower
or lender on the other’s behalf. The Group has applied
the amendment prospectively from 1 January 2022. As
there was no modification or exchange of the Group's
financial liabilities during the year, the amendment
did not have any impact on the financial position or
performance of the Group.
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3.2 CEMEMKRERNERHM
3 & 2 A
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

BT SR -

BAMBREERF0

REZEABEL A

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

RREBGHENE BERAZFNE and HKAS 28 (2011) Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture®
B (ZE——F)H) EHEATE
)
BEQHERNZ 160 EAHONEERR Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’
]
BRMEREENET  REAA HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

BANBREERE7
5]

RERE"?

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Insurance Contracts"®

BRMBREENET  EAXEFAEEYFSR Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 -
BT ZEBENTRERE Comparative Information®
B BHEEHE9
5~ LERERS
BREIENEIRNE KEBIHEIEAH Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
B REEE(ZF= current (the "2020 Amendments”)? *
FFEFT))2
BEGHENE1RNE WEZFOHTTE Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
H B[ =%k ‘2022 Amendments”)?
1)
BREENEIRRE BIURIRE Amendments to HKAS 1and HKFRS  Disclosure of Accounting Policies’
BEBREERER Practice Statement 2
EEORMIET
BAQHRAESRNE BRI IEE Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates’

i
BEGENE 1250

47

HE-RGFELZE
ERREEHZE
ERE

Amendments to HKAS 12

BT CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction’
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

1

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of
the 2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020
Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in
conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on
initial application of HKFRS 17

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-
lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale
and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not
recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

[[EP CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, in particular the determination over
whether an entity has a right to defer settlement of the liabilities
for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Classification
of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the entity
will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability. The
amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. In 2022, the HKICPA issued the 2022
Amendments to further clarify that, among covenants of a
liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which
an entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current. In addition,
the 2022 Amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as non-
current when it has a right to defer settlement of those liabilities
that are subject to the entity complying with future covenants
within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early
is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and
vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require
revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group'’s
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy
disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently revisiting the accounting policy disclosures to

ensure consistency with the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
obligations. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to
transactions other than leases and decommissioning obligations.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
which are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of assets.
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I
FESHBER (8) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

o B ERmME - AFERE In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
RIE A ErT 2/ AR ERE
ERATEFENE AREELEE

WBEZUDBERE—H  B_HAE

= FBEWT

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o FRBABBIERENG
Hal A M EMHERAAEL A
BTS2 $RE ORISR

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

nu\
m il

A

H
»n markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

s FABABEBIREESLAR .
BEEIMENABE 2B ARE
(F-RABEORERIN) &

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

e FZHBWABBREEXREEMD .

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

TREREE AR -

HEPBRRBREARE REES
ERNENBARNMBRE - A
DA E AT R - BESHE
1

AEREHRITERES

e HA2HRBHREBMAZTH
EH AR ZFEN &

WEEE RIERER Lt =REHH
%Z—ﬁiyﬁﬁﬁ M - REE
B ERRERREHR

liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial

statements of the Company and entities controlled by the

Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the

Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one

or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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4. FESTHE &) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

EHEE(F) Basis of consolidation (Continued)

fl”ﬁzl»‘%lﬁ’\‘&’é‘ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁ?%%ﬂi%fﬁ When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights

REE - BERERFEEUARETASE of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting

BEERENAETEHZEEREHRZ rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the

HEEEBE - NEBBEREHSE relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. Generally, there is

BN —RME  HEZEIEERE a presumption that the majority of voting rights results in control.

KRS - A EERIEES The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

SHRERESESRAETERENE assessing whether or not the Group's voting rights in an investee

rEBEZEMBHBZERER B are sufficient to give it power, including:

&

o AEERAREEZAEERHE e the size of the Group's holding of voting rights relative
MEEEFBEAFBREE S to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
RESEE holders;

o KEHE - HMREEREASE e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
A TFE 2 BEREE or other parties;

o HMAERLTHELEZEN: & e rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o REEELRTER  AEBER e the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time

RELDEEEREY (BERBE that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
Hﬁ%ﬁﬁiﬂﬁ&mﬁﬁ) o at previous shareholders’ meetings.

WEBARzaHAREBAREERSEGSE Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains

BN R RS - WA control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses

EEAXEAEEMNE R B 2 E 5 R control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses

IFe BEEME - FRMBES LS of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are

BARIZWARBS YA AEBERE included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

B BRI AGEBE REM comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control

THKRE BEEAEETHESE until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

BB AR Z BRI -

BakEte2ERE 2 GEER DB Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
BRAREIHEE ARFEERER ° F‘f are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
BRARzZ2EWEBBHEBRAR controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
WA ARIFERER - Eﬂﬁlﬁté‘%’“&r is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
BRI S E R B AL AR controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling

interests having a deficit balance.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022



TESFEE ()

BOIEE(F)

RBEE - BB QR 2 BHRE
EERE NS EEZ2GFHEER
KBz SR -

FEAEBERERR 2HAXZHNME
SERRARzEERARE  #am -
WA~ XHERSRENE G BB
B -

FEMPEE WL A RS
25

FEBRBEMNBRBMERENER
MRS - BABMERMAREKREX
EMBERATAIEGIE AR S
AR e AEEERES AR D KIE
ZRRE R IRE(E T AR - U
WERW B AR NREERNE

BRERAEE RS ERLL
PIEmE 2 EE#H D EAERREE -

HRRE R AR D B BIR A FEIE IR
=R EP N R TR E DT ER
EZRMER  HEZNESERIL
SEBNARFEAA o

EBAH

I IE & GF F IR 43 1) 26 75 ) MR B 26T 4R
RUYEENR - AP 2 BEER
BIRAFEFE  MetETEARAE
EEEEE  AKEARKENR
BERAE 2 BB RAEE /BB
B zENEMETZRERKES
BzRFEEE - ARKE KA
BRELRBRERTER

R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

HHMBIERERAT —ESZ-FER ‘IE
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4, TESHBE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
EBEO(E) Business combinations (Continued)
EREN—EESREERFEHHE The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
REIEELENENERERNER acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
BAR—BEEERE  AEERAHE substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
s —TRETS - ability to create outputs.
U R AR - PTRE Z AT R A E K& At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
Pz BTN B R AT ER the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
R MELATIE BRI - acquisition date, except that:
o REMBEENAEBEREBRT e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
k?ﬁfﬁﬁ?iﬁ’]ﬁ?‘k% B EE or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
DRRE BT ERE125 [ A7 recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
7 ] &%/%QE AR 1958 Income taxes and HKAS 19 Employee benefits respectively;
fEEﬁs/’%‘/JﬁEw&ﬁi :
o EIWWETTHILARRD B ETEA e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
R BESK AU A MR 77 89 AR payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
M AERMNRLHEME] LA payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
B AR S RER O RETHE share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
BEMAESERTEA IR measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
BHHZRESMERELELE?2 date; and

SAtE &

o MEBEBVBHELENESH e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
[FFIEL E BT B) B ERE A for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets
UAEEZEF | D EABELEN held for sale and discontinued operations are measured in
BE (K EHER) RIBZER accordance with that standard.

FHE e

PEEUARERE  RE - FERER Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the

FABE W B 77 R Pl & BRI W 5 DA consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling

FA 2w RE 2 A TE () interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer's

ZABTFN R FT YR 2 P R E R previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the

Hﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi‘ZEEZi%E?ﬁ " net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities

BBz ZFEE - WEEME - TR assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of

fE 23R B EMPTRESR ,\BAHQEE the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired

HER 2 FREEREE 2 RE - JFE] and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration

f“LEA?BZ%ﬂ%EEF'Ffrﬁ’i%%ﬁl%&”ﬁlﬁﬁ transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the

FUARBEz G EE TR A TE acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer's previously held

(n) z @A - AIZREEIENIEZEA interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised

R B - immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

[l CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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—EC—F+-A=t+—-RHLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.

Merger accounting for business combinations involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the ultimate
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes
the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period and up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated as if the entities or businesses had been
combined at the previous reporting period or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter and up to the
date of disposal, as appropriate.
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4. FESTHEEK (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

WhE TS FREE P8 - THIRN EE I Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
BHH (B2 EXERBER) MK as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
AT REHRERE (BH) AR - accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if

RAEARMS  AEe EEEH For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
EREHESHRIENAEEER each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
SEESEM (KM EEELMAR) - generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies

Mz B s B AR IERANBEREE of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
WEEEENSEKTFATEBLEE goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not

BokmENReEELESN (KB A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
EXBMARN) eFIREMER which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
ﬂﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%k?_ﬁ@\ﬂﬂﬁ o gt annually, or more frequently whenever there is indication that the
RMERRNBEEENTE - BHE unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
BEMReEAEN (Eﬁzfﬁﬁéiﬁ a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
AR ERZME PERATEITR generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
BRI - MERSEEBL YD for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
SHEIONEREE  ARESESY recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its
EHBUEDREMAENREE - 2 carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
BIESHAEMLEMN (KBEEL the carrying amount of any goodwill, and then to the other assets
BB MEREELMSEZEM on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
BEE o in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

REEEBREEESCR  EETE On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
HEGHSBESERETAELTY amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
AR (IAEEEEFENES of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating
EEBEMARNTHNERRESELSE unit within group of cash-generating units in which the Group

AEBMERNBEEE QAR REE AT The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
EENEENTEREAINNAT - associate and a joint venture is described below.

REBERNTREEQATANERE Investments in associates and joint ventures

H‘#MQET?E SEAUHHEHELESERY An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant

c BERYEBEZEERAN influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the

2R E e
A Hﬂ%&%@d&ﬁﬂ’ﬂiéﬁ mIEsE financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

(K3 Goodwill
any.

DHE o larger than an operating segment.
fir) » monitors goodwill)

=
20E

#)
Hl sk A =SB EECRAE S - control or joint control over those policies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TEC A=+ -HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group's share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

supaERERAs —s--—F5% IR
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC—F+-A=t+—-RHLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of goods (including gas fuel, gas appliances and
related products)

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial
products.

(b) Gas connection/design and construction services

Revenue from the provision of gas connection and design
and construction services is recognised over time,
using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The
input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the costs incurred, relative to the estimated total costs for
satisfaction of the construction services.
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(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Gas connection/design and construction services
(Continued)

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and taxes.

EEnEERERAT —2-—fs5 @R



RE IS IRRMIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4, TESHBE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

R (F) Revenue recognition (Continued)
Bt A () Other income (Continued)
W s & B 0] LA R] SEdh 5T E TR Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
R PR R OB F 2= AT BE R AR SR reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
BB EAEE S ERERSEIRER benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
R - BT o been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.
REMBRETREES RGN EE Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
AT RAEREEERNER recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for
LA EEREHARNTIEZER gas connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of
R - RARREREESR K completion at the end of reporting period can be measured
AT IETIEDLERR  WER reliably. Revenue from and expenses on construction contracts
FREENKAFGEE RMEFR AL for gas connection are recognised using the percentage of
B2 - BEZXEMGAHMAERR completion method, measured by reference to the costs incurred
SEERMBERE - W@ Ar sE4 e during the year relative to the estimated total costs of the
WEEENERKRRRETER contract. When the outcome of a construction contract for gas

connection cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract cost incurred that is probable to be
recoverable.

REMRREENRZREFERARR Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
FFEERR . customers.
HEERMBENERMERE¥EE Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
ERRER - delivered and title has passed.
PR TS UL A PR A AR 745 5 FERR o Service income is recognised when services are provided.
FMBWALGHEEERE - 2E WK Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
EEACEREAERMNEASE - B principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
RAERNEERETHEMSHRE &K which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
CTRMEEMGFAIERAFHERTES receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
BERYIZHERERIREFENFE - asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
15 89 IR B A B AR R ER AT R ) Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
TR W T LATERR © shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.
AEBMBERRALEROBRZNEE The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from
HER TR A T B E 8 & 5T BUR A Bt - operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets. The contract assets
are disclosed under a separate financial statement line item
named “Assets related to contract works” as at 31 December
2022.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to
the customer).

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a
customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria
are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4, TESHBE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

ME - BMERRZE Property, plant and equipment
W BMERSE(BEFEEE Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
REERIRE - KTHEEAED use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
BT ETEEEEIR) DIEEA administrative purposes (other than construction in progress) are
BREZRFTER R RERRE stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
(40B ) RERE AR KR TIER o less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated

impairment losses, if any.

FRIRBERER TREBUHAE Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
R BRNME  BEREE - T in the course of construction for production or for own use
TR IR AR A 2 MR EE 18 purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less
IR o R TRENER R AEET any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress
ReR EABEREINYE  BE is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
Rt  ZSEEMEREENR and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
ABTERARRREEMYEEERR Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
B EAERLA o property assets commence when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

RESEEME  BERRE (LR Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
TN HEMGEFEAFHANR of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
LA REFTRIGEERERITE N progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
WAEE A o BRI BB ES - FER account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
BELRTEFEZNESREHRETR line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
& ME R E BN EATERE depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
IR o period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for

on a prospective basis.

M- BERZEEHENLEENETE An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon

HAREFRAZEETEERRRLE disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
ﬂ/\ﬁ RILHER - HEREEME - to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
BEMEEEEEEZENABRLY arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
EEHRIEREERMER 2 Z8ET plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
H o WHRIBRANER - the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.

[F73® CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022



TESFEE ()

HEFARERANBRIBEN LR
B’F

fHERPEN T RET IHIEEER
EEA% MO T BEAER
BEE  WARRXRHEDR#E - 10
FEHE - O TR E R HER
SOMEEREBTRAN —#5 « £
1B F I AMER A 2 # AR E &8
SR - WHBRBRYE  BELRE -
BFERARERR (AWRBTFTEEEE
BE B MoE B E I B BT E R
i) FSAITE -

BREME

REWMETD SRS R B AR
EMFAENDE -

BREMETRKAVIZEE - BREE
MEZEERY - RERERR &
EMETHRR A REIR BRHTE RME
ARFHREBEIIR - RESEER
AMENGEHERF N BER b
SR BERERITE - A EX
o

BREMERREERNE LKA T8
ERAREMERBEEAEHERESE
AR B S S48 IERERR » AR I FERRRZ
BEMELENEMKELER (R
EREEMSHEFRAEAREEDN
ZHE) NZIA B R RN
MEt B -

R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component is classified as a right-of-use asset
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
During the construction period, the amortisation charge provided
for the leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings
under construction. Buildings under construction are carried at
cost, less any identified impairment losses and are classified
as property, plant and equipment. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets include the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the
period when the asset is derecognised.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

[F£)) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022



TESFEE ()

HE (&)
FEEEBABA

AEFEHAARE (ERHEE MK
BEEAEMERIN) KRRE-HERR
RTENE  AKBERREERBNUE
HEEHE - MEmAEEERERA
REEMNRER -

(a) (EHAEEE

EREEERMHEMEB A (R
AREERRERAER)ER -
EFRREE E R AR 25T
ERRERETZE  IRERE
MtEHEAEEDHEE - £
EEAEKABEERAMERR
W CEAVBEERAR
REE B Es 2 AT ER B E R
TR B W E 18R - (AR
BEZEAEHREEN G AE
AFEHPOBEEUNERET U
E - oT:

Fizh=guub: 2&E504F
¥ 2FE 254
ME - W RERE  2FE24F

WHEEENRERERERS
REEBEREBMAREARRT
BEERENTE  AERAZE
EMEE A EAFEMGAERE -

R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases

for low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to

make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the

right to use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 2 to 50 years
Buildings 2 to 25 years
Plant, machinery and equipment 2 to 24 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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(CONTINUED)
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Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4. FESTHE &) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

7E Inventories
FEUMAR R SR FEMRENRE Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
BN o ANAMNAEF AR E - value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
RERBASEEY Cash and cash equivalents
BEEAEBEeRERME - fﬁ%%ﬂfﬁﬁ For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
ZEYREFER:  EBHFERK cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
BERERAE MEBERE - B TE“ deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
ERBRE R —REEAR=EAANE readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
HrRBARRBERE  NKRERE insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
KNEERBRKAEERSERETA of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
DEBD ZRITES » overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group’s cash management.

MEEUBRRENS He kR For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
$FW“?§FH5§$XFE%UE’\J%E\EEEE% position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
BERRRITHERS (BEEHEFER) at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
AEMEEUReNEE - cash, which are not restricted as to use.

RERHMESRMEE Investments and other financial assets
WL ERR T E Initial recognition and measurement
Th’ilfﬁﬁm’ﬁ BARGEXHETH Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the

CBEAeRMEERERAEEL consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
éﬂ?fﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁi‘%?ﬂﬁ&%@ ° becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
RYETERE - @RVE E 5 HEUAR The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
SRIEAENARBERERFIHRAE on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
EEEZEeMAENEBER - K and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
TUATBEERNREHKID RAE exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
EEEAATEEAEZTITHEARE financing component or for which the Group has applied the
HRF DO EIELABRNERE 5 practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant

BRIN  AEBEYRIERFES M financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
(ﬁ%mﬂ‘lﬁ?l#?ﬁ@${§#)\%§ ) asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
REGRAERCHBEE - WHE KR at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
BHERBAOKAEEEEAAIITHERE receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
FEREKRE SERFRE EXHER or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
Weas | B0 ISR 12 B 8 B 16 R 2 R measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
FISHETNRHERE - in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”

above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TEC A=+ -HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other

comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to

impairment assessment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC—F+-A=t+—-RHLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required
to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4, TESHBE (&) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
KIEBRACREE Derecognition of financial assets
ETIBERTEBESRIEER (BB A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
AEENZREUBRARER) &8 the Group's consolidated statement of financial position) when:
BE
e WHEERSMENENE D e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
B sk or

o ALKEERIEIEF | LHwEE e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

WEIEERESRENENHEE
FEEBRERNBEIATHE
WHRHEEREZA XN TE=
7 RARECEEZEE
MB AR D Rk & B - (b)
FEEMESRTEREZEE
MBAE D B kR - BEE

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the

LA E R asset
MASEEEEEWMEERERE When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
BN E I B FRH  AEEFT from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
HWERORNIEREREZEAER it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
AR LB - fHANEERmE and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
BENERBZEAEBRI» AR KB transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
o MEERZAENITIRE  KE of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
EEELEAEE I FESHRERER continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
FRERAE - EILBERT - AKETR Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
EHRREHEE CDEEELEEKIAH recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
BEARBRAEERE ZEMNREB the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
RELFE o rights and obligations that the Group has retained.
NEEZEEAEFERARNFESEE Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
% DREEZREEERKNEER the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
EWEREMNZEaRESEMES carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
RIEEFE o consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
SREERE Impairment of financial assets
REEBEREW IR AT EFAER The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
BENMEBEEBITAEHEEEER (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
([FEHEEEIE]) WiEE - BHEE profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
BEDENRESRIBANERRE® contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
MERAREEBEHKINNAEE SR all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
EVHEMEBEMEE - WAREEREF at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
REALERRR - HHREREHE expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
FHEMBEANRERBNAEAXE collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
EHERE B (5 BRI - the contractual terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4. FESTHE &) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

SRMEERE (&) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
—MR A () General approach (Continued)
PR AT ER AE M2 E W = 8 & For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
REMES  AEBEHAREERRE income, the Group applies the low credit risk simplification.
bt - REBEEEH  AEEBRAME At each reporting date, the Group evaluates whether the debt
BAREBTVERASIE BT ER investments are considered to have low credit risk using all
ZABRBERBECER  FHA%ER reasonable and supportable information that is available without
BRAEARGEBREEERRE - EHTH undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Group
B AEBESENTHZEEBRE reassesses the external credit ratings of the debt investments.
ZHNBIEERTAR - EEFTREIETR Debt investments graded in the top investment categories by
RIBEREFERNNEFREHRARZ the Credit Rating Agency are considered to be low credit risk
REERBRIEE - AEBEMNBEKRE investments. It is the Group’s policy to measure ECLs on such
12EAEEFENBETANEHREE instruments on a 12-month basis. However, when there has been
B8 - Am - MEKRENEERR a significant increase in credit risk of debt investments since
BRBFERBEZEN  BEBER origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime ECL.
ZHEREEEE - AEEFEREE The Group uses the ratings from the Credit Rating Agency both
SIRMENTAAEEBITANGEE to determine whether the debt instruments have significantly
[E g R G EEE M A ESREEE increased in credit risk and to estimate ECLs.
o
WA R REE0KR » AIREER The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
BEMEEEN - AWM RETER payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
T HAEPs NP ERETR - E5T & Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
REBEFAENEAEERARBEA - internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
REBAKNARERBBEKRERESR to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
HIE - BIREENAIRAEREER taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
B o WEESIEEBWE SRR SR A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
2 AleMEeniE - expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and Assets related to contract works which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and assets related to contract works that
do not contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables and assets related to contract works
that contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to
be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TEC A=+ -HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
an amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative
financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
n “‘Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability
at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,

when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4. FESTHE &) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
BERA (&) Borrowing costs (Continued)
FIEEMEEXRANEEBHBRER All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
FER © period in which they are incurred.
BIRE R B A Retirement benefit costs
MR EHFRNEFE ERER Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
ERKERIETE R R TES T E managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
XN FIBEREERERG RN E Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
BEHAFGERBRSZ - have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
EHRESER Short-term employee benefits
HHEERATEERERSBEE Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
TREARL AR TG P VB IR TR @ 7R amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
WR e MERMEERNERRRH employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
Y RIS —EEBHBREERR benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
E kA iR AET ABEXAF o requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

EEHTIE Fe - FRERBES A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
ZREMENREMNENSERERE (such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
afE- deducting any amount already paid.
Hitng58RA Other employee benefits
SRE T E Defined benefit plan
REEBETETRERAE - Z5 The Group operates several defined benefit plans which require
EZEkmtEEREABEEELY payments to be made to each qualifying employee in the PRC.
N - EBEEMNAEMEE - REATE The benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under
BRE SR HBAOKAEAEE the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit
M fERRBEMEEET credit actuarial valuation method.
RERMEBRRESFTHEELENEHGT Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension plans,
2 BEREEZ BEXSBRED comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset
FE (TREFAARAECENEGEFH ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
RFFERM©RE) MErslEER R CF net defined benefit liability) and the return on plan assets
BEFTAATENAEFENFENE (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
WER) - ARG BIRR R R RN benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the consolidated
R WEBELEEHMEBEMMEEKE statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
WRB A B EREETAES - & credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income
VR ETRERETEEN S BEERE in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
= reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other employee benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier
of:

. the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under
“cost of sales” and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

° service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
settlements

o net interest expense or income

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4. FESTHE &) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
BE(E) Taxation (Continued)

B IBIIREEVBERENEER Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
B &R A A FE SRR A R £ A amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
BMEEREME MR EEER - BT statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
NMEBGE-—RUMBEERTNEREZE computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally

RARR « BERIBEERERAIAE recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
BRERT N ARNEHETRAONFE assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
AT H0F B R 2 B R ph 5% 5 AT 0B A differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
EREBAARE WEREBDEGE will be available against which those deductible temporary
SE—BIEHERTEF R EEHE differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
FMERTENR SR ERER (EK recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
BRI A EERBEMESE - from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
Al EEERBBEBTE®RALR - of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither

the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

ELEFHBEEBERRMBAR - BEAQ Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
AIREERARNRERFANERTY differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
B Z RERERR - ME W 2N 52 B AT 42 i) associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
EEBLORZEREFEIETIERA control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
RS RBEIRRIBRIN - HEEHERE that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
Ko i 25 FE BA Y AT HRUE R = RE M E A future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
MEEREEEENRIRELERHE differences associated with such investments and interests are
Rt e M) LA B) AR Iy 2 R R M I TR HA only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
AR AT R 2R (Bl B e 3R o sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of

the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

EEHBEAEMNRAERRERRS The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
THEITER - MBI ARMER end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
Fiaf ] AREE2BRBLIOIEBEE longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
E - Ble T AR - allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

BRI BEE R BBIREN RS H Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
REEMABEEC BB R (R that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
%) IRBEHRBEEENEEZRA settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
MEA s BETE - that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

BLEHBEEBERAE S  REE The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
FEZR S B A RS B R TR BA Ll Bl 5l B (B the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
BERBGEREBZHAMEERS the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
R o or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—EC—F+-A=t+—-RHLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
group entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency
and the Group's presentation currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and are reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.,
HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting
period. Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only where
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies
the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change. At the date
of the change, the group entity translates all items into the new
functional currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that
date and the resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items
are treated as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1 January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash
— generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

4. FESTHE &) 4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

BREREREE (BERMD) WRERS Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
B#E) than goodwill (Continued)
EREBBEERD  ZEE (R Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
SEEEMN)MREMBELE A IE amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
SREMERIEETE - A - BREEE to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
rgBRBeZEE (IReEE the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
B BEFEY EERREREEMR amount that would have been determined had no impairment
FETE R BRIEN(E o I3 (8 65 18 7 =) B B loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
RIBESFERR o in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

BN®BE Government grants

BN IR E S BREAER K Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
3B ST BT 478 Bh <& B B {60 4 3 7% BR 15 #8 assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
B & RFRERR o attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
RASEBEERHYSEHBENE @K Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
AERIHEBEEREEANRSG X systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
R MA THEEERBNBUNRE as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
PERGEEMBRAERFERBEL to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
WA - WRAEREE E e A F BN are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
AERABEALEEBESERN - Hit of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
BB eREZERTHEEIS M systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
EH R AR R B BRI R A Rt 7 =R assets. Other government grants are recognised as revenue
REWE - (FAASEELENERE over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for
W E kM A S BEREANREMBIER which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
i AT CER (37 % B /2 A AR ) 89 BUR Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
BN+ Th R E AR A PTHCER B HA expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
B NHER o immediate financial support to the Group with no future related

costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

RE B S Long term award scheme

BB R B RE B WS AR 2 R AR HY The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the

AN RYERF (E B AT 8RR D © long-term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive

FRE SR AT 8189 AR 19 7% 4 HH 5 LARER award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will

Be ZBE2EOKTEERES - be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

{EfP) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Long term award scheme (Continued)

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Control over EGE MR ERAL E] and FLLZEFHABRL T

BSEBMREABMR AR is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only a 50% ownership interest and voting rights in
ElSEBERABRAE. The Group has had the 50% ownership
interest since June 2006 in BESEMMAABMERAF and the
remaining 50% of equity interest is owned by a shareholder that
is unrelated to the Group. Details of these are set out in note 48.

sanRERERAT —E-=55% GHE
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over EGZFMABEMRA A and FILEFBRERL
(Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over ElSHE HRAEMR AT based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
ESEEMRE AR AR unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in BBEBMAAMRAA. The board of directors of =FBEEEI
FABMRATF comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 4 directors in ESEBMABR AT and the relevant
activities of B EBMRE AR A A require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of B&HEEMEFMRAF, and therefore, the
Group has control over Ef5HE BRI BRA 7.

FILEERE AR AR is a subsidiary of the Group. The Group
has 55% ownership interests and voting rights in # IUEEBERTHE
fRA"] and the remaining 45% of equity interests are owned by
a shareholder that is unrelated to the Group. Details of these are
set out in note 48.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over FILEMMRABRAF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
FRILEEERE AR A A unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in FIUEBMEABRAA. The board of directors of A LLZE M
[ABMRAF comprise 5 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 3 directors in FILIZEBEKRBRAF and the relevant
activities of FILZEBRE AR A F require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of FILZEBMEHFRAF], and therefore, the
Group has control over LI BT BR A A

[I73 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over HEZE HMRER L 7], BHEZFMREMR AL ], tHITE
BMRERL A and JSEZEFMTER L @(the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the
Group has only 49%, 50%, 51% and 51% ownership interests and
voting rights respectively in the PRC Entities and the remaining
equity interests of the PRC Entities are owned by shareholders
that are unrelated to the Group. Details of these are set out in
note 48.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in the PRC Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed
memorandums in which the other shareholders would agree the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of the PRC Entities, and the other shareholders would agree
the appointment of the entire senior management of the PRC
Entities nominated by the Group. After assessment, the directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the relevant activities of the PRC Entities, and
therefore, the Group has control over the PRC Entities.

sEnRERERAT —E-=55% @
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

5. BAEMESITHE K& T 5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

BEENEERIE (F) AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

fhEt TR R & Estimation uncertainty

INTAEIERERNEEZRZLNRE The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,

HEAREET T HAME RN EME E R and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the

ROBEEHTEMBFEEENR reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material

EEEELRBERABRNEREAR) adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next

financial year.

W - BERREL O HFRSE Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment
ERERBEWE  BERRENTEE Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
SmbstENERATH - WE - BE equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property,
%48 1) R 58 A 4R HA AT B A BT Rl T plant and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and
iR EREE o i [H 2 RRMIR equipment could change significantly as a result of technical
RELMIYE  BERRENER innovation. When the actual useful lives of property, plant and
Al A F R AR ERFEE equipment are different from their estimated useful lives due to
Z&2 A EBEZEBgrERKHMA the change of commercial and technological environment, such
MITEE R KT & ESE - difference will impact the depreciation charges and the amounts

of assets written down for future periods.

R—_ZETE-_—_F#+-_A=+—8" The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
M BRERIZENEEER at 31 December, 2022 was HK$48,109,353,000 (2021:
48,109,353,000% 71 (ZZE = —4F HK$47,349,282,000).

47,349,282,000# 7T) °

A& E Impairment of goodwill

ErEEEORERHTESREE Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
WIREEEBEMAAIREI S o AT of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
EleEAFERBEERRNFERBRLEMNK goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
AREFHRSE - EHEEAEE in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use
B AEBEFGTARSELEN calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
EEMARRASREL LUEEHITE expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
EHEHE - MERHERRRETE discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
LRIEH HFEREREERS actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in
THARER - AIGELEEXRFE facts and circumstances result in downward revision of future
BE RZTE_—F+=ZA=+— cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December,
B EmEMEEES2,539,906,000 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$2,539,906,000
BT (ZZE=—% 1 1,274,030,000% (2021: HK$1,274,030,000). Details of the recoverable amount
7o) AT el e R E B R KT A calculation are disclosed in note 20.

20 %% ©
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries
that do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs
to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease
(for example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional
currency). The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is required to
make certain entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s
stand-alone credit rating).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances
are applied to inventories where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than
the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories
requires the use of judgement and estimates on the conditions
and usefulness of the inventories. In cases where the net
realisable value of inventories assessed is less than expected, a
material recognition of allowance for inventories may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which such
recognition takes place.

At 31 December, 2022, the carrying amount of inventories was
HK$1,306,646,000 (2021: HK$1,142,272,000).

HHMBIERERAT —ESZ-FER @
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6. ek EEHR 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
RRERDERDEEETHAERA Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
AMITES (X EZERKE) RS being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
ZER - BERARNEMSIRMEIRE resource allocation and assessment of segment performance,
HIREL o focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or provided.
AEERBE BV BRELENFELHR The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:
R E DT -

(0
() HERDHRERH RAHE
m-HERRRARBRLERE
EBENMIERBRCAHBSE

(i) MREE - RBRERKERER (i)
(i) #RARKE - HEMAEE LA (iii)

A A TR AR 7

(iv) REFRERRYE - BAMKRE (iv)
BIEBRRE - #Z&R BRALRE
#

(v) IR — RRARINRIEHE (v)

TR -

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products -
sale of natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied
petroleum gas for residential, commercial and industrial
use;

Gas connection — construction of gas pipeline networks
under gas connection contracts;

Comprehensive services — sales of gas appliances, related
products and extended services;

Design and construction services — design, construction,
consultancy and management for gas connection projects;

Gas stations — sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.

REBAEEZ 2R HER - RS No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
PrggntE - reportable segments of the Group.

DEEEES D BT B AR Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
A ETBREMERA - FEKA - each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
HeWA - MBRA - REWERN income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,
E hRTERKAREZEH - E central administrative costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
BERTARANTESHIERES measure reported to the executive directors of the Company for
BLReTE D ERIBH AR o the purpose of revenue allocation and assessment of segment

performance.

BT _FRBVHMKEE E /D From 2022, there is a new operating segment namely
LRERY  EFeREAiimnasSa Comprehensive services which includes the prior segment of
HED B REINEFRRS - ¥ sale of gas appliances and additional extended services. This
HREBBEEARSMHEBRRE new segment reporting is used by management to analyse its
AR T —F 7 HEEIRDILER business performance, and corresponding figures for 2021 have
BEEST o been restated on the same basis.

(H® CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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WEkoEER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
Nl DEES PBEEERSD The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
HEBEMNERDNT : assets and segment liabilities is as follows:
BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HL#F For the year ended 31 December, 2022
E
TR RFEE Segment revenue and results
HERDHRE
REREBER itE e GARE  REREREH iy At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total

TEn TR TER TR TR TR
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HKS'000

h# Revenue
5hE External sales 75,137,134 12,207,857 3,185,334 471,289 3,336,715 94,338,329
E Results
GEES Segment results 5,550,569 4,284,201 1,153,791 63,538 323,267 11,375,366
e Share of results of joint ventures 83,385
BiEBEAAEE Share of results of associates 426,149
§HEAA (MEREFSRI)  Finance costs (other than interest

on lease liabilities) (531,349)
LN Unallocated income 641,856
FOERZ Unallocated expenses (3,379,851)
BEALaT Profit before taxation 8,615,556

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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6.

WKk o EEFR (F)

BE-E-__F+-A=1+—HL#HF

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December, 2022 (Continued)

E(#)
PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERAHRE
REREBER gy GREE RAREREE ity &it
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
T ThT TER Tin Thn T
HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
HREE Segment assets 60,794,075 5,615,327 671,882 143,905 1,720,840 68,946,029
REERANER Interests in joint ventures 17,073,491
REERTRER Interests in associates 7,490,673
EERELE Deferred tax assets 508,859
AARAREE (W) Unallocated corporate assets (Note ) 18,032,608
112,051,660
L LIABILITIES
HEAR Segment liabilities 7,355,719 12,188,571 637,558 2,008,568 94,927 22,285,343
EMfE Taxation payable 879,508
BREREAR Deferred tax liabilities 1,565,621
AARATAE (Hb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (Note b) 34,780,722
59,511,194

JEED CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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=R EER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
BE-ZE-_—_H+-HA=+—HL#F For the year ended 31 December, 2022 (Continued)
E (&)
HE# Other information
FrESHEEMESBEAEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERAHRE
RAREBER ReEER GRRE RARERER gk AR At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products  connection services services stations  Unallocated Total

TR TERL TR TR TR TR TR
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000

REFTEEE Additions to non-current assets 6,905,331 - - 4,467 20,936 405 6,931,139
TERES Depreciation and amortisation 3,282,168 - - 2,108 75,334 - 3,359,610

FEUEFEFHES  Impairment loss/(reversal of impairment loss)

i8/(AEFEAR  ontrade receivables, net

838 @i (8,19) (162) 2,004 218 - (8,262)
EEIGUAESIEST Impairment loss on other receivables, net

B - - - - - 10,429 10,429
ARAEHEFBEE Reversal of impaiment loss on contract

ek assets, net - 636 - - - - 636
ERIZHBEEEFE Impaiment loss on construction in progress,

net 946 - - - - - 946

HENE - FERRE Loss on disposal of property, plant and

il equipment 23,810 - - - - - 23,810
IRIFFREEERE  Gain on termination of right-of-use assets (9,473) (9,473)

spnaErerRLs —2-—5% EED
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BE-—TS-—_—F+=-A=t+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

6. WERDEEHR (&)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
BE-_Z_—F+-A=+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2021
D EEW R FEE Segment revenue and results
HERHERE
R EBES IEEs GeRE R REREE g At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas  Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
Tt T Fin TR TR TR
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E5) (&30)
(Restated) (Restated)
Yz Revenue
S External sales 61,324,854 11,976,401 2,235,045 606,074 3,499,656 79,642,030
£5 Results
NEEE Segment results 6,454,151 5,078,986 719,252 84,437 581,352 12,918,178
BiERERARE Share of results of joint ventures 702,351
BiEBEAAEE Share of results of associates 388,572
SEAA (REEEFEBI)  Finance costs (other than interest on lease
labilties) (367,966)
LN Unallocated income 820,649
AORHE Unallocated expenses (3,278,067)
3Tyl Profit before taxation 11,183,717
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December, 2021 (Continued)

E(#)
DEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERFHRE
M#REEER IS GaRB R RERRE =R A
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products connection services services stations Total
Tt Tk L ThL ThL TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
(E5) (&5) (&) (E51)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
EE ASSETS
NREE Segment assets 56,314,132 5,845,281 306,115 157,170 2084979 64,907,677
RASLAMES Interests in joint ventures 12991745
REEARRER Interests in associates 7,692,448
BEREBAE Deferred tax assets 463,247
FARDFEE (Hita) Unallocated corporate assets (Note ) 20,081,191
106,136,308
Bf LIABILITIES
HERE Segment liabilities 5,868,656 17,146,874 298,160 1,902,116 118,140 25,333,946
EfHE Taxation payable 969,296
EEREEE Deferred tax liabilities 1,317,209
RARARAE (Hito) Unallocated corporate liabiliies (Note b) 24,478,195
52,098,646
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BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

6. WakosEEH (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
BE-ZE-_—H+-HA=+—HL#F For the year ended 31 December, 2021 (Continued)
E(#)
HEEx Other information
FrESHEEMESBEAEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERAHRE
I REEER EEY ekl R RERRE k=S AAE Ehl
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Design and
and related Gas Comprehensive  construction Gas
products  connection services services stations  Unallocated Total

TEL TER TEn TEL TER TEn TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(&5) (&5)
(Restated) (Restated)
FEFRDEE Additions to non-current assets 6,206,151 - - 9,237 94,755 2008 6312371
fEREH Depreciation and amortisation 2,558,543 - - 519 109,760 - 266882
ERESES (FES  (Reversal of impairment loss)impairment
1B%E)/FESE  loss on trade receivables, net
e 13,850 221 17 (1,537) (48) - 12,663
AMERZHEREF Impaiment loss on other recelvables, net
. . _ . . : (790) (790)
AREEFESEFE Impaiment loss on contract asses, net - (552) - - - - (552)
ERIRHEEESE impaiment loss on construction in
progress, net 2,730 - - - - - 2,730
HENZE  BERRE Loss on disposal of property, plant and
B equipment 27,952 - - - - - 27,952
BIEREEERE  Gain on termination of right-of-use assets 2) - - - - - 2

B EE - Notes:

a. APBAREERKENBARME a. Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on
EREE - REME - BEEATE acquisition of subsidiaries, investment properties, equity investments
FIAHMEEIEAORAIRE - it designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, other
YR - BEERRITERLZREGIR receivables, pledged bank deposits and restricted cash, other
% B FERARRITESRLES - deposits and bank balances and cash.

b. FRHOMRABEHEEMERNK - RIT b.  Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, bank
REMEBARBERE - RITRE and other borrowings and senior notes. Bank and other borrowings
hiEERELEZEHTEENRES and senior notes are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities
FER  MOBERRIEARIEE - because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the

Group.

JI7®» CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

6. WERSEESN (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
HEE R Geographical information
BRAKBERDEE (TRESR Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding
TAMEEHEBEEE) WERBEE financial instruments and deferred tax assets) is presented
ERTEHmE7 based on the locations of the assets:
—E-= —E -
2022 2021
FHERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
s PRC 81,236,351 74,939,169
BB Hong Kong 7,598 3,615
81,243,949 74,942,784
REZMERN - AEBEHRAEREF The Group’s revenue was derived in the PRC during both years.
o
—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(&%)
WA TR R Timing of revenue recognition (Restated)
REFEREEER Goods transferred at a point in time 81,659,183 67,059,555
& B S 82 2 AR 75 Services transferred over time 12,679,146 12,582,475
RERFARMNKALLE Total revenue from contracts with customers 94,338,329 79,642,030
EETEEFNER Information about major customers
REZMER WEREE —HIBRE No single external customer contributed revenue from
TEHWF A EBUZ10% 3k A transactions amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the
o Group during both years.

#EEReERERAE —2-—5% EIED
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BE-B--_F+=ZA=+t—HLFE

6 u&ﬁ&/\*ﬁﬁﬂ(lnﬂ)

REEFERBBA
(i)  DIFURAEH

TR A TS R RER A UA
&8 EPE Téﬁ#&iﬂﬁfm&L
EHRETROBEERD

& :

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(i)  Disaggregated revenue information

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:

—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FTRERHUM A (5T AR #HE Revenue recognised that was included in
HUMERAaRE) contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:
MRER &t RESR Gas connection/design and construction
PR 75 services 8,114,769 7,415,012
(i) BHEL (ii)  Performance obligations

AREAEEESE A0ER R
mF :

HER 7 IHREERH R AGRE dn

BHEERZNRRILERTT
NFBERZHE30HREH -

MR

B X B EBEE RS R T &
BRET NBERTRZER

EPERRIY  EHEPBE
JALRRIN X

AREIRTE
BHEENRZ MRS E KB
Fu”u’ R mRBsLERE

c MRBER AR A K
ﬁﬁ-ﬁﬁ‘ fh {8 N SERCE R RS & &
PREEZREH -

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Gas connection

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Comprehensive services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
appliances and related products and as extended services
are rendered. The payment is generally due upon delivery
of the gas appliances and related products and upon
completion of extended services and customer acceptance.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

6. WERSEESN (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

REEFERMBA (&) Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) EBHEF (&) (i) Performance obligations (Continued)
BRET RIER IR Design and construction services

& %9 B (T B8 AR 75 By HiR {1 10 220 8
BT NHBEREREERE
FEXZREY  EHEFPABTEA
BRI o

bEp

BHRERZ RS ERETT
BERATR -

BRTEHN(RKBITRHD K
BIT)R_ZT=Z_F+=
AZ+-—BHX5ER®RE
14,420,264,6347%8 7T (—Z T = —
fF 1 18,446,123,594870) » £
MRESEENBTROSEEE
FTSTE— FNER KRBT -

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
upon completion of installation and customer acceptance,
except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required.

Gas stations

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
gas and payment is generally in advance.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at
31 December, 2022 were HK$14,420,264,634(2021:
HK$18,446,123,594). The remaining performance
obligations related to gas connection are expected to be
recognised and satisfied within one year.

sEnarREeRAn —2-—s=% @R
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

7. HiplgA 7. OTHER INCOME
—=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
(=31))
(Restated)
LRE B IRARTS Integrated energy services 122,179 114,179
BS#ee Government grants 128,715 72,800
RITFFRF B U A Interest income from bank deposits 59,757 26,669
E TR B WA (HsEa) Interest income from other deposits (Note a) 67,824 212,270
REAETHEAFEFAEM  Dividend income from equity investments

2HEBEIBRARENRRE  designated at fair value through other

A comprehensive income 1,748 2,647
RAFERREZRMBE AT  Interest income from deposits placed with a

FRF ERA fellow subsidiary 18,385 21,351
REMRBZREMBARIREEZ Interest income from loans to fellow

" F) B U A subsidiaries 47,493 63,572
REEERQRHFEWA Interest income from joint ventures (Note b)

(Mt5Tb) 47,411 1,518
G BN B R B A Interest income from associates 1,920 3,941
RELEAHNAS KA Rental income from operating leases 41,859 41,910
RELEESE R EMkS Gain on deemed disposal of joint ventures 6,755 95,393
REHEHE AR Gain on deemed disposal of associates - 34,356
HE M B QA8 W Gain on disposal of a subsidiary - 25,074
HEDE  BENMZREWRSE  Gain on disposal of property, plant and

equipment 43,603 14,600
H Others 182,922 163,169
770,571 893,449

BsE - Notes:
a. R-BE-_—F+-A=+—H *8 a. At 31 December, 2022, interest income from other deposits

HA e F A BIER B iR
B Y SR 1T 3 B LA A R B SHE RO R A
TRk B SRTT B A B a0 A S A o the PRC.

>l

8%
AERARMERNFSWA - F1E

b. XRAGERRMFHBRARIER—HE b.
VN
R HIFE22 o

(I3 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022

consisted of interest income from principal protected deposits and
bank financing products denominated in RMB issued by banks in

Interest income from joint ventures included interest income from
loans to a joint venture, details of which are set out in note 22.
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BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

8. BB 8. FINANCE COSTS
—Eg2-= —E -
2022 2021
FER FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
T EERFE Interest on:

BITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 446,935 75,497
BERE Senior notes 63,659 263,603
HEBBENFE Interest on lease liabilities 25,669 14,415
ENE&ERRFRIE Amounts due to joint ventures 1,179 1,609

FEAS R R IR A R FE Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 18,342 22,940
FERTR RO B A RIFIE Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 711 0
HibREABE Other long-term liabilities 523 4,317
557,018 382,381

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

9. BRBIADEF 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E=-= T —F
2022 2021
B3 FBT FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
MR ATE A B 0Bk Profit before taxation has been arrived
(5t A) = at after charging/(crediting):
B IR Staff costs
=Yl Directors’ emoluments 11 11,906 17,659
EMBET Other staff
— Ho MATF — Salaries and bonus 3,765,846 3,721,131
— HiEH — Other benefits 1,078,079 1,007,107
— R IRAEFIET B R — Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 946,058 976,731
B IR A#B%E Total staff costs 5,801,889 5,722,628
ZEET N & Auditor’s remuneration 16,248 14,579
W - BENEEBITE N  Depreciation and impairment of
VERIE] property, plant and equipment 14 2,970,836 2,392,713
WEMETE Depreciation of investment properties 15 5,018 4,697
FRAREERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 269,777 194,784
EEES (B 5FATTE Amortisation of operating rights
) (included in administrative
expenses) 21 113,979 76,628
TR AREERMEFHE  Impairment of financial and contract
assets, net
— BB SRR ORE - (Reversal of impairment)/
Bm),REFE Impairment of trade receivables,
net 24 (8,262) 12,663
— HibEWGRIERE, - Impairment/(Reversal of
CRIERD) F5E impairment) of other receivables,
net 24 10,429 (790)
—AREERE (R — Impairment/(Reversal of
BE#E) F5E impairment) of contract assets, net 25 636 (552)
EEIRRE Impairment of construction in progress 14 946 2,730
HEME  WE&ZEE Loss on disposal of property, plant and
| equipment 23,810 27,952
RIEFREEE Gain on termination of right-of-use
assets (9,473) (2)
KT ATHEEETEMHA  Lease payments not included in the
FOKNE=N measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 84,420 104,330

[ITP CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

10. TAXATION
—Eg-— —E-—4F
2022 2021
FER FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
RIEX HBE - The tax charge comprises:
BVERTIE Current taxation
FEMEMBRNLERBT®  PRC Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax
Bl EE 9k R ER for distributable profits and intergroup
NEAKTEIF restructuring of investments in the PRC 2,082,352 2,962,557
BAFERETR Under provision in prior years 34,911 41,523
2,117,263 3,004,080
EREFIE (MH3E34) Deferred taxation (Note 34) 189,774 (260,195)
2,307,037 2,743,885

FANTBRNEHDBEREEEN
AEHERTE MR E16.5% (—F =
—F 1 16.5%) AR E - ARFRE
REBEEONBRARREFEA
WEERDBGERN - Bt - WENERE
MEIWMRAHRB RN STEE -

BEBEREARIMBELERETE
(TREMERE]) REERSTE
TG - hEEERARNTER
25%  WETEEERZEREESR
BRI R

REMRI ARG SE RS T8
WA (MR T ——FF15%) « s
BHEERAIREESEDRERZ
TTN\F— A — B AT EREE S R A
B BMTEMS - MR & B &BIERA
B 9 R A IR BRI ZB AR SR T A
EESGERE2TIEAREFME AR
B 911515 5% 31 10% M Bl R 4k &
EMBH (ATFREEMR) -

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. The Company and its subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong did not have assessable profits,
accordingly no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates or tax exemptions and reliefs.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and the
State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only
the profits earned by foreign-investment enterprises prior to 1
January, 2008, when distributed to foreign investors, can be
grandfathered and exempted from withholding tax. Whereas,
dividend distributed out of the profits generated thereafter,
shall be subject to the Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and
withheld by the PRC entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the
New Law and Article 91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.

gEnaeReRAs —2-—s=5 @5
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BE-B--_F+=ZA=+t—HLFE

10. Bi1E (&)

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)

FARBETHEAGGERREMEE The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

WasE ERBATRAIMSEMT

taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

—Eg-= —ET -
2022 2021
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
35 A A Profit before taxation 8,615,556 11,183,717
WEB TSI %25% (—ZZ = Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
—F 1 25%) AT HAIBIA (2021:25%) 2,153,889 2,795,929
MG AR TR F Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
SR purposes 238,265 206,562
TSR EARRIARNT Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
A purposes (32,616) (18,862)
JEMRA B ARIEBNTISTE Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (20,846) (175,588)
JEIEEE S AR EENHBEFZE Tax effect of share of results of associates (106,537) (97,143)
FERHIBEEEBNRETE  Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 161,990 21,505
B BT RFEROFIEREIE Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised (18,134) (12,487)
REBRMEFENMEN Income tax at concessionary rates (163,828) (116,454)

BRATERER IR &

Withholding tax for distributable profits and

SEANEHEMTEMNR intergroup restructuring of investments in
the PRC 72,575 110,624
BEFEREBETIE Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years
(FBRERR) 34,911 41,523
Hit Others (12,632) (11,724)
FRHELH Tax charge for the year 2,307,037 2,743,885

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

M. EERTHEAZNESRAR 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

BEeFES EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES
B Directors
ERgENESOHSOT ¢ The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:
CECCE -k
2022 2001
B¢k WUAE BAEA BER o #AE RiEA
fe  EtER W REER ait e AR M HEER Eh
Performance  Retirement Performance  Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
and other  incentive  schemes and other incentive schemes
e Name of directors Fees benefits ~ payments contributions Total Fees benefits ~ payments ~ contributions Total

Tin Tin Thn Tin Tin ThR TR Tkt TEL  TEn
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKSO0OO  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO000  HK$000

HrEz Executive directors

BT (fE(a)  Yang Ping (Note(a)) - 1513 3,087 164 4,964 - 1,180 3291 102 4573
SEIE([H(2))  Shi Baofeng (Note (a)) - - - - - - 1379 4,587 48 6009
Bt Ge Bin - 1491 3927 154 5,572 - 1612 4218 4 58

FUTES Non-executive directors
TER () Wang Chuandong (Note (¢)) - - - - - . , B} B B
RE(KED)  He Youdong (Note(o)s(e))

Rle
BJE ([ () Re)) Liu Jian (Note(c)(e)) - 170 - - 170 - - - - -
BB () LiuXiaoyong (Note(c)s(e))

R(e)) - - - - - - - - - ,
I5% (M) Wang Gaogiang

Re) (Note(c)8(e)) - - - - - - - - - ,
RE(MiiF(0)  Chen Ying (Note(d)a(e))

R(e)) - - - - - - - - - ,
TZ (M) Wang Yan (Note(d)(e))

Rfe)) - - - - - - - - - -
BER(HE(A)  Wan Suet Fei (Note (d)8(e))

)
Bis(d)  Jing Shiging (Note (d)(e))

BUAHTEZ  Independent non-executive

directors
ERh Wong Tak Sing 300 - - - 300 30 , B, . 0
#i8g Yo Hon To, David 0 - - - 0 0 - - W
B3l Yang Yuchuan 300 - - - 300 300 - - - 300
ik Hu Xiaoyong 300 - - - 300 30 R , . 0

1,200 3,174 7214 318 11,906 1,200 41 12,09 192 17659

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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BE-ZE--F+-A=+—HLFE

M. EERTREATMERESR

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

REHES (&)

BE(H)

B EE

(a)

(c)

(e)

SEREER-_T-_—FALA=1+H
BERTES  MBFRER_ZTZ
—F+-_A-+=AEZTAELQT
WITES BERLEEREESE
o

ARREERZTE_ZFAA=ZFTN
BEZIAARRRFNTERERIEE

ZREKE -

BREE - BEBEERTRBEE
R-E-—FAA+THARERERFE
WITESE -

[RIERAE - TELA  BERZLIRN
—E - -FNANATRABTIENTE
£ MEttELER-_T-_—FAHA
—+— BRI ERITES -

FHTEEN T FR T —
FOBEemEE (£8) BB QR
PRI D EHE o

N EFBAITEENME D E2HY
BEHARAARRAKEEEEHREM
BBRTS A EPREIFMTTE S B
FHTEENMES DT EHEREE
RARBEZRHEAR -

TRASSENESHERNZMESF
EREEMAME -

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

Directors (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Mr. Shi Baofeng has resigned as an executive director on 30
September, 2021 and Mr. Yang Ping has been appointed as an
executive director, Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company on 23 December,
2021.

(b) Mr. He Youdong has been appointed as a Non-executive director
and a member of the Investment Committee of the Company on 28
September, 2022.

(c)  Mr. Liu Jian, Mr. Liu Xiaoyong and Mr. Wang Gaogiang were
appointed as Non-executive directors on 15 September, 2021.

(d)  Mr. Chen Ying, Mr. Wang Yan, Ms. Wan Suet Fei have resigned as a
Non-executive director on 15 September, 2021 and Mr. Jing Shiging
has resigned as a Non-executive director on 21 May, 2021.

(e) The emoluments of the Non-executive directors for 2022 and
2021 were borne or partially borne by China resources (Holdings)
Company Limited.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of
the Non-executive directors and independent Non-executive
directors shown above were paid for their services as directors
of the Company.

Neither the Chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments in both years.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

N EERTHERHMERA A 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EEHES (&) EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)
=31 Employees

rEBRETSHALTEERS (= The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two (2021:
To—F:ZH)HTEE - BEHD three) executive directors, details of whose emoluments are set
MEFBEHNRE - EBR=%F (=% out above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2021: two)
——F WEB)BEaHES (BE1F highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief

REEESSTHAH) OMemT executive of the Group are as follows:
—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
e kEMmET Salaries and other benefits 3,705 2,774
WINITHE S Performance related incentive payments 10,606 7,290
RINEFIFEIHER Retirement benefit scheme contributions 497 209
14,808 10,273
FiEERNMEN A TER : The emoluments of the above employees are within the following

bands:

g —E-—F
2022 2021
EEAH EEAH
Number of Number of
employees employees
4,000,001 7T 24,500,000/ 7C HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 1 -
4,500,001 0 25,000,000/87C HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 1 1
5,000,001 025,500,000 7C HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 - 1
5,500,001 70 26,000,000 7T HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 1 -
3 2

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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BFE-_E-_—F+-B=+—HLEE For th

e year ended 31 December, 2022

12. RE 12. DIVIDENDS
—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FANERADIRBRE Dividends recognised as distribution during

ZEZFHERE -
FRASEI (2T —%F
T —FHBRE -
TRE158)

TR FRERE —
FRU2BI(ZE %
—ETFERPRE -
FRR78E)

the year:
2022 interim dividend —

15 HK cents per share

(2021: 2021 interim dividend —

15 HK cents per share) 340,232 340,232
2021 final dividend —

112 HK cents per share

(2021: 2020 final dividend —

78 HK cents per share) 2,540,401 1,769,208

2,880,633 2,109,440

EEEEkNBEE-_ZE-_—F+—-A4
=t+—HIEFENRARSTRE
(ZF=—4F  112i81l) - wEEE
2,041,394,0008 L (ZE = —F :
2,540,401,00087T) °

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 90
HK cents (2021: 112 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31
December, 2022 in an aggregate amount of HK$2,041,394,000
(2021: HK$2,540,401,000).

Annual Report 2022
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BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

13. BREF 13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

BRERBRIIZATEERE : The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the
following data:

—Eg-— T4
2022 2021
FER T
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BR Earnings:
AUETEEREARZFIHEF Earnings for the purpose of basic earnings
(B REHEB ARBGE per share (profit for the year attributable to
) owners of the parent) 4,733,455 6,395,368
—E-CH —E-—F
2022 2021
BROHAE : Number of shares:
UGB TREAZF|M I Weighted average number of shares in issue
FHEEITROHEE R A  less shares held for incentive award scheme
BEF B A ARG for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,268,215,487  2,268,215,487
HAAMEEETEDBRITHELL R No diluted earnings per share is presented as there were no
A% - S E 25| FREERT] - potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

14. Y% - BERRE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

8% KR HENRE  MREE  BAREE  RENERE RE REIE &t
Plant,
machinery Gas Furniture Leasehold Motor  Construction
Buildings  and equipment pipelines  and fixtures  improvements vehicles in progress Total
TEn TEn TEn TR TEn Tén TR TEn
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
558 THE GROUP
e CosT
RZFZ-5-A-B At1 January, 2021 5744213 4462234 36734363 1017404 498681 662059 330,284 51469238
RE Additions 30838 339,026 7371 139,783 32,067 729% 4860799 5482820
#halt Business combinations 518,262 191324 1370981 2198 2669 12923 190668 228902
& Disposals (39,246) (125,068) (28,004) (36,600 (4.442) (98,897) (12679) (344,085)
tE-FKERT Disposal of a subsidiary (4,609) (33.876) (137797) (1578) - (2,938) - (180,798)
Eipd Reclassffication ae7 %893 3960305 3825 8967 - (4d60747) -
35 Exchenge adjustments 191,261 162862 1125533 31,601 10,228 2472 19010 1,664,967
e R s At 31 December, 2021 6912476 50235 40260 1157624 548,170 670585 4047335 60381217
HE Additions 45,99 378,029 13883 117,408 3,31 87888 5570509 647,95
#hatt Business combinations 521,466 78,141 970,204 39,065 28,92 12645 195740 1846213
il Disposals (79,017) (185,502) (274,585) (26,39) (3.889) (63,083) (17.716) (652,186)
BEfRELRE Transfer to igh-of-use assets - - - - - (24,20 (24.202)
BRENEEL Transfer fiom investment
properties 9478 - - - - - - 9478
Erip Reclassffication 591,335 121386 4428874 - 0117 - (5166372 -
35 Exchange adjustments (645,787 (418544)  (3501,241) (105,399) (33,809) (73.119) (461690)  (5,239,589)
RZFZZEFZA=T-R At 31 December, 2022 7,355,920 500105 43657757 1,180,298 504526 634886 4143604 6256889
fERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZEZ-5-5-H At1 January, 2021 1,062,439 1775637 6515702 475,966 31791 365,449 2484 10536468
EREE Provided for the year 277,95 509729 1,385,306 108,552 30970 1471 2730 239713
HERHR Eiminated on disposals (20,744) (108,179) (15,747) 28299) (3283) (94,302) - (T
HE-HHEAT Disposal of a subsidiary (609) (24,355) (33,626) (1,284) - (2.2%9) - (62,113)
Eifig Exchange adustments 46,489 97870 216,653 18,011 6,031 17,184 m 432415
RZBZ-F1ZA=1-A At 31 December, 2021 1,363,530 2265702 8,098,268 572,962 31,509 33,563 %391 130319%
ERRE Provided for the year 506,668 305606 1816922 134910 30441 8,343 96 297083
HERHR Eliminated on disposals (39.673) (140.229) (101.481) (25,728) (2672) (58,159) - (368,138)
BREnzEL Transfer fiom investment
properties 4933 - - - - - - 4933
Efig Exchange adjustments (160,92) (199,715) (686,009) (61,802) (20,142) (50,549) (854 (1,180023)
RZBZZETZA=1-R At 31 December, 2022 1,664,308 2311368 9,127,720 620,332 369,136 340,198 %483 14459543
KEE CARRYING VALUES
RZBZZETZA=1-R At 31 December, 2022 5,601,614 2690537 34,530,087 559,966 205,390 24688 ANT120 48,100353
RB-E1ZA=1-R At 31 December, 2021 5,558,046 2766693 33,924,374 584,672 186,661 306992 4020944 47349282
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RZZTE-_—F+-A=+—H " &\
SFEE#I3,176,000/8 7T ~ 5,727,000
BT 7,433,000 LA TAE
EEF - WE - a2 R RR
REBWEBUAAEEEMEER
116,539,000/ JL{EH A o

it BEREREER (ERT
2R ON) R ik 5T AT 68 B B AT R B
A RSREEEABERETUFED
T

gF

Buildings

M - Hes KR

Plant, machinery and equipment
MREBE

Gas pipelines
FRREE

Furniture and fixtures
HEMEEE
Leasehold improvements
U

Motor vehicles

REENEFRRFRE L E -

R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z--F+-A=+t—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group’s buildings, plant,

machinery and equipment and gas pipelines with a net carrying
amount of approximately HK$3,176,000, HK$5,727,000 and
HK$7,433,000 were pledged to secure other borrowings of

HK$116,539,000 of the Group.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than

construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated

useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual

values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

25F 405

25 to 40 years
5Z20%F

5to 20 years
20E30F

20 to 30 years
3E12F

31to 12 years
3E5F

3 to 5 years
3'/; E104F
3'/5to 10 years

The Group’s buildings are situated on the land in the PRC.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

15. REYE 15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

(ks FHET

Notes HK$'000
B AR COST
RZZE=-Z—F—H—H At 1 January, 2021 143,083
NE Addition 2,228
& Disposal (643)
AR Exchange adjustments 4,206
RZZE-_—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2021 148,874
NE Addition 405
EBat Business combinations 38 13,144
HWEME - HEREE Transfer to property, plant and equipment 14 (9,478)
bE AR Exchange adjustments (14,833)
WZE-_—_F+-A=+—H At 31 December, 2022 138,112
e DEPRECIATION
RZZE-—F—H—H At 1 January, 2021 53,658
FERE Provided for the year 4,697
& Disposal (320)
R Exchange adjustments 1,577
RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2021 59,612
FEEE Provided for the year 5,018
B - HELRRE Transfer to property, plant and equipment 14 (4,933)
b H AR Exchange adjustments (5,091)
RZEZZF+ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2022 54,606
FREME CARRYING VALUES
RZEZZF+=-ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2022 83,506
RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2021 89,262
AEBFRERUBEESH Y E#EZ All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals are measured
ENRAEREE  WHOBAKREY using the cost model and are classified and accounted for as
AR - MEDNRAGHAEFEHNE investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the
LESE MBI B Y MR A EHE o cost of investment properties using the straight-line method over

the remaining terms of the leases.

R_B-——FER-—F-——F+—-F= At 31 December 2022 and 2021, all of the Group’s investment
+—H8 ANEEWFTEREYESL properties were situated in the PRC.
R o

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

16. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings,

plant, machinery and equipment used in its operations. Lump

sum payments were generally made upfront to acquire the leased

land from the owners with lease periods of 2 to 50 years, and no

ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land

leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between

2 and 25 years, and leases of plant, machinery and equipment

have lease terms between 2 and 24 years.

(a) RZABEE (a) Right-of-use assets

AEEFAEAEEENREE The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and

KEBHT the movements during the year are as follows:

BE - BER
HELH - RE CH)

Plant,

machinery

Leasehold and
land Buildings equipment Total
i3 TEL FET TET T
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZZ—F—f—H As at 1 January 2021 2,684,106 124,007 8,123 2,816,236
NE Additions 234,000 233,209 26,104 493,313
XBak Business combinations 86,091 - - 86,091
HE Disposals (26,732) - - (26,732)
TER Depreciation charge (99,546) (87,503) (7,735) (194,784)
ESaEEE Exchange adjustments 75,633 3,646 239 79,518
RZZE-—%+-A=+—H Asat 31 December 2021 2,953,552 273,359 26,731 3,253,642
= Additions 110,350 148,026 43,265 301,641
E et Business combinations 38 201,304 201,304
HE Disposals (2,886) (2,886)
ERS Depreciation charge (138,153) (119,918) (11,706) (269,777)
i 5 R Exchange adjustments (269,330) (25,931) (1,011) (296,272)
RZZZZ&F+-A=+—H Asat 31 December 2022 2,854,837 275,536 57,279 3,187,652

R —_F+=-A=+—81"
BREFFE4)3,855,0008 T H
FEAREECHERUALE
B EMIEE 116,539,000 T E
A o

At 31 December 2022, certain of the right-of-use assets with

a net carrying amount of approximately HK$3,855,000 were
pledged to secure other borrowings of HK$116,539,000 of

the Group.

EWRREREMAT —B-—FER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZE--F+-A=+—HLFE

16. HE (&)

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

REBEREBA (F) The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) HEEE (b) Lease liabilities
—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
FTERT FTHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
R—A—HAKKREE Carrying amount at 1 January 389,709 318,476
Eaiih= New leases 202,199 213,911
Accretion of interest recognised during
FREHERF SILE the year 25,669 14,415
IE R Exchange adjustments (35,791) 9,363
5k Payments (174,391) (166,456)
R+=ZB=1+—BmiEmEE (M) Carrying amount at 31 December (Note) 407,395 389,709
DA - Analysed into:
MENE S Current portion 102,566 122,471
ERBEBH Non-current portion 304,829 267,238

P37k 7 & & 586,360,000/ T (=
T ——4 :11,235,000/87T)
H—-ERRWNEAR G -

(c) FfEzs R HYEE GBI B 2
o

Note: Lease liability of HK$86,360,000 (2021: HK$11,235,000) is
related to a fellow subsidiary.

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
Fix FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HEBERL Interest on lease liabilities 25,669 14,415
EREEERERX Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets 269,777 194,784
HIZHAEMEEEEEMESR Expense relating to short-term leases
MBI (G ATTEF &8  and leases of low-value assets
ERDHEAT) (included in administrative expenses
and selling and distribution expenses) 84,420 104,330
B ER AR Total amount recognised in profit or loss 379,866 313,529

JEID CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessor

At 31 December 2022, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

—E-— —E-—4F

2022 2021

FBT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 7,922 9,090
F_EEERT (RREREMT) In the second to fifth years inclusive 8,990 15,618
RFLAE After five years 6,369 1,041
23,281 25,749

17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

—E-= —E -

2022 2021

FET FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

E(EFEE Share of net assets 15,206,077 11,617,881
W ELEN RS Goodwill on acquisition 1,867,414 1,373,864
17,073,491 12,991,745

RBERAR - FAEBENTEALE QT
FBEMIFE49 -

Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures at the end of the
reporting period are set out in note 49.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-—S-_—F+=-A=t+—HLEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

17. REE AR ER () 17.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
(CONTINUED)
EETMEUEBEANSL AT Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
HEp individually material:
—=E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FER FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
NEEERGF X245 The Group's share of profit and total
comprehensive income 183,385 146,976
PR B A 4258 Aggregate gas connection income 1,968,438 1,956,483
AEBRZER L AR MEZEEE Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
[EREREL interests in these joint ventures 2,559,904 2,565,537
18. REEE N ARV 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
FHERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
JEEFEE Share of net assets 5,433,863 5,435,819
W EE R Goodwill on acquisition 2,056,810 2,256,629
7,490,673 7,692,448
REEHR  REEBHNEIEBL AT Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the
FHIBH N IEES0 reporting period are set out in note 50.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

18. REF&E N RN HER (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
FTEBRENTNTEERBE : Summarised financial information of material associates:
AEBNEEREATNEEMAEE Summarised financial information in respect of EEMREBR
BRHDBRAF ([BEMRE ) RAER MBERAR (“EEMRK) and KEBRREBRHBRAR (“BER
REBBROBERAR ([REBAR]) & &), the Group’s material associates, is set out below.

FHERREHRINNT -

ZEBERNTNERAERERAEE The associates are accounted for using the equity method in

B gz AL o these consolidated financial statements.
EERK HRERR

—E-F —E-—F —E-CF —E-—F

2022 2021 2022 2021

FTEx FHET FEx FET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000

MBEE Current assets 2,441,204 2,673,225 3,171,655 2,897,596

FRBEE Non-current assets 8,310,584 8,672,084 5,046,504 5,246,717

REAE Current liabilities (3,522,835)  (3,435,374)  (3,015,041)  (2,962,262)

FRBEE Non-current liabilities (1,317,796) (1,815,872) (238,359) (251,882)

R Non-controlling interests 413,059 444,042 258,538 76,654

EERR BERR

—EC-CE T —F —E-C-F& —E-—F

2022 2021 2022 2021

FTET FHET FTERT FTHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000

WA Revenue 10,104,554 9,083,954 5,645,320 5,260,422

FREFRZENZEE  Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 618,999 446,846 610,974 615,603
B S Dividends received 101,977 32,357 96,723 85,548

B CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

18. REF&E N RN HER (&) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
FTEBREQNRANTBERBRE : (&) Summarised financial information of material associates:
(Continued)
LM BERBE RN RS SR E A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
WA R B & A R R M REEH R to the carrying amounts of the interests in the associates
LN recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:
EERR HRERR
—EBC-CF —E-—F —BC-C=F —T-—fF
2022 2021 2022 2021
THET TAT FTHEx FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HKS$’ 000 HK$'000

WA ANELEEDRIFEE  Net assets of the associate

attributable to owners 5,498,098 5,650,021 4,706,220 4,853,515
AEERKEARMNES  Proportion of the Group's
Tz L 0l ownership interests in
associates 39.17% 39.17% 32.40% 32.40%
=S Goodwill 2,055,292 2,231,194 1,518 1,658
PR A FEFHENFE  Effect of fair value adjustments
at acquisition 488,579 562,004 73,667 114,348
REBEREE AR Carrying amount of the Group’s
HERTE(E interests in associates 4,697,476 5,006,311 1,600,000 1,688,545

ETIRERNATE (FHFE)  Fair value of listed investments

(Note) 5,484,703 6,254,370 3,246,712 3,659,922

st - EMRGA R FEE (F-RAF Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
BEHE) IR EERT ST ERE - measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.
FEBRERRNERRFEAKEM The material associates are principally engaged in similar
PEEE) - YAEEHEERAR KR activities to the Group and are strategic to the Group's
{tAHAR BRMEERARETH activities of the sale of natural gas and liquefied petroleum
MREH  BAMRREREB R gas, the construction of gas pipeline networks under gas
o ER - ERREEURRKRAR connection contracts, the design, construction, consultancy and
PRI EREBRE AR BB EE - management for gas connection projects and the sale of gas fuel
HFrEL MBI N E - in natural gas filling stations. Their principal place of business is
the PRC.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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BE-ZE--F+-A=+—HLFE

18. REEE N B RER (1)

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

BEEMSUEBERANEE AGINE Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
ER material:

—E-—HF —E-—F

2022 2021

FERT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

AREEEIEEN M2
Yozt #B 2R

The Group’s share of profit and total
comprehensive income 45,230 132,251

NEBERZEH S QTR Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s

FRE{E#E

interests in these associates 1,193,197 997,592

19. ER R ATESAREM2E  19- EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR

W %t Be AR 4R VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
—E-CHF —E-—F
2022 2021
FERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EERAFEFAEMEZE Equity investments designated at fair value
KN RARE through other comprehensive income
ETRAKRE  RATE Listed equity investments, at fair value 5,870 8,031
FELEMRAKRE - ZATE Unlisted equity investments, at fair value
(F3E) (Note) 282,803 156,763
288,673 164,794
Mgt  AREER T - —FINE—IBE TR Note: The Group acquired an equity investment designated at fair
AFEFAEMMEEREIRARE value through other comprehensive income in 2022 as part of the
TEBUWEE)IESH —E05 - ZER acquisition of P9)I|#EF%. The fair value of such equity investments
BEER-_E-_—_F+=-A=+—H amounted to HK$127,030,000 as at December 31,2022.
M ATF{E /127,030,000 7T
B RARE R B A The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at
FEFARMEERE  BRASKE fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group

REREREBBEILE -

considers these investments to be strategic in nature.

RBE-Z-_—_F+=-A=+—H During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group received
EFE - AEE B RAERE R dividends in the amount of HK$1,748,000 (2021: HK$2,647,000)

B1,748,000 L (ZF = —

2,647,000/ 7T) °

F from the equity investments.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

I
20. & 20. GOODWILL

Bt i FHET

Note HK$'000
BREE CARRYING VALUE
R-T——&—A—H At 1 January, 2021 903,956
e Business combinations 342,004
P X B Exchange adjustments 28,070
RZZEZ—F+-FA=+—H At 31 December, 2021 1,274,030
ES i Business combinations 38 1,462,720
TR Exchange adjustments (196,844)
RZTEZZF+=ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2022 2,539,906

mEBAHIIENEES HEEHE
HREENREB A ReELSE
I ([REeEEFEM]) - BEEREER
AME  EEEREMEBEARREL
BIR B E A BT -

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
cash-generating units (“CGUs”") that are expected to benefit
from that business combination. Management considers that
each subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of

goodwill impairment testing.

spnaErerRAs —2-—5% @D
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

20. HE (&)

RmEMER  HENEEEEEER
WHBIATHIE A RIMELMEE

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of
goodwill mainly represented goodwill arising from the acquisition
of subsidiaries as follows:

—E-CF —E-—4F

2022 2021

Fax FHT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

MNEBRAREREEAR (MzEb)  HIEBERARBREELF(Note b) 698,728 -
AR AR AR (MiEb) BRI R IR 1D A R A Fl(Note b) 427,113 -
ZMEBRRBR AT (Mita) ZNEERRBR AT (Note a) 214,038 233,847
BMNRERBR AT (Miita) B MRE AR AR (Note a) 201,599 -
ZREMRRBR AR (MizEb) ZHE BT AR A F)(Note b) 125,069 136,645
RZEZEBHRIERAE (Hita) REZE BRI BR2AF(Note a) 118,819 129,815
EEMA(L8) AR (Hita) EBMR(LEE)ER AR (Note a) 114,957 125,597
AT EBRRERAE (Kitta) FRERRRAMR AR (Note a) 100,110 109,375
REZEBHRIER AT (:Eb) REZEHRRBR QT (Note b) 73,191 79,965
EEEBREERERAE (MitEe) =[5 B E82R AR A7) (Note ¢) 69,978 76,455
BRIEREBRRARAT (MiTa) R T2 EBRRAR2AF (Note a) 50,170 -
BHR=ZSBAARREREELT (WHita) BSE=ZSAXAKEREMELF(Note a) 46,645 50,962
BEMEERRXARZBRAAT (MiTb) BEMEEREXAZDGRZAT(Note b) 41,975 -
Zi5EBRRBR AR (iEa) ZI5E MR B R 2 F(Note a) 30,469 33,289
CESEERRERAR (Mta) CESEEMRERAF(Note a) 27,626 30,183
B ER R BR AT (FiEa) B0 2B A Rk 17 B BR 2 &l (Note a) 27,333 29,863
NERRERRERAE (MEa) M E BB ZRR AR A F (Note a) 14,818 -
XIERRARER AT (Miska) XILER R AR AR A F (Note a) 22,137 24,186
ARAZEBRRERAHF (Kizka) AFRZE B R B R F (Note a) 20,897 22,831
AIEIEBERARARAR (Mib) AIETE B R A R A R (Note b) 15,168 16,571
BKEERARBR AT (FzEa) ZKERAARERLQE(Note a) 16,660 54,944
BKERRRBRAF (sEa) HKERMRRABR AT (Note a) 10,746 29,322
EAth (FizEa) Others (Note a) 71,660 90,180
2,539,906 1,274,030

a. ZEREELBUMIREESE
& () HE kD HRBERE R AERE
W ()RR R(i)Ea R

b. ZEHRCELEBUMIREEDSE
B () HE RO HERERE B E
@ (INBRER  (hEERE &
(iv) ISR o

c. BReEABUNEHFEER(BEE
1) $HE o

Notes:

a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;

and (iii) comprehensive services.

b. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale

and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;
(iii) comprehensive services; and (iv) gas stations.

c. The CGU is engaged in the sale of integrated energy including

electricity.

(E[D) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

20. HE () 20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

ReEEBMM e SETIRER
BEFETEEE - T EEREER
MEERREFRE  WREREE
HERKANEREHEH - TBE
DEAARREEEERERRSE
EEMFAMRRIRITHSFER
BATAREFTRER R - BRRRER
BERANFE - SERERRANE
PARBEED RIEAT IS RRE
MmEsE

REBERBESREEERESBRK
IF (HERERMRREREBH
—RERMS) RO RIS R
BaneER  RizaRFOMHEE
RES% RIBEHTFENBERE
2% (ZZB - —%F : ERFRE%LF
BREER2%) RIEEFEE R IME
MBRERE - HRARSELEMNEI
EREMANBRERRE.2% (=T
—HF 1 6.4%) - EERE - NIREH
RMBREBOBHEL KRB ERNS
RBEER BEERR  ZFEBE
WEREEAREH T EGRRCE
SEUMNERELARBAZREESL
B MR EEEE

KEHAMEBRNDERAARA
MHBBRERRAAEENEEA
628,712,000 7T + NHiIREFEELEE
ECRZZE_ZF+-A=+—8H"
AEREERBENHDFENGEIER

=
BE e

WHE2BKERRARBERATREK
ERMRRERAFEENHER-Z
——F+=ZRA=+—H/&84,266,000
B DIRGEEEEE  BAAH
AMEERBBENATEFHER=Z
TIFEE WBELENBERC-ZT
T+ RA=+—H#A27,406,000
I ©

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions for the value-in-
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and
direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of
future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for
the next 5 years, which is the general development period
for the sale of liquefied gas and the gas connection business
and extrapolates cash flows for the period beyond the budget
period based on the estimated growth rates of 5% for the first
5 years and 2% for the remaining years (2021: 5% for the first
5 years and 2% for the remaining years). The rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 6.2% (2021:
6.4%). In the opinion of the directors, no material impairment
loss on goodwill on gas operation was identified at the end of
the reporting period. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the
recoverable carrying amount of the CGU.

The determination of goodwill arising from the acquisitions
of #MHAIRAIMBER AT and &INAFAER AT amounting to
HK$628,712,000 is based on a provisional basis, and the fair
value assessment of the identifiable assets and liabilities had
not been finalised as at 31 December, 2022.

As at 31 December, 2021, the determination of goodwill
arising from the acquisition of Z2/)KEEXAZBMR AR and £
KERMRBAR AT amounting to HK$84,266,000 was based
on a provisional basis, as the fair value assessment of the
identifiable assets and liabilities has been finalised in 2022
and the goodwill arising from the acquisitions amounted to
HK$27,406,000 as at 31 December, 2022.

gEnaeReRAs —2-—s=5 EH
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BE-ZE--F+-A=+—HLFE

22.

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

1. &R 21. OPERATING RIGHTS

i FAET

Note HK$'000
RN COST
R-ZZE-—F—H—H At 1 January, 2021 1,971,265
EBEH Business combinations 551,319
& Disposals (12,294)
R Exchange adjustments 25,830
RZEZ—F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2021 2,536,120
NE Addition 86,298
¥BE0 Business combinations 38 712,075
bE N Exchange adjustments (209,695)
RN-E—_—_F+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2022 3,124,798
gy AMORTISATION
RZZE-—F—H—H At 1 January, 2021 494,980
FERE Provided for the year 76,628
& Disposals (2,017)
R Exchange adjustments 8,164
RZBEZ—F+=ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2021 577,755
FERME Provided for the year 113,979
R Exchange adjustments (31,474)
RZEZ_F+ZA=+—H At 31 December, 2022 660,260
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZE-_—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2022 2,464,538
RZE-—F+=-A=+—H At 31 December, 2021 1,958,365

WM EERENEERTINERER
ET A AEH10E0FNHH -

B—-EEEARREER

m—R&ERRRRERRELR
HEFHERKEENEFH20%H)

EFBERFNERFR (ZE=—
) o

&

The operating rights for the city pipeline network are amortised

over the estimated useful lives ranging from 10 to 50 years on a

straight-line basis.

22. LOANS TO A JOINT VENTURE

The loans to a joint venture are unsecured, bearing interest at a
floating loan rate of the 5-year LPR downward 20% (2021: Nil)

per annum.

JEZ® CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

23. 78 23. INVENTORIES
—Eg-— —E-—4F
2022 2021
FHET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
MR Construction materials 565,633 679,203
E Finished goods 741,013 463,069
1,306,646 1,142,272

24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

24 EWE 5 R R HAtb KK

—E-C—HF —E-—F
2022 2021
FHBT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FEUE 5 BRX Trade receivables 10,815,185 8,037,295
VEREN Impairment (315,212) (381,060)
10,499,973 7,656,235
EU A &R RIFRIE (Msta) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 258,330 185,237
JE U B i X R ZRIA (M Eb) Amounts due from associates (Note b) 126,386 142,917
FEUIEERR AR B 3008 (KMisEc)  Amounts due from non-controlling

shareholders (Note c) 180,194 521,670

FE U R KB BB A R FRIE Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
(FizEd) (Note d) 348,944 1,908,802
Tk (fisEe) Deposits (Note e) 475,224 651,437
FERT IR (B EEf) Prepayments (Note f) 4,421,041 4,017,826
E b (MsEg) Other receivables (Note g) 781,818 663,588
RERE (Mitg) Impairment allowance (Note g) (49,429) (42,434)
17,042,481 15,705,278

sEnaEReRAE —2-—5% EEED
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

24 EWEZRIAKREMERR 24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

() (CONTINUED)
B EE Notes:
a.  BEWASEQAHIA16,792,00078 a.  Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$16,792,000

T (ZZT=—% : 18,346,000/ 7T)
BN 124288 (ZF=— 5 :
3.48) R B RAR—EMIK
5 - BB ARIER - 2B RARE
RIFEE -

b. BRBERAAEHOERRE b.
93,648,000 L (=T =—4F :
101,918,000/870) AMEEF - &
4.35F (ZFZ—4F : 4.35[F) MF
MR ERAER—FRNEEIN - 84
BEEE - 2B REANERIEE -

c. EUCFHEBERIKARERER 28 c.
NANBERIEER -

d.  BRARZREMEBEARRENEEE R d.
—E - —F+ A=+ ARERNEX
435FFERER T _FEEN
B FIA1,485,687,000/8 L) + FE
IR R BRI AEIER - 28
NN RIFEE -

e. REFBBEXNTHRAMERNE e.
& HERERWRRS -

f. BNFIEE ZeEHEE RBMA R f.
RAE RAITANRAK o

9.  SEPRERAEETAAGEEK g.
EURSA A RS A E T AR UK
FHERESN - BLERL B VIS HERB AR
155 [\ B X 8 K0 432 om0 L A B R
FHRRERE -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022

(2021: HK$18,346,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at
4.28% (2021: 3.4%) per annum and are repayable within one year,
the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Except for the amounts of loans to associates of HK$93,648,000
(2021: HK$101,918,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at
a rate of 4.35% (2021: 4.35%) per annum and are repayable within
one year, the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Except for the amount of loans to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$1,485,687,000 which were unsecured, bearing interest at a rate
of 4.35% per annum as at 31 December, 2021 and were repaid
in 2022, the remaining amounts due from fellow subsidiaries are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, rental
deposits and deposits of taxes.

Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of gas fuel
and related goods.

Except for the impairment provided for certain other receivables
which indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, no impairment allowance is provided for
other receivables for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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BE-_Z-_—F+-A=+—HLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

24 BEWEZRAKEMEWRRK 24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(%)

AEEGTEEFHEEBE—RA30
REQOK « BN FIABE A E
SRR EEHRERER A H (48

(CONTINUED)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The aging analysis of trade receivables,
net of loss allowance, is presented based on the invoice dates

ERZWARRAEH) NREKEDIT2 at the end of the reporting period, which approximated to the

AT respective revenue recognition dates as follows:
—E-C—HF —E-—F
2022 2021
FTER FET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
0ZE90K 0 to 90 days 9,677,224 6,841,770
91E 180Kk 91 to 180 days 398,498 297,500
181E 365K 181 to 365 days 283,526 368,450
365K Over 365 days 140,725 148,515
10,499,973 7,656,235

FEWE 5 IR B ERB BB EERH

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

R receivables are as follows:
—EC-CF —EC-—F
2022 2021
Bt = FHBT FAET
Note HK$’ 000 HK$'000
REW] At beginning of year 381,060 356,204
CRia#E),~ (Reversal of impairment)/

BIEEE impairment losses 9 (8,262) 12,663
WsHRE Write-off of impairment (23,451) -
R Exchange adjustments (34,135) 12,193
RER At end of year 315,212 381,060

REE B RABEEEEITR
BN UEEMEEEE - #E
EDNERERARUBEEXNTEE
FoaAan (ke - EREH -
BEP BRI MG REREREME
AEERRHEZRESI D) WiaH
FHGE - 2t ERREA R NELS
R BEREMRBEAHAUSNE
BBEEIR - BRI ROoR AR AR I 16
IR EERATEER - BE
ENE ZERFARELE - FAITER
HIETTIREPTARER - BT LAY -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more
than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.

HHMBIERERAT —ESZ-FER m
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BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

24 BEWEZRAKEMEWRRK 24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(&) (CONTINUED)
TREIEABBERTENEAEER Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
JEWE SRR EERBRAELR the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:
R-E-_—_F+=-A=+—H As at 31 December, 2022
0-90 X 91-180kX 181-365kX 365K E st
0-90 91 -180 181 - 365 Over 365
days days days days Total
FEHREEBEEE(%) Expected credit loss
rate (%) - 1.43 2.28 68.27 2.91
wAREE (T#T) Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 9,677,224 404,292 290,143 443,526 10,815,185
FEREEERE Expected credit losses
(F&T) (HK$’000) - 5,794 6,617 302,801 315,212
N-—B-—&E+=-A=+—H As at 31 December, 2021
0-90K 91-180Kk 181-365k 365KM E BET
0-90 91 -180 181 — 365 Over 365
days days days days Total

TERMEEBEE(%) Expected credit loss

rate (%) - 1.49 1.93 71.32 4.74

MREREE (T8T) Gross carrying amount
(HK$'000) 6,841,770 301,992 375,682 517,851 8,037,295

FEEEEERE Expected credit losses
(F#&T) (HK$'000) - 4,492 7,232 369,336 381,060
RETEWESZEL o lkE K » K& In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
BEREEANERERIREERY considers whether there has been an adverse change in the
BFHESEEEEERTHNES - R credit standing of the debtor from the date on which the credit
RAEBRHEEAERE  HZE&HR was initially granted. The concentration of credit risk is limited
BEfEER - AItt - AR EEZRAK as the Group's customer base comprises a large number of
EEGAMBERERIEHN RERE customers. Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe
SN - BmASITIEREERME - that there is no further credit provision required in excess of

the allowance for doubtful debts already provided for in the
consolidated financial statements.

JE3) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

25 SEIIEZABEEE 25 ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS

—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000

ARIIZEMEERS - Assets related to contract works arising from:
MEBEREE gas connection activities 841,022 1,506,306
BOIRFPARMAA Costs to fulfil contracts with customers 2,464,477 2,143,371
3,305,499 3,649,677
B Impairment (20,422) (21,617)
3,285,077 3,628,060

ERIEMHREEVGERRAHEE
B R IR A B R BOE B TR ER
FIUES - b TS R R YRER R B ZB AR T
TRERBIGM - AT ARERBNG
RTREEEERRELRRES - &£
TRERREPZEWE  BRAER
TRRAMEENSEDENSRRE
WE SRR o

REBE-_T-_—_F+=-A=+—H
I E 20,422,000 T (ZE=—
F:21,617,000870) R AER T
BRIEBEAENEREEBHEREB - K
SEREFNZRIERREEBRT)
REF ISR M 24 45 75 -

W+ZR=+—RH aRIEHEHEE
ENETRESREERENT

Assets related to contract works are initially recognised for
revenue earned from the sale of goods and the provision of
related gas connection activities as the receipt of consideration
is conditional on successful completion of construction. Included
in assets related to contract works for construction services
are retention receivables. Upon completion of construction and
acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as assets
related to contract works are reclassified to trade receivables.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, HK$20,422,000
(2021: HK$21,617,000) was recognised as an allowance for
expected credit losses on assets related to contract works.
The Group's trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for assets related
to contract works as at 31 December is as follows:

—E-CH —E-—F

2022 2021

FERT FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year 841,022 1,506,306

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

25 EEIEMEEEE (&) 25 ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS
(CONTINUED)
AREEMNREBEREEZSHI M The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract
e assets are as follows:
—E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
k=3 FHERT FHET
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
REH At beginning of year 21,617 21,536
BUEEE CRfERER)  Impairment losses/(reversal of
impairment) 9 636 (552)
M 4, 3 B Exchange adjustments (1,831) 633
RER At end of year 20,422 21,617
R QH(E AREEEETRES An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
T AGTEBREEEEBE - stE24F using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
EEEHACZEEEBOBERENE The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit
WE SERTEHZEEEBRER 25T losses for the contract assets are based on those for the trade
EMEY  ARAEAREENEKE S receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables
EXRER—ZBPED - AREED are from the same customer bases. The provision rates for
BERTENREABLUBEEXHT contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
REFES AR (BN R - ERiE for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
B s REMERINLTR A REAFESNEH patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
MEERBEANEEEHE) ERE type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
SEFHEEAEEBET c ZXtERM of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
SARRINMELER  EESELRNRE weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
HEAESNAEBBEEE - AR supportable information that is available at the reporting date
RARBEBEIEETEANESIERAEE about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
o economic conditions.
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25 SEIIEABEE (&) 25 ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS

TP AE BB AR R F e A
AREENEERRERM

(CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

—Eg-= —E -

2022 2021

FHET FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

TEAME B BB E(%) Expected credit loss rate (%) 0.62 0.59
wARmEE (TET) Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) 3,305,499 3,649,677
TEEEE A (FET) Expected credit losses (HK$'000) 20,422 21,617

26. DB ITESIRZR4IE 26. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS AND

&

RZEBE_Z_F+_-_A=+—8 " 4R
117 5%896,0008 L (=T = —4F :
1,820,000 L) EEAIEAEN K
ARRAMERMNENE 5 R XM BA
e mrER - DERBRITERD
IARKEGHE - HMI5FHE0.35E
F18E(ZFT=-—% :0.30F=E1.65
E)atB -

R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H0 %R
HlTR € 2,525,103,000/8 T EF A
ERITIRE - (EABEITTZHEIMA
LBEEHRES  ZRXIN T
FEMK - HAIRRALBENFBRIR
HMizE38 o

RESTRICTED CASH

At 31 December, 2022, bank deposits of HK$896,000 (2021:
HK$1,820,000) are pledged as security for trade payables
to suppliers of natural gas and franchise performance to the
government. The pledged bank deposits are denominated in
RMB and carry interest at market rates ranging from 0.35% to
1.8% (2021: 0.30% to 1.65%) per annum.

At 31 December, 2021, restricted cash of HK$2,525,103,000 was
placed at a designated bank account as guarantee deposits
for the proposed take-private of #AIMAS and the transaction
completed in 2022, details of the take-private of ZAIAR are set
out in note 38.

sppnaErerss —2-—5% EEED
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27. RITERRBEE

RITEBEMSFNEREEIE(=F

27. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from 0%

——FBE3E)FE -

to 3% (2021: 0% to 3%) per annum.

28. ENEZRAREMENSR 28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—E-CH —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BB SRR Trade payables 10,277,590 8,452,224
A& ARFE (HiEa) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 121,550 129,972
FEA B 2 B 5k0E (MisEDb) Amounts due to associates (Note b) - 58,650
FEA IEFR A AR B k8 (ffsEc)  Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
(Note c) 447,657 784,293
N IEES NG S Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
(Mf7Ead) (Note d) 2,297,856 313,388
FE — IR PR3 AR 2 B FRIE Amounts due to an intermediate holding
(FisEe) company (Note e) 2,507,449 5,015,768
B Receipts in advance 7,062,810 6,580,486
Hi R R EEA Other payables and accruals 4,331,267 4,849,892
27,046,179 26,184,673

BiE - Notes:

a. BREMAEEQFFIE110,573,0007%
7T (=ZZT=—% : 105,833,000/ T)
BEEWT - B115EE165E (=%
——% :115[E%E1.65F) K ZEF
FEFBRER—FRNEERIN - B8k
BEEE 2B RANERIFEE -

b. BNBEQRFELSEER  RER b.

AR EREFEE - repayable on demand.

c. RMFERBEREAEER 08 .
RERERHEE -

I[P CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

interest-free and repayable on demand.

a. Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$110,573,000
(2021: HK$105,833,000) which are unsecured, bearing interest at
rates ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (2021: from 1.15% to 1.65%)
per annum and are repayable within one year, the balances are

Amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,



28. B E Z RN E MBS
(%)
GEE

d BEN—HREMBQIARE
2,238,960,0008 0 (=T = —4 :
) BEIKE L3 AENFF R
BRER—FREEIN  BHAEK
B BERBREREEE -

e. BN —MBPHEERAARE
2,500,000,000%&c (ZE=—%F :
5,000,000,000/%70) AEE IR KA
R12EANEE - REBRITAZE
PFER(HIBOR)MFEF X055 (=
T - —4 : HIBORMNO.S5E) 5 2. -

BB SRR RS RN RS
BB LHIMT -

R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-Z--F+-A=+t—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

(CONTINUED)

Notes:

d. Except for the amounts due to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$2,238,960,000 (2021: Nil) which are unsecured, bearing
interest at a rate of 3.1% per annum and are repayable within one

year, the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on

demand.

e. Amounts due to an intermediate holding company of
HK$2,500,000,000 (2021: HK$5,000,000,000) are unsecured and
repayable within 12 months, bearing an interest of the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR) plus 0.55% (2021: HIBOR plus

0.55%) per annum.

The aging analysis of trade payables is presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E-—F —E-—F

2022 2021

FHET FiHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

0-90& 0 - 90 days 7,883,213 7,002,328
91-180K 91 — 180 days 750,875 547,169
181-365K 181 — 365 days 697,810 347,285
365K E Over 365 days 945,692 555,442
10,277,590 8,452,224

BENEEHRTREISK -

The credit periods on purchases of goods range from 7 to 180

days.

sEnaERERAE —2-—5% @I
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29. EEAE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

29. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

—Eg-— —E-—4F

2022 2021

FBT FAET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

aRAaE Contract liabilities 10,488,646 15,185,964

R —FR-_TF-_—F+=-A=
+—HHNERABENFBNT :

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December, 2022 and 2021
are as follows:

—=E-= —E -
2022 2021
FERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
B % Pl a5 BRI R Short-term advances received from customers
MREBEE Gas connection activities 10,488,646 15,185,964

AREEREARHEMEEEIEDM
YR B 2 BRTE A X -

30. BB &
RZEZZF+ZA=+—8 ' BT
#WBh4€ 779,534,000 T (=T = —
% : 881,089,000/ L) FEIEF B
NEBERREOEDR  AERWE
ME BMERIEARESKRREE
RIEES -

30.

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
provide gas connection activities.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31 December, 2022, government grants of HK$779,534,000
(2021: HK$881,089,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
the PRC government authorities for the purpose of financing the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and the construction
of gas pipelines.

WI7) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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3. RITRHEMEE 31. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
—Eg-— —E-—4F
2022 2021
FBT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
IRITER — EEE Bank loans — unsecured 17,395,183 816,305
BITER — G (Ffsta)  Bank loans — secured (Note a) 204,689 32,682
EMER — | Other loans — unsecured - 62,378
HE B — AH&IF (FfsEb)  Other loans — secured (Note b) 116,539 -
17,716,411 911,365

REERRITREMMEEZA  The Group’s bank and other borrowings are

AT BRI (EE (Bl sEe) - repayable as follows (Note c):
—FR Within one year 7,695,765 615,659
ZR—FETBAMRFE More than one year, but not exceeding
two years 1,139,631 17,048
ZHRMFRTBBAT More than two years, but not exceeding
five years 8,447,410 32,243
ZRAF More than five years 433,605 246,415
17,716,411 911,365
BORBAER R —F A Less: amount due within one year shown
S|P under current liabilities (7,695,765) (615,659)
ETBBEMRN—FE Amount due after one year shown under
S|P non-current liabilities 10,020,646 295,706

B EE - Notes:

a RZTZ=—F+-A=+—H 'R a. As at 31 December, 2022, the banking facility of HK$16,792,000
1TR8E 16,792,000 L (=T =— (2021: HK$122,309,000) was secured by the proceeds from the
122,309,000 L) HEHER sale of gas fuel and the loan balance was HK$16,792,000 (2021:
BREI TS RIB(EE T - BT HK$18,250,000). None of banking facility was available as at 31
£16,792,0008 L (ZF=—4F : December, 2022 (2021: HK$104,059,000). The remaining secured
18,250,000/ 7C) e R=ZT = —F+ bank loans are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries.

ZA=+—R  BEABHARTAE
ZZT = —4 : 104,059,000/%7T) °
HRTAERBITERBETHEARR
REHER o

b. WZEZZ#+=-RA=+—8 %% b. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’'s other borrowings of
EH M EF116,539,00078 T B AN E HK$116,539,000 were secured by the Group’'s machinery and
B IR A F{E 4920,191,000 7% T K # equipment, fixtures and a land use right of a net carrying amount of
RLERE HER T HFEREER approximately HK$20,191,000.

o

c. RIEFEINBEERIBENEANE c.  The amounts due are based on the repayment schedule set out in

HAHETE © the loan agreements.

EERRERERLE —=-=f5% @)
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31. |RITRHEMEE (&)

AEBMRITREMEENERFF
RN FHF065EE8.36FE (T

—F :061EE7.98E) °

A BHYIRTT R H A B A RN

15

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

31..BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings range from 0.65% to 8.36% (2021: 0.61% to 7.98%)

per annum.

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings

LN are set out below:
BB FR = —E-CF T —F
Effective
interest rates
per annum 2022 2021
FTExT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EEMEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
BEAARERITER Secured RMB bank loans 3.30%-4.75% 150,010 18,250
EEMARBRITER Unsecured RMB bank loans 0.65%-4.20% 8,121,290 89,422
EIRETTIRITER Unsecured HK$ bank loans 1.85% 3,000,000 -
EERETIRITER Unsecured US$ bank loans 1.85% 1,714,973 -
EEEAE((BE)) RITER Unsecured Japanese Yen (“JPY”)
bank loan 0.65% 184,178 221,012
BEAAREHEMER Secured RMB other loans 6.30%-8.36% 113,180 -
EERAREEMER Unsecured RMB other loans 2.95%-4.35% - 62,378
TEEERE Total fixed rate borrowings 13,283,631 391,062
EEEE Floating rate borrowings:
BERARBROTER Secured RMB bank loans at
REEMPBEARBITER margin plus the People’s
ES N Bank of China Base Rate 2.95% 54,679 14,432
BERARBEMER Secured RMB other loans at
REEMPEAREITER margin plus People’s Bank of
kS ) China Base Rate 5.35% 3,359 -
BB TRITER Unsecured HK$ bank loans at
% B ZMHIBORET & margin plus HIBOR 0.61%-3.34% - 500,000
EIARARBIBITER Unsecured RMB bank loans at
REENPEARRITER margin plus the People’s
FZET A Bank of China Base Rate 2.50%-4.51% 4,374,742 5,871
FEEBERE Total floating rate borrowings 4,432,780 520,303
[Ep -t Total borrowings 17,716,411 911,365

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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32. BREE 32. SENIOR NOTES

RZZE—Z—FWARH ARAEE
EEEEI7. SN BEFRITAS
%8/5750,000,0003 7T ([T ]) (48
Z£745,818,890,00087T) WEXRE
BEBEZEE]) - BEZERER
REFA45EE  VWRABEFE
=K WER—_E-_—FmAMA
B BEZBRAEIEN  WIEE
BRENELBEFE - RABRZE
—NFEZREEMmESS3,605,000%
7t (%774 261,830,0005& 70 ) [ iE &
£EE MR E-__FMNANBIK
ZEM{E 716,395,000 F 7T (FHER
5,622,161,000/% 7T ) CIFE (B 5t iR 84
Tt - RNEE-_T-__F+=A=
+T—BIEFE  EBRENBROF EH
¥ 563,659,000 L (=T =——4F :
263,603,000/ 7T) °

On 5 April 2012, the Company issued senior notes with a
principal amount of United States dollars (“US$”) 750,000,000
(equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at an offer price of 97.95%
of the face value of the notes (“Senior Notes”). The Senior
Notes bore coupon interest at 4.5% per annum payable semi-
annually in arrears and were due on 4 April 2022. The Senior
Notes were unsecured and carry interest at an effective
interest rate of 4.8% per annum. The Company repurchased
the Senior Notes at a face value of US$33,605,000 (equivalent
to HK$261,830,000) during the year of 2019 and repurchased
the remaining balance of the Senior Notes at a face value
of US$716,395,000 (equivalent to HK$5,622,161,000) on
4 April 2022. Interest expenses of HK$63,659,000 (2021:
HK$263,603,000) were charged to profit or loss during the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

HHMBIERERAT —ESZ-FER m
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33.

HttRWPER
EtREHAREEOERBNTEE
WS RN SRR R R B
% A ERMT

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

33. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The other long-term liabilities mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of operating rights for the city pipeline network,
defined benefit obligations and payables are as follows:

—Eg-= —ET -
2022 2021
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
—FR Within one year 50,813 35,897
ZR—FETEBBME More than one year, but not exceeding two
years 35,555 20,963
ZHRMEERTHBBRF More than two years, but not exceeding five
years 89,939 62,524
ZHRAEF More than five years 502,406 592,084
678,713 711,468
B OmB ARG R AER  Less: amount due within one year included
B SRR K% E A FET R in trade and other payables shown under
—FREEARFIE current liabilities (50,813) (35,897)
ERBEBERRR—F% Amount due after one year shown as
B EPE) KA non-current liabilities 627,900 675,571

ZEREDRTERESRE - FHH
A FI0E50FHNERFFE2.50
EZ3.95FE(ZE=-—4 :250E%
3.95[E)FE -

RZEZ—F  AEBEBEZIEE
HERATEATE - ZERkEFAF
HEeEcEREBELN T274%
JLE366,887 B TN R (ZE =
—4 241 TLE65,849/87T) °
ZETEEAZM KRB REKRAED
EHEGRELCRER - ATEANEB
IH{E323,463,0008 7T (- T = —
F 1 261,484,000/57C) © JhEAWills
Towers WatsonR —ZE - —F+—"F
=+ BARAEANENEEREME
SEHETT o

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
an effective interest rate of 2.50%-3.95% (2021: 2.50%-3.95%)
per annum for terms ranging from 10 to 50 years.

In 2022, the Group operates several unfunded defined benefit
plans which require payments ranging from HK$274 to
HK$366,887 (2021: HK$241 to HK$65,849) per year to be made
to each qualifying employee in the PRC. The plan is exposed to
interest rate risk and the risk of changes in the life expectancy
for pensioners. The defined benefit obligations with a present
value of HK$323,463,000 (2021: HK$261,484,000) were carried
out on 31 December 2022 by Wills Towers Watson using the
projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

7P CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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REERARRANTIERERRL
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

33.0THER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

(CONTINUED)

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the

e reporting period are as follows:
—EB-— —E-—4F
2022 2021
1E BRREFIRLIR & (%) Discount rate of post-

employment benefits (%) 3.25 3.25

BHRE A ARIR X (%) Discount rate of termination
benefits (%) 2.50 2.50
FLT- R Mortality rate PEASRBETER FEASRBIETER

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance

Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance
Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6

WBRIR K EF R 25EE R - AT
BEMBERFERE  ABE-—T=
—HF+ - A=t—BLFENATR
FEHGRD 10,187,000

7t /10,802,000 7T °

If the discount rate had been 25 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the defined benefit
obligations for the year ended 31 December, 2022 would
decrease/increase by HK$10,187,000/HK$10,802,000.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH



e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

34, EIERLIE
AT AREE T ELRRELEHER

34. DEFERRED TAXATION

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

E/(afE) REEZ recognised and the movements thereon during the year:
EREHELR
MEE RAERFN
ATEAE geR BB HEUENEE a5t
Fair value
adjustments Withholding
arising from tax on Other
acquisition of Operating  undistributed temporary
subsidiaries rights profits differences Total
TR THET TR TR THT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-T-—F At 1 January, 2021
—B—B (411,675) (184,591) (564,145) 310,155 (850,256)
AR Exchange adjustments (12,108) (5,427) (16,585) 9,118 (24,997)
FREE/(LH)  Credit/(charge) for the year
(B&E10) (Note 10) 54,821 17,768 125,150 62,456 260,195
WEE—RMB AR Acquisition of a subsidiary (106,012) (132,892) - - (238,904)
RZEZ—F At 31 December,2021
+-A=+-A8 (474,969) (305,142) (455,580) 381,729 (853,962)
i R Exchange adjustments 40,235 25,849 38,593 (32,337) 72,340
FRER /(ZHE)  Credit/(charge) for the year
(fEE10) (Note 10) 42,906 16,948 73,584 (323,212) (189,774)
E-1nE=ING Acquisition of subsidiaries
(Mizt38) (Note 38) (59,194) (137,358) - 111,186 (85,366)
R-ZZE-_F At 31 December, 2022
+-A=+—-H (451,022) (399,703) (343,403) 137,366 (1,056,762)

WIEP CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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B
34. IELEH IR (&) 34. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)
PLERE MM STAOT ¢ Analysed for reporting purposes as:

—E-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
FERT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BRI EE Deferred tax assets 508,859 463,247
IRIEFIE B & Deferred tax liabilities (1,565,621) (1,317,209)
(1,056,762) (853,962)

RZEZZF+ZA=+—8H " x&
BB ABAHIEREIE1,050,856,000
BEIL(ZT=—4 640,322,000
HIT) AT AR RIEF o AR KRR
BT B ER B
BIERRAELCHBEELEE - BRHESB
869,551,000 L (ZE=—F :
69,551,000/ ) o] R ARAE &5 4D -
BIESEHETERRTTRELE -

RZEZZF+=-A=+—8"
MAREREERIBEBENMNEQA
KORBAEENYRERERBEL
21,742,844,0008 L (=T =—%F :
16,612,367,0008 L) - ARALH
BRI TR EENRRREAEZEE
RO BRI SEE - B E
MZEEERREAE -

\

<

At 31 December, 2022, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$1,050,856,000 (2021: HK$640,322,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2021:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
losses will expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31 December, 2022, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$21,742,844,000 (2021: HK$16,612,367,000). No liability has
been recognised in respect of these differences because the
Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that such differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

HBEMRTIERBERLAE —E-_FF3f m
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35.

36.

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

[N 35. SHARE CAPITAL
BHEE RO EE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FHT
HK$'000
SR MEEO0. 10 TR I D Shares of HK$0.10 each
JEIE ¢ Authorised:
RnZZE=—_—%—H—H" At 1 January 2021,
T —F+ZA=+t—HK 31 December 2021 and
—E-—F+=-A=+—H 31 December 2022 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BETRAR Issued and fully paid:
R-_ZE-_—F—A—HK At 1 January 2021 and
—E-ETFE+_A=+—HEK 31 December 2021 and
—E-_F+-A=+—H 31 December 2022 2,314,012,871 231,401

REMER « AATHEE « BB
RERRAB RS -

RERBEE

R=BEN\F+=F—B  ARARK
WA BE B S B ([ 2/t
21 {EARB LR E KR -
NERAEBIFEELRYE o

RIBEEFE - ARRRERMD A
RRANAREEMEANR ST
BEE  WAERIAR/BERER
g HEEROBBREERERL -
fisd 51 8178 RCHR PO AT EH IR 6 1 A4 48
BB RN RA A B BT
A Z 5% » BIN S B H RS
- REBEZEMAE TR THERED
REIMERDHNRAHE FEBBAR
AINEF EBITRAZ20.5% °

RoF-FE=A+AR  RARAY
SR ENE BT - BRREMAE
BRI E B3 - AR ARIR I 3
W B ER RS RS - BHHHE
P 2 5E A 5 0 BR  4 BR 49 7 2  PT

/8 £h

1B3RI8 ©

36.

There were no changes in the Company’s authorised, issued
and fully paid share capital during both years.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1 December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the selected employees until such shares are vested with the
selected employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the
aggregate number of restricted shares awarded throughout
the duration of the scheme is to be in excess of 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the adoption date of the
scheme. The maximum number of restricted shares which may
be awarded to a selected employee under the Incentive Award
Scheme shall not exceed 0.5% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

On 16 March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will
be awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated
from disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for
making cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

7AllP CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022



36.

37.

REARBETE (&)

RBE-ZT—R"E+-A=+—H1t
FE - ZFEANUTFHEGR23.08%
TLIA T 52,266,000 85  H
EZER MK TS5/ E A52,302,000
BT FTEREE2NWBIEAEE
ETEZREENR 2 EE - HE#
RERGEERMAMEE KX
BRAFERYT FREZ-Z—X
F+_A=Z+—BLEEENREER
F) o B fn B AN B P15 5RTE 2 B0 = 58
44,095,000 Tt AMRE &R « PRE
BT —FRIT_F+ZR=
T—HIEFE  ZREALEMATISH

Bl e

REARREHKRIFTH4L45,797,384
T~ 4 : 45797,384) BRAKD ©

BEREZBHAIAFERREEBRS
PR &I MERR D

RIRBRIGHE

58

K& BRI 2R ERERNRES
BIROI B R ERERE R ((BRER
KRR E]) - ARABIBEER ST
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LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December, 2016, 2,266,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average
price of HK$23.08 per share. The proceeds from disposal of
those shares amounted to HK$52,302,000. The whole amount
of the proceeds was awarded in cash to certain directors and
employees of the Group, with an equivalent expense recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as employee benefits during the year
ended 31 December, 2016. The difference of HK$44,095,000
between the cost of the shares and the proceeds were credited
to retained profits. No disposal of shares by the trustee to the
market was noted during the years ended 31 December, 2021
and 2022.

There are 45,797,384 (2021: 45,797,384) shares held by the
trustee at the end of the reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the "ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees who
were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the
ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1 December, 2000 are
required to join the MPF Scheme.

HHMBIERERAT —ESZ-FER m
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37. RARBE & (&) 37.RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
(CONTINUED)

BB (H) Hong Kong (Continued)

BEBRANREAERARFHEEES RAE The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
EiEEELFESNBETES L (R employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
TEREERASENREFAHM the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
E) B AEHMR o iEBE ARG with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
HFRATR B 2R INRE AT - Bl Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
BRWH TR E BIEMRAN S B EMNH are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
HR - RMEFERN - HEREEFX contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.

PR -

ZREERFEKETE F5EE For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
EEBAREF SN ANS%KETATA relevant payroll costs or at a monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
= REE1,5008 70 M 2 &t 8 1F H for each person to the scheme, where contribution is matched by
o mMBBEETNEREELSEMR the employees.

e

RIBZZFR-ZFT-—F+ZA= At 31 December, 2022 and 2021, the amount of forfeited
+—8 - A REHRR R E AT contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the
REZ RSB TEK o future years was insignificant.

HE PRC

AEBNTEES AT R T BAEE The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
BENEREERAREMNFTENKE - managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
REBERFSHKANEEED LA government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
RIREFIFTBIE R AR - i AR specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
BAREES - REEHNZFRIK schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
B ENE -—FERELIEEAOMH with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
e specified contributions.

AEEERZEREHERERMNE The Group operates several unfunded defined benefit plans
g ZREFRAPEEEERERE which require payments ranging from HK$274 to HK$366,887 per
A F2747% L E 366,887 B LHIT year to be made to each qualifying employee in the PRC.

Koo

7IFD) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a) On 1 January, 2022, the Group acquired 51% interests
in EEMEERERXARBRAG ("EEMEZ") from an
independent third-party. EEFX is engaged in the sale

and distribution of gas fuel and related products, gas

connection and the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition

is made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market

share in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase

consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB96,390,000 (equivalent of HK$117,894,000) paid
in 2022 and the remaining amount of RMB10,710,000
(equivalent of HK$13,099,000) included in other payables

as at 31 December, 2022.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &

EfZ as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

AU R
b2 PE

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition
B & FAET
Notes HK$'000
W - BRERZE Property, plant and equipment 14 104,331
"B Investment properties 15 13,144
K Operating rights 21 35,319
RIEFIEA E Deferred tax assets 34 1,697
RITHEBR KRS Bank balances and cash 38,768
TE Inventories 2,915
FEUE 5 Bk 38 K H A B MR Trade and other receivables 7,310
FERTE 5 BR 30 S E A FE AT 5K Trade and other payables (10,809)
ERAaE Contract liabilities (8,858)
FERIFRIR Tax payables (1,098)
RIEFIE A& Deferred tax liabilities 34 (15,791)
Al RIE EFERRE (R AFERT) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 166,928
eI Non-controlling interests (81,795)
85,133
W E AR Goodwill on acquisition 20 45,860
THRAR Satisfied by
e Cash 117,894
H AR Other payables 13,099

ERRRERERAF

¥ 213
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
expected synergies from combining the operations of HE&
FZ with the Group.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

Ul HE®MEZ is as follows:
FHET
HK$'000
ReERE Cash consideration (117,894)
BUEEIR & RIRITHE Cash and bank balances acquired 38,768
AFAREEBIBRESTENHE K Netinflow of cash and cash equivalents included
REZEMRAFE in cash flows from investing activities (79,126)

BRESENUR  BEEEALN
SEHE-_Z-__F+=-A=1
—HBIEFENGAVBHREA
EAd#5115,549,0007%8 7T & i F)
16,828,000/ 7T °

HAEFRENRE  AEEFR
W 28 #1E h1115,549,00078 7T K&
S5 4E HN16,828,00078 7T ©

(b) RZZTEZZF—A+/\H  £&
BE—EZBIE=AR—BEA
WESMNEBREZERTERA
A ([HEMEB]) 1% #Em - 1§
MEBRBHE RS HI BN
RABBER MRERRHEER
REE - zWEFSEDEAAR
EEERERTHBEMMRET
¥NmBEnEREN—Ho -
ZWEEENRERENLNES
S ff - B AR#S53,193,000
7t (FHE 765,060,000/ 7T)
ERZZFE__FIHZFEHT
AR#22,797,0007T (HER
27,883,000 L) ER T ==
FH+—A=+—At AEMES

T
A °

Since the acquisition, EE®ZE contributed revenue of
HK$115,549,000 and a profit of HK$16,828,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$115,549,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have increased by HK$16,828,000.

(b) On 18 January, 2022, the Group acquired 51% interests in
wMNEEREMEERAT (“BMZEE") from an independent
third-party and an individual. #J1#8 is engaged in the
sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products, gas
connection and the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition
is made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its
market share in the downstream city gas industry. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash, with RMB53,193,000 (equivalent of HK$65,060,000)
paid in 2022 and the remaining amount of RMB22,797,000
(equivalent of HK$27,883,000) included in other payables
as at 31 December, 2022.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of 1§

FEBBEHNAFENT M %8 as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RUEERER

WAFE

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition

B 3E FAET

Notes HK$'000

M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 121,636

EREERE Right-of-use assets 16 2,263

KeEtE Operating rights 21 27,312

IRAETIIE & Deferred tax assets 34 23

FE Inventories 1,696

FEWE 5 R 3 K E A FE WK Trade and other receivables 133,586

RITHEBR LIRS Bank balances and cash 39

FERTE 5 BR 30 I E A FE A 5K Trade and other payables (126,002)

aRAE Contract liabilities (1,865)

HEaE Lease Liabilities (139)

RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (1,223)

REFIEARE Deferred tax liabilities 34 (6,828)

AR B EFEMEE (RAFEST) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 150,498

SRR Non-controlling interests (73,744)

76,754

WHEE AR EE Goodwill on acquisition 20 16,189
ZRAR Satisfied by

Re Cash 65,060

H AR Other payables 27,883

EXHEROEE T EREGMNE
HEALBEBAGEELNESR
W [RRUE -

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
expected synergies from combining the operations of &/l
# 58 with the Group.

sERAERERAT —2-—s=% @
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38. ¥K &6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

RWEENEH RS REST
N

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
N ZEH is as follows:

FAET

HK$'000

ReRE Cash consideration (65,060)

BUIEIR & RIRITHE® Cash and bank balances acquired 39
AARBEBIARSRENIRE KL Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included

ReLEMRLFRE in cash flows used in investing activities (65,021)

B EEAR - 1N ER AR
EEBE-_ZT_—_F+-_A=+
—ALFENREVEBREE
Bid2532,379,0008 T R E 18
583,000/8 7T °

WEHRENEE  AEEFR
U 25 #5385 32,379,000 7T &
S5 F) #5981 583,0008 7T ©

RZE-_—_F—A=+—H" K
EEA-EBUBE=-HKRES
REZEMRERABRAE ([
BELZ])51%#ED - EEMEZE
REHERDHABME RIA
BER MEERLKHESRR
BH ZWBEFENEALRE
ERAER TR MREITE
MHBHEREH—HD « &%
WHEEENHRERBEURE X
fF+ B AR¥ 253,048,139
7L (HE 77 311,512,000 7T)
ERZZZFIZFTRHT
AR#63,151,8117C (HER
77,743,000 7)) ER 2T ==
F+Z A=+ — At AHEbEN

o
N

(c)

7AT® CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022

Since the acquisition, #/N#H contributed revenue of
HK$32,379,000 and incurred a loss of HK$583,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$32,379,000 and the profit of the Group for
the year would have decreased by HK$583,000.

On 21 January, 2022, the Group acquired 51% interests in
BRFLZEBHRRERAT (VERFL") from an independent
third party. /88 ¥ % is engaged in the sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection and
the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition is made as
part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share
in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB253,048,139 (equivalent of HK$311,512,000)
paid in 2022 and the remaining amount of RMB63,151,811
(equivalent of HK$77,743,000) included in other payables
as at 31 December, 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of /&

FEBBEHNAFENT ¥ as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RUEERER

WAFE

Fair values

recognised on

acquisition

B 3E FAET

Notes HK$'000

M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 367,471
EREERE Right-of-use assets 16 33,282
KetE Operating rights 21 283,521
IRAEFIIE & B Deferred tax assets 34 3,456
"E Inventories 1,898
FEWE 5 R 3 K E A FE WK Trade and other receivables 1,657
IRITHEBRIA S Bank balances and cash 9,655
FET 8 5 BR 3 K At FE A 7R Trade and other payables (3,116)
aRAaE Contract liabilities (227)
RIEFIE & 1E Deferred tax liabilities 34 (42,528)
AR B EFEAE (R AFES) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 655,069
FEPEAR M 2 Non-controlling interests (320,984)
334,085

U B e A R P Goodwill on acquisition 20 55,170

AR Satisfied by

e Cash 311,512
HAb ERTR Other payables 77,743

EXHERNEEIEREERT
ZHREBET S GE LR TEH
R AE ©

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the

expected synergies from combining the operations of /&%

%2 with the Group.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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38. ¥K &6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(d)

RUBERTZZ BB
mF

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
JHHEFZ is as follows:

FAET

HK$'000

ReRE Cash consideration (311,512)

BUIEIR & RIRITHE® Cash and bank balances acquired 9,655
AFAREEBITARSRENH S X Netinflow of cash and cash equivalents included

ReEBMRAFE in cash flows used in investing activities (301,857)

BRESENUR  BRERAR
SEHE-_ZT-__F+=-A=1
—HBIEFENGAVBHREE
Bid#5217,380,0007% 7t & i F)
46,195,000/8 7T °

HAFRENRE  AEEFR
Ue 5 #8181 252,448,000 7T &
SR ASHE HN51,417 00078 7T ©

REECITHRERRTERA A
(ITHZET]) DRIBHAEE R
GBI E =TT FE56% Kk44%
o RECLIRHBRERB R
AEEROEERDHE - BRE
B MRBABE -

RZTZZZF=A=+HA  #&
ERENT44%EZNBELE
ZHEASEEFEERECTEE
FIRIAERZMAI - BHE - A
FEERECIMBRERSRE
ECLRLLBEELEERIE B
I AEBEZEHRECIOMA
BALE BARBEEL R
BT AN EENBAR -

(d)
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Since the acquisition, /g3 ¥%& contributed revenue of
HK$217,380,000 and a profit of HK$46,195,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$252,448,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have increased by HK$51,417,000.

RECTHREBRRERAR ("BUE(LLT") was 56% held
by the Group, and 44% by two independent third-parties.
EUZ{ET is engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel
and related products, gas connection and the sale of gas
appliances.

On 25 March, 2022, the independent third-parties with 44%
interests in BUZ{ET and the Group signed the amended
Articles of Association of EJZ{tkI. Upon the signing,
the Group held the majority voting rights in the general
meetings of shareholders and meetings of the board of
directors of EJZ{LT. Accordingly, the Group takes the
control over all significant operating, investing and financing
activities of EUZ({b L, and H)Z{EL became a subsidiary of
the Group.
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &

FEBBEHNAFENT 2{t T as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
RUEERER
WAFE
Fair values
recognised
on acquisition
B3 FAT
Notes HK$'000
M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 23,236
EREERE Right-of-use assets 16 1,704
KeEtE Operating rights 21 16,199
peAC] Inventories 501
FEWE 5 B 30 K E A FE WK Trade and other receivables 47,493
wITHER LIRS Bank balances and cash 1
JETE 5 BR 3 S EAth JE A 5% Trade and other payables (7,209)
HERE Lease liabilities 16 (244)
FEIBIR Tax payables (523)
aRAaE Contract liabilities (1,039)
RIEFIIE & & Deferred tax liabilities 34 (4,603)
AR E EFELTE (R A FER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 75,516
iR Non-controlling interest (33,228)
42,288
LREERRNER TR BT Previously held interest, represented by
FrfsfE s (R A F(ERD) interest in the joint venture, at fair value 42,288

RERZSREFRZESRE

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these

AT - acquisitions is as follows:
FAET
HK$'000
RENRE Cash consideration -
BUIEIR & RIRITHE# Cash and bank balances acquired 1
AARBEBIARSTENIREE  Netinflow of cash and cash equivalents included
ReLEMRNFE in cash flows used in investing activities 1

sEngERERLAE —2-—55% LD
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EEBEE-_ZT_—_F+-_A=+
—BLHFENGEETERERE

BAU 25 71,144,000 7T K % F
2,529,00078 7T °

MEHREMNELE  AEEFRA
I 25 #5 3% /190,039,000 7T &
S A HN3,287,00058 7T °

R-ZZTE-_—_FRA+/\H K&
EEMEBIE- T REBILES
BRARBRRA([BBERA
1) 100% 7z - ESRRARAN
EHERDHRBRE AR
Em MEERREEMAE
B ZWEEEIIERALERE
RERTHATHRRITENT
LMEREH— D - ZIKE
FEMRBRENES XN
Heh AR#9,473,0007T (BE
711,163,000 L) ER =T =
—F LR ARY6,315,0007T
(HEEN7,441,000/87T) BN
T ZFXfte

= _

(e)

g¥1)J) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Since the acquisition, EU£/ET contributed revenue
of HK$71,144,000 and a profit of HK$2,529,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$90,039,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have increased by HK$3,287,000.

On 18 May, 2022, the Group acquired 100% interests
in WRERAARERAA ("BBXAKZ") from two
independent third-parties. B&AAR is engaged in the
sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products,
gas connection and the sale of gas appliances. The
acquisition is made as part of the Group’s strategy to
expand its market share in the downstream city gas
industry. The purchase consideration for the acquisition
was in the form of cash, with RMB9,473,000 (equivalent
of HK$11,163,000) paid in 2021 and RMB6,315,000
(equivalent of HK$7,441,000) paid in 2022.



e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

38. XS 6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
BRRAINWE BB #AE The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
ERBENATFENT : BARE as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RUEERER
WAFE
Fair values
recognised
on acquisition
B3 FAT
Notes HK$'000
M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 5,718
BEBIREE Deferred tax assets 34 1
FE W 5 AR 3k B B R R Trade and other receivables 586
RITHEBRIR S Bank balances and cash 13,318
FERTE 5 AR R E A FE TR Trade and other payables (430)
ERAaE Contract liabilities (589)
AR E EFELTE (R A FER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 18,604
ZHRAR Satisfied by
Be Cash 7,441
T -FRNNEE Deposits paid in 2021 11,163
FXHEROEETEAEERRXR The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
RRERNEEEBSHEENTE expected synergies from combining the operations of &&
R R o KRR with the Group.
RUEERRARZRERESD An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
T - B HRAARA is as follows:
FAET
HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (7,441)
BURIEIR & RIRITHE# Cash and bank balances acquired 13,318
AR BEBIARSTENIRE K Netinflow of cash and cash equivalents included
ReEEMRAFE in cash flows used in investing activities 5,877
BN EIENR BRERARA Since the acquisition, E&KA R contributed revenue of
REBHE-_ZE-_—_F+=-A= HK$16,950,000 and a profit of HK$240,000 to the Group’s
THILFENGEMBERERE consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
Btk 2% 16,950,000 7% 7T K i F December, 2022.
240,000/ 7T °

EERAERERAT —2-—s=% @B
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$23,974,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have increased by HK$19,000.

On 21 June, 2022, the Group acquired 80.2% interests
in BMRRERRIF (“&INHR") from 15 individuals. &
ML is engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel
and related products, gas connection and the sale of gas
appliances. The acquisition is made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share in the downstream
city gas industry. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB157,192,000
(equivalent of HK$183,809,000) paid in 2022 and the
remaining amount of RMB122,808,000 (equivalent of
HK$143,603,000) included in other payables as at 31
December, 2022.

During the period ended 31 December, 2022, the fair
value assessment of this acquisition has not been finalised
by the date of approval of these financial statements. In
accordance with HKFRS 3, certain provisionally estimated
fair values of assets and liabilities acquired were used for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December, 2022.
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and

liabilities of &

FEBBEHNAFENT M #AS as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RUEERER

WAFE

Fair values

recognised

on acquisition

B3 FAT

Notes HK$'000

M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 100,829

EREERE Right-of-use assets 16 4,807

REE AR ER Interests in Joint ventures 14,226
BEME  BELRRENED Deposits for purchase of property, plant

and equipment 35,961

FE Inventories 3,004

FEUE 5 Bk 38 K H A B MR Trade and other receivables 26,397

WITHBRRS Bank balances and cash 58,265

FEHE 5 B8R 51 K H At B 5K Trade and other payables (63,920)

aRAE Contract liabilities (28,486)

Al RE EFELTE (R A FERT) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 151,083

EIE e Non-controlling interest (34,247)

116,836

U B e A R P Goodwill on acquisition 20 210,576

AR Satisfied by
Be Cash 183,809
HAb ERTR Other payables 143,603

ExX#ERNEEIES/EAMN
REREFEXB S HELNELS
R AE ©

RABZSWESHRZESRE

The goodwill recognised above consists

largely of the

expected synergies from combining the operations of &/

#RE with the Group.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these

DT - acquisitions is as follows:
FHT
HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (183,809)
BUEEIR & RIRITHERR Cash and bank balances acquired 58,265
ATAREBEBIARSRENHE& KL Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included
ReFBEYRLFHE in cash flows used in investing activities (125,544)

EERREZERBERAF

—z-—55% @)
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38. £ S0t (&)
BB EIB LR - A MRE A

EEBEE-_ZT_—_F+-_A=+
—BLHFENGEETERERE

Bt Uk 25185,396,000 7% JT M i Fl
11,657,000/ ¢ °

MEHREMNELE  AEEFRA
U 255 32 11 438,692,00058 7T &
SEAHE L HN16,274,000/8 7T °

RZTEZZFNA=H ' &%
B iEEF R AR D AR A A
([BREIR R ) 80.69% 1% * %
NAEIRD BB iR - #REIR
RUEHE LD IHR B &8
BMER MRERKEERRE
B o ZWEEETERARE Bk
RER THEMMRRITENTIS
MR —HBD - ZREEE
R ERELNR SN - HAh
1,656,279,000/8 TE R & =
ZHEFNR#HT 165,571,000
TER - —F+-_fF=+—
HEt AE M RERR -

(9)

REE-ZT-_—_F+=-A=+—
HIFEHE - ZWEEEHATE
FHE I R RS SRRt E B
HEE - REFBTHERELER
E3% EAMBEEERAR
METFREGTATFERRAS
EEHE—T-_—Ft+-_A=+—
B IR ER A M @RE

AN
(o=
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Since the acquisition, &M# A contributed revenue of
HK$185,396,000 and a profit of HK$11,657,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$438,692,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have increased by HK$16,274,000.

On August 3, 2022, the Group acquired 80.69% of
interests in BREIMARMDBRAF ("BREIKR"), the shares
of which were delisted from the Stock Exchange. Zr£ll
A& is engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel
and related products, gas connection and the sale of gas
appliances. The acquisition is made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share in the downstream
city gas industry. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with HK$1,656,279,000
paid in 2022 and the remaining amount of HK$165,57 1,000
included in other payables as at 31 December, 2022.

During the period ended 31 December, 2022, the fair
value assessment of this acquisition has not been finalised
by the date of approval of these financial statements. In
accordance with HKFRS 3, certain provisionally estimated
fair values of assets and liabilities acquired were used for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the period ended 31 December, 2022.
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38. XS 6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
HAMER W EE BRI EE The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &k
FEBBEHNAFENT AR as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RUEERER

D FEE

Fair values

recognised

on acquisition

B3 FAT

Notes HK$'000

M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 688,327

EREERE Right-of-use assets 16 62,010

KetE Operating rights 21 83,197

REEE A RIRIIRE Investments in associates 79,892

RIEFIIE A B Deferred tax assets 34 95,916

TE Inventories 4,454

FEUE 5 B 3 K H A B WGR Trade and other receivables 1,179,036

RITHEBRR S Bank balances and cash 223,359

FEHE 5 B8R 51 K H At B 5K Trade and other payables (315,987)

aRAaE Contract liabilities (273,392)

RIEFIIE B & Deferred tax liabilities 34 (26,995)

AR B EFEME (RAFEST) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 1,799,817

IEiE RS Non-controlling interest (422,081)

1,377,736

IR EE E R P 2 Goodwill on acquisition 20 444 114

AR Satisfied by

e Cash 1,656,279

H At FERT IR Other payables 165,571

RN EE T EaEEAIMR The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the

RN B KA GHEE M TE ER expected synergies from combining the operations of &kl
1 [ R o #AS with the Group.

EERAERERAT —2-—s5% @R
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38. ¥K &6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(h)

REERSWBEEZHESRE
DI

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these
acquisitions is as follows:

FAET

HK$'000

ReRE Cash consideration (1,656,279)

BUIEIR & RIRITHE® Cash and bank balances acquired 223,359
AARBEBIARSRENIRE KL Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included

ReLEMRLFRE in cash flows used in investing activities (1,432,920)

BUEEEEUR - &AM AR
EEBE-_ZT_—_F+-_A=+
—ALFENREVEBREE
Bk 25517,286,00078 7T K )i F
24,749,000 7T °

WEHRENEE  AEEFR
U2 1512 01,325,211,00058 7T
K3 R 12 4057,239,000/8 7T ©

RZZEZZFNA=TH &*&
EEmMEBILE=HWERL
ZEEBEXARBR AR ([FWL
RAR])51% Rz - BILKA
RUBHERDHEHIBMRE K
HEER MRIERRHEEK
RER - ZWEFEEDEAR
EEBERAERTHBE KA
EHNWMISMBEREN B o
ZEEFEEOREREURS
S Ef ARME22,338,000
7L (HBE 724,698,000 7T)
BERZZFE-Z_FLXHEHBHBT
AR#14,892,0007T (HHER
16,465,000/ 7L) ER =T ==
F+— A=+ — At AEMbES

e
A °

(h)
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Since the acquisition, &A&I#AR contributed revenue of
HK$517,286,000 and a profit of HK$24,749,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$1,325,211,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have increased by HK$57,239,000.

On 30 September, 2022, the Group acquired 51% interests
in BRLUEBRXAREBER AT ("RILXAR") from two
independent third-parties. FFILKAR is engaged in the
sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products, gas
connection and the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition
is made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its
market share in the downstream city gas industry. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash, with RMB22,338,000 (equivalent of HK$24,698,000)
paid in 2022 and the remaining amount of RMB14,892,000
(equivalent of HK$16,465,000) included in other payables
as at 31 December, 2022.
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of B

ERBENATFENT : KSR R as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RUEERER

WAFE

Fair values

recognised

on acquisition

B3 FAT

Notes HK$'000

M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 58,587

K Operating rights 21 6,617

7E Inventory 3,035

FEWE 5 Bk 3 1 E A FE R Trade and other receivables 10,993

RITHEHB LIRS Bank balances and cash 11,985

RIEFRIBA E Deferred tax assets 34 43

JETE 5 BR 3 S Bt JE A 5% Trade and other payables (2,493)

ARAaE Contract liabilities (20,354)

FEIBIR Tax payables (291)

REFIE & & Deferred tax liabilities 34 (1,525)

AR B EFEAE (R AFES) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 66,597

EIE e Non-controlling interests (32,633)

33,964

I B FE A R P Goodwill on acquisition 20 7,199
AR Satisfied by

Re Cash 24,698

HAb ERTR Other payables 16,465

EXHERNBEEIE|/EFILX
AREAEBEEB S HELNT
H i R AUE -

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the expected
synergies from combining the operations of FILIXAR with the
Group.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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38. ¥K &6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

RUBRILRARZESRED
W -

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
FRILKAR is as follows:

FAET

HK$'000

ReRE Cash consideration (24,698)

BUIEIR & RIRITHE® Cash and bank balances acquired 11,985
AARBEBIARSRENIRE KL Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included

REZEMRLF5E in cash flows used in investing activities (12,713)

BUEESEIRAR - RILRARA
AEEHEZE-_T-__F+=-R=
THILEFENGEMBEREE
B35 13,562,000 7T R E 18
2,059,000/ ¢ °

WEHRENEE  AEEFR
U 25 #5318 iN68,427,0007# 7T &
A58 Hn 3,689,000 7T ©

RZZEZZF+A=Z+HH &
EEEMBBLE=HWEDN
EHERARBRETAR (M
JIEF5 1) 100% HE25 - M) 1265
MEHE LD HRERE RAE
BEM  MREKREENRES
B ZWESEIIEAAEEE
AERTHBMRERITENTS
DR —BD - ZRBEEE
MEREUREIMN  HFA
R#1,040,116,0007T (A& H
1,137,595,0008 L) ER=F
ZZFEZT e
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Since the acquisition, FEILURAR contributed revenue of
HK$13,562,000 and incurred a loss of HK$2,059,000 to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$68,427,000 and the profit of the Group for
the year would have increased by HK$3,689,000.

On 25 October, 2022, the Group acquired 100% interests
in MIEERXAFREGRECELA ("HIERE") from two
independent third-parties. P4)I#2f5 is engaged in the sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products, gas
connection and the sale of gas appliances. The acquisition
is made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market
share in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB1,040,116,000 (equivalent of HK$1,137,595,000)
paid in 2022.
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of P4

FEBBEHNAFENT JII#£B% as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
RUEERER
WAFE
Fair values
recognised
on acquisition
B3 FAT
Notes HK$'000
M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 318,303
EREERE Right-of-use assets 16 69,973
B E A R R Interests in associates 60,129
BEREAFAEMAEMEZE Equity investments designated at fair value
W IR AN & through other comprehensive income 19 123,802
A Operating rights 21 115,426
RIEFRIBAE Deferred tax assets 34 10,050
BEME  BELRXENZS Deposits for purchase of property, plant
and equipment 431
Ty Inventories 11,686
FEWE 5 B 3 I E A R R Trade and other receivables 213,932
ERIREBREE Assets related to contract works 30,629
RITHEBR LIRS Bank balances and cash 109,050
FERTE 5 BR 30 K H A FE A 5K Trade and other payables (337,669)
aRAE Contract liabilities (144,562)
eGSRk Government grants (3,448)
HivRABE Other long-term liabilities (24,085)
REFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 34 (62,776)
AR B EFEMEE (RAFEST) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 490,871
SRR Non-controlling interests (36,888)
453,983
WHEE R Goodwill on acquisition 20 683,612
ZRAH Satisfied by
Be Cash 1,137,595

HEERFERERLAE —2-—55% @E)



e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-B--_F+=ZA=+t—HLFE

38. ¥ 50t (&)

ExX#ERNEETIEREDIIE
GHEAREZER S GIELNRS
R AE -

BB EEZRESREDON

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
expected synergies from combining the operations of P9)/l|
=F% with the Group.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

Ul )14k is as follows:
FHET
HK$'000
ReERE Cash consideration (1,137,595)
BUEEIR & RIRITHE Cash and bank balances acquired 109,050
AFAREEBITARSRENH S X Netinflow of cash and cash equivalents included
ReEBMRAFE in cash flows used in investing activities (1,028,545)

BB SEAR - MIER AR
SEHE-_Z-__F+=-A=1
—HBIEFENGAVBHREA
BEid#5115,664,0007%8 7T & i F)
4,775,000/ 7T °

HAEFRENRE  AEEFR
I Z5 #5128 068,427,000 7T &
A3 Hn 3,689,000 T ©

() WR-ZE-_—_F—HA—HB A%£H
BE—R2BUFE=FEAENGE
RKEBRRBRAR ([EBE
D WEEHEE R HRERE
REHEER MREESKAH
BEHRN BEMEREHE
EoHREms REEESR
MEERREERREE - &%
WEESERAEERFBERERE
BE—E5 - BRRRKA T
BMMEITENTSEEE o
ZEEFEEOREREURS
S Ef AR¥55,886,000
7L (I E 768,354,000 7T)
BER-ZZFEZ_FXHEHBHBT
AR#20,914,0007T (HER
25,579,000 70) ER =T ==
F+ZA=+— At AEMbES

e
A °

Since the acquisition, PJI#8F5 contributed revenue of
HK$115,664,000 and a profit of HK$4,775,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
increased by HK$68,427,000 and the profit of the Group for
the year would have increased by HK$3,689,000.

(j)  On 1 January, 2022, the Group acquired the business of the
sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products and
gas connection and a related asset group from EFE 5%
EXEBEMAERAT (“EI5EX"), an independent third
party. The acquisition is part of the on-going expansion
strategy of the Group with the aim of becoming the market
leader in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB55,886,000 (equivalent of HK$68,354,000) paid
in 2022, and the remaining amount of RMB20,914,000
(equivalent of HK$25,579,000) included in other payables
as at 31 December, 2022.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022



e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

38. XS 6 (&) 38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
E 58 R WE B BRI 3R & &= The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
FEBBEHNAFENT [%E X as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
RUEERER
WAFE
Fair values
recognised
on acquisition
B3 FAT
Notes HK$'000
M - BE REE Property, plant and equipment 14 48,262
EREERE Right-of-use assets 16 7,554
KeEtE Operating rights 21 31,619
FEWE 5 Bk 3 I E A e R Trade and other receivables 6,753
AR B EFERE (R AFEST) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 94,188
Uk B B A Y EAB U A Other income on acquisition (255)
SHRAR Satisfied by
Re Cash 68,354
HAbERR Other payables 25,579
REBZEWESE R2RE An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these
DT - acquisitions is as follows:
FHT
HK$'000
ReRE Cash consideration (68,354)
BUEEIR & RIRITHEER Cash and bank balances acquired -
AFAREBEBFARSRENHE& KL Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included
ReEEYRLIFE in cash flows used in investing activities (68,354)

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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BB - ESEXRA
SEBE_ZT_—_F+-A=
T—HLEFEMNRAMBRE
i 258,958,000 7T R 5 1R
6,114,000 7T °

R-TE-_=—F+=-A=+AhB "

REBE—BBUE - HIREE
KEBRAZBR AR ([EK
ER1)51%ME R EKERRK
REBRAA ([BAKER])51%
ik o BKERREKERNRSE
WERDHIBRN X IEEE
o MEERREERRRE -
ZWESEDNEARNEEEAH
RTEHERTMEBITENT SR
BN —HD c 2 WBEEE
WBERBERENRESIN  H
 AR#16,320,0007T (HHEH
19,961,0008L) ER T ==
FIARHT AREE5,280,000
7T (ME 79,843,000 7T) &
R-T——Ff+=-A=+—H&t
AE MR -

(k)

R AREREERBEKE
BEREKERS1%BEHATE
#FAE o
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Since the acquisition, Ef58 X contributed revenue of
HK$8,958,000 and incurred a loss of HK$6,114,000 to
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December, 2022.

On 29 December, 2022, the Group acquired 51% equity

interests in BKEERAARRERAA ("EKER") and
51% equity interests in ZKERKRRAR AT ("EKE

JX”) from an independent third party. Z/KE& and 2K
#R are engaged in the sale and distribution of gas fuel
and related products, gas connection and the sale of gas
appliances. The acquisition is made as part of the Group’s
strategy to expand its market share in the downstream
city gas industry. The total purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB16,320,000
(equivalent of HK$19,961,000) paid in 2021 and the
remaining amount of RMB65,280,000 (equivalent of
HK$79,843,000) included in other payables as at 31
December, 2022.

During the year, the Group has finalised the fair value
assessments of the acquisition of 51% equity interests in
EKER and EKER.
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of £
KEE and Z/KER as at the date of acquisition were as

follows:
RIBRZANATLE
Fair values recognised
on acquisition

axkER BKER
Bt FHET FHET
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
mE - BE &R Property, plant and equipment 14 21,144 134,735
EREEE Right-of-use assets 16 11,337 20,930
e Operating rights 21 79,681 33,184
=& Inventories 4,689 14
FEWE SRR EAEWSL  Trade and other receivables 48,874 152,174
RITHEBR LB Bank balances and cash 2,076 3,225
ERESRFREAMEMNTK  Trade and other payables (33,777) (3,189)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings (39,586) (63,600)
aRAE Contract liabilities - (512)
HitRHIaE Other long-term liabilities - (213,378)
EERIBEEE Deferred tax liabilities 34 (24,015) (11,491)

AHREEFEERE Total identifiable net assets at fair
(RAFER) value 70,423 52,092
FERR R 2 Non-controlling interests (34,507) (25,525)
35,916 26,567
WS E R B Goodwill on acquisition 20 24,089 13,232

ZRAR Satisfied by

Be Cash 12,001 7,960
HAbFERR Other payables 48,004 31,839

EXRROHELIZBEEKE
REEBKEREREEELS G
AR TRE 5 R R

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
expected synergies from combining operations of Z/K&E&
and &/KZERX with the Group.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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For the year ended 31 December, 2022

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments

at the end of

¥ - the reporting period:
—Eg-— T4
2022 2021
FBT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
RATEBEFTOERR Capital expenditure contracted for but not
AEBYBHREPEED provided in the Group's financial statements
BARRY in respect of:
WEEME - BB &&BIAKL  Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
FREEE and right-of-use assets 641,887 139,161
wE Investments 1,971,892 2,484,652
2,613,779 2,623,813
40. EEEH 40. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

RZZEZZF+=ZA=+—8 4%
EEEMTIEEERENTRAR
HEREEENE SRR BT

At 31 December, 2022, the Group pledged the following assets

as security for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas and

franchise performance to the government:

FHRERBRBER
—EC-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
BHEFRITER Pledged bank deposits 896 1,820
o REBEETERHAEEEE In addition, certain loans of the Group are pledged by the

TR FHBEN M BRI E 14 R

16 °

Group’s assets, details of which are set out in notes 14 and 16 to

the financial statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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M. BEALTHE
HEBEALTWRS &tk

41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

BRARBAMEEFTEMBEA LRSI
AEBERNFRNEFEATETTIE

Transactions/balances with related parties

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the
respective notes, the Group entered into the following material

RS transactions with related parties during the year:
—E-— —E-—4F
2022 2021
B s FBT FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HE AN FNR S Transactions with associates:
HEE® Sale of goods a 130,493 107,916
BEEM Purchase of goods b 82,406 36,951
B B A Interest income from loans d 1,920 3,941
HEZBNENRS Transactions with joint ventures:
HEE® Sale of goods a 772,411 980,199
BEEM Purchase of goods b 96,294 93,751
BHFERA Interest income from loans d 47,411 1,518
F BRI Interest expenses d 1,179 1,609
HEZMBARMNKZS :  Transactions with fellow subsidiaries:
HEEM Sale of goods a 136,176 87,542
TR EBA Interest income from deposits c 18,385 21,351
BRI ERA Interest income from loans d 47,493 63,572
FBRX Interest expenses d 771 -
e Rental expenses e 32,310 31,695
BRI R AR S Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders:
HEE®D Sale of goods a 315,784 287,909
BEEM Purchase of goods b 572,633 1,358,379
itk Rental expenses 145 460
B EIERATMARZ S« Transactions with intermediate holding
companies:
FEMX Interest expenses d 18,342 22,940

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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4. EEATIEE (&) 41.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

HEEALNRS & (E) Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

BisE Notes:

a. MAEERR - 5EQE REWER a. The sales to the associates, the joint ventures, the fellow
A R IFEAR AR R 1T &Y $H S IR R A1 AR subsidiaries, and the non-controlling shareholders were made
SEFEXFPRHEND BHMBERLIE according to the published prices and conditions offered to the
D o major customers of the Group.

b. MEERAF - A& Q7 REERRR b.  The purchases from the associates, the joint ventures and the non-
EITHREEREKE AR - 58 A controlling shareholders were made according to the published
RIFEBRBRRAEFEEFIRHNE prices and conditions offered by the associates, the joint ventures
B EIE RAGHED - and the non-controlling shareholders to their major customers.

c. WIZTZ=F+=ZA=+—H £&E c. At 31 December, 2022, the Group placed bank and other deposits
BRADBIRRWERRKEEBR of HK$966,635,282 (2021: HK$832,806,210) with China Resources
TRHERREFARTREAMT Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the Company, and
966,635,282 L (Z T = — 4 ¢ these deposits were included in bank balances and cash.

832,806,210 7T) + ZFF KT A
RITHEHBRES -

d. REAZERAR - Hﬁ%"\j &) R Pt 8 d.  The interest income and expenses from loans from joint ventures,
DA R EERARERFSWA associates, the fellow subsidiaries, and the intermediate holding
RAZ TIREFRBEARRITAMHZE companies were made according to the benchmark interest rate for
FARBEREEREREBRT RMB loans over the same period announced by the People’'s bank
R B R (HIBOR)EH » KB R of China and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR), except
FWBERRIEFERNEIAEFENE for a loan from fellow subsidiaries of HK$2,238,960,000 which bears
3£2,238,960,000 7% 7T JA K B & A interest at rate 3.1% per annum, and loans to a joint venture of
AR A RS FHERHERN ER HK$1,937,600,000 which bears interest at a floating loan rate of the
20% M) F B ERFF T EWER 5-year LPR downward 20% per annum. Details of the transaction is
1,937,600,000# Tk oh - B S set out in note 28 and note 20.

BT 28 R AT EE20 ©

e. XNTRRMERRRIFERKRRS e. The rental expenses to fellow subsidiaries and non-controlling
e HRETISHESIEL - shareholders were made according to the market rents.
BREATNHEHMRS e Other transactions/balances with related parties
—g-= —ET -
2022 2021
FHET FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
HERMBARMNKS ©  Transactions with fellow subsidiaries: B 5E
BE—HBE AR Purchase of shares of an associate Note
&) - 3,135,020
Mzt AEER T - —FRERERNGE Note: The Group purchased 265,589,330 shares of EEMAF, from ZE R HE
RENEEMRIISINGE  HEHB and #EE E at a total considerations of RMB2,602,220,054 in 2021,
TE BB Bl 17 5% M 8 [B) 2 [T 8 A B) based on the mutually agreed prices in the agreements signed with
BESEM R 265,589,330 %1% - the two fellow subsidiaries respectively.

BRERARK2602,220,0547T °
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M. BEALTHEE (&) 41. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

HEBEATHEMRS R (E)

ARSI 5 5 A E R AR EE
RETBAEEARN — 55« fik
18 8 A1 LA BT B - A
HREMEAT SN ERBENE
BRI -

BRESARIEMBEARTNRZS (B
EM?E\E\M‘“ i%ﬁ’]ﬁi\fﬂﬂﬁ??ﬁsﬁ)

P AKEE TR RS B BT B RSk
?ﬂ HEIEHISAEINERTE N
;%EE%%%@&@&H%%’@
BERBARITERRAAENB K

BT RT R E MG E A R AR R
BRA ~ REf DR R &b D MR &
R - RAREFERREZSFIF
ﬁ@%%ﬁﬁi%’%%Eﬁﬁ%%
B WIRETISIRFUETT - AEE TR
Bl B E E R %#%%I$
EREFHEEABFHEMELE -

(CONTINUED)
Other transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
CRCL which is controlled by the government of the PRC and
the Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the PRC government.

Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in
the ordinary course of business, including businesses regarding
the majority of its bank deposits and the corresponding
interest income, certain bank and other borrowings and the
corresponding finance costs, a large portion of purchases and
part of the sales of gas. The directors of the Company consider
the transactions with these government-related entities are within
normal business operations and are carried out on market terms.
The Group has established its pricing strategies and these
strategies do not depend on whether or not the counterparties
are government-related entities.

TEETEEEAEME Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EHREH Short-term benefits 40,963 42 344
& BRIKEF Post-employment benefits 1,784 1,006
42,747 43,350

FE Lo McIENBEALR S IIE
B EMRAIE14AZERT R EMBER
DEFERERZ S -

The related party transactions in respect of items b and ¢ above
also constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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42. EXREREE 42. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AEBERHERABREEEB The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
BHReETENFEERFEARITRE continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the
B EEEE M TE o NEETR flexibility through the use of bank and other borrowings.
FEHEERERERARBESTRR The Group also monitors the current and expected liquidity
HEERR®  UHRABRZHANE requirements and its compliance with lending covenants
BEGRAZHARRERELRE regularly to ensure that sufficient working capital and adequate
MEESHR K - NEEBRFRETFE committed lines of funding are maintained to meet its liquidity
BB o requirements. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged

from prior years.

AEENERAERPEAG (BER The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
TREMEE) REARE T8 include bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank
WITHEBRANBIHERE AEGEZR balances and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
(HEBTER - REBH REMEH comprising issued capital, retained profits and other reserves.
K -

AEEEEETHRIERAREE - B The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
BERABERKARAGBARR R on a regular basis. As part of this review, management
ANAH—H - WERAEETEFHE considers the cost of capital and the associated risks, and
AEBMERER  BRERMKRE takes appropriate actions to adjust the Group'’s capital structure
BT - BITHEXEBREER - through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as

the issue of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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C—
43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
@I AEER (a) Categories of financial instruments
—E-—F 2022
THEE Financial assets
BOAFESAHMEZE
hENEBEE
Financial assets at
fair value through
other comprehensive income
REBHERE
BEHRE BARE JIRNESMEE ko]
Financial
assets at
Debt Equity amortised
investments investments cost Total
THERT THER T TR
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BATESFAEM  Equity investments at fair
2EU ) value through other
B E comprehensive income - 288,673 - 288,673
B EY=ING| Loan to a joint venture
REEER - - 1,937,600 1,937,600
e E 5 ER R Trade receivables 202,040 - 10,297,933 10,499,973
SPAEMEKF Y Financial assets included in
Hith & & other receivables and
TREE other assets - - 1,646,243 1,646,243
BiEMIRITER N Pledged bank deposits and
ZRAFE S restricted cash - - 896 896
RITEBREB Bank balances and cash - - 6,437,479 6,437,479
202,040 288,673 20,320,151 20,810,864
THEE Financial liabilities
R85 AR A
JIlRMEMAsE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FET
HK$’ 000
BB SRR Trade payables 10,277,590
RITREMEER Bank and other borrowings 17,716,411
HERE Lease liabilities 407,395
T AE MR I R H B ES Financial liabilities included in other payables
TRAEE and other liabilities 6,702,045
35,103,441

ERRRERERAF

—ESoFEFR
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43. €@ T A (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(a) &WMIAEER (&) (a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
—E-—F 2021
THEE Financial assets
BRVEFARMEE
WaneREE

Financial assets at
fair value through
other comprehensive income

TR SER AN
BRI E BRARE JIRMEmMERE B
Financial
assets at
Debt Equity amortised
investments investments cost Total
THET TET THET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BATES AEM  Equity investments at fair
2ER R value through other
BARE comprehensive income - 164,794 - 164,794
EUE 5 RN Trade receivables 414,189 - 7,242,046 7,656,235
SPAEMEKF K Financial assets included in
HiEER other receivables and other
TREE assets - - 3,379,780 3,379,780
BiEHRITE% . Pledged bank deposits and
XRHHR S restricted cash - - 2,526,923 2,526,923
RITEARRE S Bank balances and cash - - 7,562,950 7,562,950
414,189 164,794 20,711,699 21,290,682
THEE Financial liabilities
1R SR AR
JIENERmBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FET
HK$'000
FERTE 5 BRK Trade payables 8,452,224
RITREAMEE Bank and other borrowings 911,365
BEAZER Senior notes 5,583,770
HEaE Lease liabilities 389,709
FTAEMENREEMEER Financial liabilities included in other payables
CREEE and other liabilities 7,427,764
22,764,832
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B HE o
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deposits for an investment, trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits and restricted cash,
bank balances and cash, other deposits, trade and
other payables, bank and other borrowings, senior notes
and other long-term liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The Group
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure that
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies,
i.e. currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, which are mainly bank balances
and cash, bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at
the end of the reporting period are as follows:

—EC-CF —E—4F
2022 2021
FBT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EE Assets

ETLHARKE US$ against RMB 70,256 76,722
EITLHRABTT US$ against HK$ 3,052 1,237
BITHARE HK$ against RMB 1,604 1,542
AREE R AT RMB against HK$ 411,433 317,863

aE Liabilities
EILRBTT US$ against HK$ 1,714,973 5,583,770
HE AR JPY against RMB 184,178 221,012

REEFE BT BT IMNEE TR
By ARSI ESMNE RS - REER
B AT AN IR A R
SRINER - BEERERR Y ER
EREHINER R -

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange rates.
The Group currently has not entered into any foreign currency
forward contracts to hedge against foreign currency risk.
Management will consider hedging foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

EWRREREMAT —B-—FER
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ANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) HHEEREBEEZRBE(Z) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
MRS (4E) Foreign currency risk (Continued)
SNE R E T Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

= Al

TRAMBI A EEGEEERE
WA A E S KR TSN
EARTHER (ZE=—%F
5%)MBRE - 5% (ZF=
F:5%) BRRER  AEE
[E Y HNSTE R 1] B H IR E B R T
) EE - GURE S TERIER
REEBAINE BB EEIR
B WAFRIRINEERS% (=
T —F 1 5%) WL ABARE
H oo RAEITEBITEN - Bt
FREIMABE—XEE (B
BITIERENGEER) AETR
BRI o MEBEEEBHOHEA
ThEE &M HRBAINE EF5% (=
T —F :5%)  AIEEERTRF
WEADEF I WEEEEN
A EE L EEINET K
5% (T =—% :5%)  AIFR
FATEF AT S B MBS E R M
FEATIEHREAEEE -

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2021: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the following
foreign currencies. 5% (2021: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
which represents management’s assessment of the possible
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies and adjusts their translation at the year
end for the 5% (2021: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US$ for an entity with HK$ as its functional
currency since US$ is pegged to HK$. A positive number
indicates an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when
the relevant functional currencies of the group entities
strengthen by 5% (2021: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2021: 5%) weakening of the relevant
functional currencies of the group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies, there would be an equal but
opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year and the
balances below would be negative.

—E-— T4
2022 2021
FBT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
E uss
FRBANRF Pre-tax profit for the year 3,513 3,836
BT HK$
FRBRNRF Pre-tax profit for the year 80 77
AE JPY
FABLAT = Pre-tax profit for the year (9,209) (11,051)
AR RMB
FRBRNRF Pre-tax profit for the year 20,572 15,893

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to prevailing market interest rates on bank
balances and pledged bank deposits and restricted cash
(see notes 27 and 26 for details of these balances) and
floating-rate amounts due from/to joint ventures, amounts
due to intermediate holding companies and bank and
other borrowings (see notes 28 and 31 for details of these
borrowings). Management continuously monitors interest
rate fluctuation and will consider further hedging interest
rate risk should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts
due from intermediate holding companies, amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries and senior notes (see notes 24 and
32 for details). Management continuously monitors interest
rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank
balances, other deposits, pledged bank deposits, amounts
due from/to joint ventures, amounts due to intermediate
holding companies and bank and other borrowings.
The analysis is prepared assuming that those balances
outstanding at the end of each reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 or 50 basis points
increase or decrease which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates is used.

EWRREREMAT —B-—FER
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43. €T A (&)

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) HHEMREEBEEREEK(Z) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
FZ @ (42) Interest rate risk (Continued)

FIEGRE ST ()

W2 BFHEMRITAS - Eitb
TR BEPERITERRZR G
Be - W el rRENE
AREWR ENAEEATIRIEA
AR TZ10EE2E
FTEEMmEHERFTE AR
T F+ZA=+—81
FERB AR G,
8,282,000 L (Z T = —4%F :
10,002,000 7T) °fﬁ/¥.JfETT
R Ho A 1 B DA K JE A AR R AR
BIFRERFER FH S TF501H
ERAMAEMBESESTE
AEE=—Z-_—F+=-A=+—
BIEFEORILSEF RS
#034,664,0008 70 (ZF=—
& 1 27,602,00087C) c EEE
RERAEEZERITREME
B AR FE AR R IR A BRI R IE R
ﬂ$MHBOR%§$~%xﬂ
RERRATE

REEEBRHIESRENERR
FERZHIBOREFEARIETT
BEERE 2 EE -

FEmE
W58 FRERITERSED

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances, other deposits,
pledged bank deposits and restricted cash, loans to a joint
venture and amounts due from/to joint ventures carried at
variable rates had been 10 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit for the
year ended 31 December, 2022 would increase/decrease
by HK$8,282,000 (2021: HK$10,002,000). If the interest rate
on floating-rate bank and other borrowings and amounts
due to intermediate holding companies had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held
constant, the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31 December,
2022 would decrease/increase by HK$34,664,000 (2021:
HK$27,602,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s
exposure to interest rates benchmarked to HIBOR on its
floating-rate bank and other borrowings and amounts due to
intermediate holding companies.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the HIBOR and the
People’s Bank of China Base Rate.

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event

BREMEENET - IFXEE of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
HEE R ARG M AR R & in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
Yl EEERABAR - A is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
ZEREKEERE  AKEHIET consolidated statement of financial position. In order to

BORIAEEEERE - Ttt*ﬂé“
BN EMEERER - ERAE
BN BHBSMERNER -

minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

7J7) CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December, 2022

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December, 2022.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

RZF-ZZF+=-HA=+—HH
BRI R AR 2 ] 5 K R (4B

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December, 2022 (Continued)

128 A%H
REEE 2HRNEERR
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
K& B&2 K83 143 @zt
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
TEn TER AR ThR TEn
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
A-HAERAREER Loan to a joint venture 1,937,600 - - - 1,937,600
ERAEREZE Amounts due from joint ventures 258,330 - - - 258,330
[ GNGEe Amounts due from associates 126,386 - - - 126,386
FUERRR R Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 180,194 - - - 180,194
ERRZMBARTE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 348,944 - - - 348,944
BRESER Trade receivables” - - - 10,815,185 10,815,185
Hip el Other receivables™ 781,818 - - - 781,818
BERETETRXBHAS  Pledged bank deposits and

restricted cash 896 - - - 896
BOEBRAS Bank balances and cash 6,437,479 - - - 6,437,479
10,071,647 - - 10,815,185 20,886,832
* HAEBRAEEELRE * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

B e U B 5 BR X i

= AR

BREENENBENTHIRR

fisE24 o

o Bt AHRMBERNERERE
Aad BEEHBTLmE
ENFEERR BV HEREH

REREM -
BRIER]-

AR EEEEW

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

> The credit quality of the financial assets included in other

receivables is considered to be

“normal”

when they are

not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31
December, 2021

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December, 2021.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

128 AEH
FEER *HRHBEERE
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
R&1 K&2 &3 it a3t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
TER TER TAL TAL AL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EYaEREHE Amounts due from joint ventures 185,237 - - - 185,237
[ NGRS Amounts due from associates 142917 - - - 142,917
el ERERTE Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 521,670 - - - 521,670
ERRZRBARNE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 1,908,802 - - - 1,908,802
et Trade receivables” - - - 8,037,295 8,037,295
Bl Other receivables™ 663,588 - - - 663,588
BEREIEARERAES  Pledged bank deposits and
restricted cash 2,526,923 - - - 2,526,923
BB RAS Bank balances and cash 7,562,950 - - - 7,562,950
13,512,087 - - 8,037,295 21,549,382
* MAEB A CAELRE . For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

MEWE SRS E - AR
BERNAEMEENTBIRER

FiEE24 o

o EBERAHMBERNERERE
Ao BRENBTRERE
ENEERRE ML#RESL
REXEN  AEERERR

BRIER] -

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

* The credit quality of the financial assets included in other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants,
if any.

At 31 December, 2022, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$18,161,672,000. Taking into account of
the unutilised banking facilities of HK$28,760,660,000
and internally generated funds of the Group and the other
factors described in note 2, the Group has sufficient
working capital for its present requirements for the next
twelve months from 31 December, 2022.



43. €RT A (&)
BEREREEBERBEK (&)

(b)

mBEEEE (F)

BE-Z--F+-A=+t—HLFE

e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
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(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both

ME interest and principal cash flows.
RERY BB-% AERRS
nEFEHE - BRERDE BELE REAT HEE
Weighted ~ Ondemand  Over 1 year Total
average  orlessthan  but not more undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year  than5years  Over5 years cash flows amounts
% T TEn Thn Thn TEn
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
R=BZZE1ZA=+-H At 31 December, 2022
ERESETREMER Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 14,006,363 - - 14,006,363 14,006,363
-i8 - interest-bearing 1.40 112,055 - - 112,055 110,573
-38 - interest-bearing 418 2,612,296 - - 2,612,296 2,507,449
FOREBEE Bank and ather borrowings 1.79 7,974,946 9,939,198 508390 1842253 17,716,411
HERR Lease liabiliies 422 106,894 178,761 138,932 424,587 407,395
HiRHAE Other long-term liabiliies 395 23,083 43,080 307,843 374,906 355,250
24,836,537 10,161,039 955,165 35,952,741 35,103,441
RZB=-E+ZB=t-H At 31 December, 2021
ERESE REMERT Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 10,308,763 - - 10,308,763 10,308,763
-i8 - interest-bearing 140 107,315 - - 107,315 105,833
-i8 - interest-bearing 0.74 5,052,975 - - 5,052,975 5,015,768
FOREMEE Bank and other borrowings 128 615,659 49,291 268,382 933,332 911,365
BizE Senior notes 4.80 5,649,346 - - 5,649,346 5,583,770
BERE Lease liabiliies 422 48,774 195,096 162,085 406,155 389,709
AthREAE Other long-term liabilities 3.9 26,012 47,199 400,7% 474,007 449,624
21,808,844 291,586 831,463 22,931,893 22,764,832

i) B F) 2= ey S B LR #R AR
EERREMGEAR - A Ltk
TEEREENEETASEN

HERD -

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent that it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and
inputs to perform the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities are stated below.
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43. €W T B (&) 43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) £MIAENATFEIE(E) (c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)
AEFUAE R EZ L FEF Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
ENEHEENLFE at fair value on a recurring basis
REREHKR  ~EENT S Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair
BMAEDIEATERE - TRH value at the end of each reporting period. The following
HnfETZESmEERNTE table gives information about how the fair values of these
MER (CERERMNMER financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation
ERBABIER) © technique(s) and inputs used).
{FERER EXFTRE TEREARE
SREE RTZRZt-BNATE LVESR  IERAME 8RR HTENEE §8E
Valuation Relationship of
Fair value  technique(s) Significant unobservable inputs
Financial assets Fair value as at 31 December hierarchy ~ and key input(s)  unobservable input(s) to fair value Sensitivity
CEICE 5-f
2022 2021
ERARLTEFALMRE  LRRARS- ngEEs- 00 ERTAAR FER TR TR
YakRiRE 5,870,007 8,031,000 7 ENE
Equity investments designated  Listed equity Listed equity securities Level 1()) ~ Quoted bid prices ~ N/A N/A N/A
at fair value through other securities - - HK§8,031,000 in an active market
comprehensive income HKS5,870,000
EEARLTEIAANZE  FIARARE-  RLTRERR- EIR)  (RERE RETHEE-PS  fREER RN/ 5%
sl WAB0B0008% 196,763,000 7 TEEPR) 038 ATERR TEGLTESN/H)
B/ RmaAE - 14686 01557
WE - fEREHN
(EVIEBITA) 2%
Equity investments designaied  Non-listed equity ~ Non-listed equity Level 3(ii) ~ Valuation muliples  Average PIE, PIS, PIB,  The higher the multiples, 5% increase/dcrease in
at fair value through other securities - securities - EVIEBITA multiles the higher the fair multiples would result in
comprehensive income HK$262,803,000 HK$156,763,000 of peers value increase/decrease in fair
value by HK$14,686,015

A izl TdR DTENEE RN/ H)s%Ey
ATERD /506,106,342
A7

Discount for lack of The higher the discount, 5% increase/decrease in

marketability the lower the fair discount would result in
value decreasefincrease in fair
value by HK$6,106,342
BOTERAE2ENRY  EWERER- EHESER- E2R6)  EATEE TR TR TR
EhRE 2,0000008% 414,189,000 7 §A8E
Debt investments at Trade receivables - Trade receivables-  Level (i) Significant N/A N/A N/A
fair value through other HK$202,040,000 HKS414,189,000 observation inputs

comprehensive income

sERAERERAT —2-—f=% @B
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43. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2,
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair
value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:

(i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

(i) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;

(iii)

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 in the
current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for senior notes as disclosed in note 32) recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on the discounted cash
flow analysis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 27 February 2023, the registration process for transfer by
way of judicial allocation (FEIEIBFEEFAE) in respect of
all of the 645,420,000 shares in the registered capital of EE
MREERGOERAR ("EEBMA") held by EEMRERKRAS
BAER AR (“EEFER") (representing approximately 41.07%
of the registered capital of EEMEF) was completed by the
Shanghai Branch of China Securities Depository and Clearing
Corporation (FEBEBHZZREEBREF AR LEFHAE]). Upon
completion of the judicial allocation and transfer, EEEEJR is no
longer interested in the shares of BEM A and ceased to be
the controlling shareholder of EEKF. The Group, through the
holdings of China Resources Gas (China) Investment Limited and
China Resources Gas Investment (China) Limited, has thereupon
become the largest shareholder of EEIAE.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

During the year, the directors of the Company considered its
business of comprehensive services as described in note 6
being part of the principal activity of the Group and classified
the relevant sales and income from the business as revenue.
Accordingly, the comparative figures of revenue, costs of sales
and other income in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income have been reclassified
to conform to the presentation in the current year. The
reclassifications have no impact on the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 1 January, 2021 and 31 December, 2021.

HBEMRTIERBERLAE —E-_FF3f @
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BE-_Z-_—_H+-A=+—HLEFE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

47. QBB AR R R 47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY
—Eg-- T4
+=ZA=+—-8 +=ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2022 2021
FET FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
W - BER&E Property, plant and equipment 351 509
KRB ARIMIELTIRE Unlisted investments in subsidiaries 13,850,031 13,850,031
NGO Amounts due from subsidiaries 8,247,939 11,901,767
FREEE Right-of-use assets 7,247 3,106
22,105,568 25,755,413
MENEE Current assets
F A IR Other receivables 2,259,835 2,312,540
FE UGB S A B SRIE Amounts due from subsidiaries 618,778 1,140,882
FEU B X BB A B 5E Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries - 53,567
IRITHEB LIRS Bank balances and cash 25,898 354,938
2,904,511 3,861,927
mENEE Current liabilities
HAibER R IESTE A Other payables and accrued charges 227,683 403,966
JEA I B R R FUB Amounts due to subsidiaries 2,686,456 693,912
FEfT R 1R A B 5IE Amounts due to an intermediate holding
company 2,507,449 5,015,768
HEBE Lease liabilities 4,238 3,291
EBEER Senior notes - 5,583,770
RITEE Bank borrowings - 500,000
EEEE Deferred Liabilities 68 -
5,425,894 12,200,707
mEAEFRE Net current liabilities (2,521,383) (8,338,780)
19,584,185 17,416,633
AR K Capital and reserves
%N Share capital 231,401 231,401
] Reserves 14,634,521 17,185,232
14,865,922 17,416,633
ERBAE Non-current liabilities
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 4,714,973 -
HEBE Lease liabilities 3,290 -
4,718,263 -
19,584,185 17,416,633

7X7P CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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47. XD BB BARR T (F) 47. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
AARRERE - Movements in the Company’s reserves:
REDTH
RHEE $ABR RaEZRf EXRE REER ait
Shares
held for
incentive
Share Contributed award Translation Retained
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
RZTZ-4§-F-A At 1 January, 2021 10,038,588 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 15,294 16,584,370
EmERR2ESELE Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 2,710,302 2,710,302
EfiRE Dividends paid - - - - (2,109,440) (2,109,440)
RIFZ-E+ZA=1-A At 31 December, 2021 10,038,588 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 616,156 17,185,232
EmERR2ESELE Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 329,922 329,922
EfiRE Dividends paid - (2,880,633) - - - (2,880,633)
RITZZEFZA=1-A At 31 December, 2022 10,038,588 4,507,967 (166,250) (691,862) 946,078 14,634,521

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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48. T EM B AR EFR
TERBATNN—RER

RmEIR - REEHBARWER

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

General information of principal subsidiaries

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

By e period are set out below.
BRARBERE/
AT/ EMER REERLERE
Rt Issued and Attributable
RS Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“E--f  CZE--%
2022 2021
% %
EERAARLA ERELHS LERaxER 100 100 REER
China Resources Gas Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
AEI China Gas Limited mEHs LER1,000%T 100 100 RERR
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
ZEREBRRARAA Gk AR785,000,0007 66.43 6643 HERCAREEBREE
PRC RMB785,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
NIZBRABRAE HE ARH129,068,8007C 51 51 HERLEREEGRER
PRC RMB129,068,800 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
BREBRARLE' il AEH50,000,0007C 80.4 804 HERILE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
HFMEBRRARRA Gk 15,000,000% 70 0 HERCRREEBAEE
PRC US$15,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
ERERRRARAR" R 16,000,000 7T 50 50 HERERENRAEE
PRC US$16,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

WEEP CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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48. TEMBE AR E R (&) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERARARRA/
HMAYL/ ZREE REBEERE
Rt Issued and Attributable
CEL Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—g--f —Z--F
2022 2021
% %
BEERRRBRAR? HE 4,000,000% 7T 100 100 HERCRRERGRER
PRC US$4,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

EREBRRERAA R 11,000,000% 7% 57.11 5711 BERERENBALEE
PRC US$11,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

REEERRERRA Gk AR 94,000,000 75 75 HERLRRERRREE
PRC RMB94,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

LRERZERNEARLR HE AR#300,000,0007 515 515 HERIAREEGRIEE
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

EGEBRRARAA R AKH70,000,0007 71.43 7143 HERLRREREREE
PRC RMB70,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines
HAZEMRARAT HE AK10,000,0007 100 100 HERCEREBBAZE

PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

HEERFERERLAE —2-—F5% @B



RE IS IRRMIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

48. TEM B LA RER (H) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERARARRA/
HMAYL/ ZREE REBEERE
Rt Issued and Attributable
CEL Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—g--f —Z--F
2022 2021
% %
BIZRRRERAFP HE AK%10,000,0007 100 100 HERCAREERRESR
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

REZBRRARAA il A&51,300,0007C 51 51 BERERERBAEE
PRC RMB51,300,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

HREEMABRAF ik 7,788,900% T 100 100 HERCRRERRREE
PRC US$7,788,900 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

HEEREERAA) HE AE#29,890,6007 51 51 HERKERESEREE
PRC RMB29,890,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

BNZERAERAR il AK80,000,0007C 70 0 HERCEREREATE
PRC RMB80,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

ARERRIERDLAP HE ARH5,000,0007 100 100 HERCAREERREE

PRC RMB5,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
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48. TEMBE AR E R (&) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERARARRA/
HMAYL/ ZREE REBEERE
Rt Issued and Attributable
CEL Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—g--f —Z--F
2022 2021
% %
ERIMEEBREERAG HE AR 50,000,0007 51 51 HERLEREEGRER
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

IHEERRERAA! il AR950,000,00070 80 80 HERERERBATE
PRC RMB950,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

HREERRARLA ik AR 665,700,000 70 0 HERRRERRREE
PRC RMB665,700,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

BHEEMEERAA HE 29,980,000% 7 50 50 HERKEREREREE
PRC S$29,980,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

EEEERRARAA il AR 286,582,858 51 51 BERERERBAEE
PRC RMB286,582,858 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

YMEBRRERAR HE AR50,000,0007 95.95 .95 HERLAREEGRAEE

PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

48. TEM B LA RER (H) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEWBARN—RER (F) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERARARRA/
HMAYL/ ZREE REBEERE
Rt Issued and Attributable
CEL Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—g--f —Z--F
2022 2021
% %
REEBRRERAG HE AR55,000,0007 70 0 HERCEREEGRER
PRC RMB55,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

RERREARAA il ARH300,190,0007 55 5 HERIERERBAEE
PRC RMB300,190,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

RAEERA (HE) BRAR? ik AR 300,000,000 50 50 HERLRRERRREE
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

ZEERRIBRLA HE AR #258,686,1007T 65 65 HERKEREREREE
PRC RMB258,686,100 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines
REEEERRARLA il ARH252,000,00070 65 65 HERRRENRAEE
PRC RMB252,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

>

BIEERABRARF ik AR#150,000,0007C 51 51 HERLRRERRREE
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines

173 CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022



e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

48. TEM B LA RER (H) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLATN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERARARRA/
HMAYL/ ZREE REBEERE
Rt Issued and Attributable
CEL Place of incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—g--f —Z--F
2022 2021
% %
EREBRRERAT HE 6,250,000 7T 51 51 HERLRREEEIEE
PRC 1S$6,250,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

EEEERRARRA e AR#31,015,4007 51.91 5191 HERARERBREE
PRC RMB31,015,400 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines
HEEERABRAA Gk AR 150,000,007 49 49 HERRRERRREE
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines
RLEBRIBRAOAY i AR#252,000,0007T 55 5 HERKEREREREE

PRC RMB252,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines
EREERRARRA il AR%186,000,0007C 51 51 BERERERBAEE
PRC RMB186,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

connection of gas pipelines

>

BRTZEBRABRAA Gk AR 300,000,000 49 - HERLAREBBREE
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
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BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

48. TEMBLREHR (F)

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

TENBARN-—RER (&)

1 ZERRETBRUARIEGERENTY

2 HRAEBEAIRE50% A EHESS
ANE - MASERSEREEZNE
ANRARERES - Eilt - ZAFER
BAREENHEAR -

3 EZERARETBLIINEBEELENTT

4 AR EREBEITNE ST R4
R [ B AR S B R M B A RV 4C
B RENBEEBMENRE - B
AEBBERHBRABREHA KBRS
MENEMERE BASEE®EE
BZMEATMNAMEE - Bt %
RANBRIMEARERHB AR o

5 RARR T ZZFWIRE - WiERE
1B AT EEIS ©

BEEARARARAARFEERE
o PAE LI EBMEARIHA
NAMESE - YEEEFMRL
DAV EE S E A

RZEZZFR-FT-_—F+=A=
+-BHERNEAER  ZSHBAT
BT R EEES -

ARBEZERR - LRMIIOAEE
MEAREAREENEEREESRS
BEEAFE -ARAESERS  #
FIEMKEDRNFBHSRBES
I e

(CONTINUED)

General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

1 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able
to nominate over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the
company is regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

3 These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises.

4 The Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary
as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder
would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating, investment
and financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder
would agree the appointment of the entire senior management
nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for
as a subsidiary of the Group.

5 The company was acquired in 2022. Details of the acquisition are
set out in note 38.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and operate principally in their places of
incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31 December, 2022 and 2021 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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48. TEMB AT ER (&) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BEERFERERNIEZEREL Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material
RS non-controlling interests
TRINREBEREZERERHARE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
EF2EMBARE : of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
MR R
TEEX DY FERERTERTE
Place of B fl BT FERESWET
incorporation and  Proportion of ownership Profit allocated R FERER
ARER principal place of interests held by to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of company business non-controlling interests interests non-controlling interests

—E-CF —E--F —E-CEF —E-F —E-CE —E-—F

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
% % TR THET TR THETL
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000

REBERMRBRAT hE
PRC 33.57 33.57 18,498 14,968 303,228 299,443

HNERRRABRLF e
PRC 30 30 14,070 39,147 96,585 116,476

EGERRAERAF RE
PRC 50 50 26,912 28,090 178,928 167,580

EGERRRABR LT E
PRC 28.57 28.57 3,172 18,460 63,270 120,477

REEERRAERAT HE
PRC 49 49 (42,371) 35,614 182,094 329,505

AREBRRARAR P
PRC 30 30 29,612 28,101 396,296 381,780

EHERMRARLE HE
PRC 50 50 289,579 244,780 1,858,510 1,521,854
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BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

48. TEMBLREHR (F)

BEEARFERESNFZENE LD

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material

RS () non-controlling interests (Continued)
AL R
TEEEBY FERBERTERTE
Place of BHELA BT HERER BN
incorporation and  Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Rt FERER
ARER principal place of interests held by to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of company business non-controlling interests interests non-controlling interests
—E-CF —E--F —E_CE —EC--F —E-_CE —EC-F
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
% % TET FET TET TR
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
ELERRAERLA i
PRC 42.89 42.89 (7,822) 35,883 171,920 191,943
RAERRAEBRLA HE
PRC 45 45 17,239 10,026 207,861 192,737
RMEBRR () ERAE HE
PRC 50 50 5,561 19,772 196,057 225,271
BHERRREBRAR i
PRC 20 20 189,552 249,787 2,810,098 1,074,206
ZHEEREERAA HE
PRC 35 35 65,584 33,892 296,015 361,689
REEERRRARAR i
PRC 35 35 10,531 4,325 161,336 151,812
EEERRAERLA HE
PRC 49 49 43,205 36,975 399,196 342,601
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BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

48. TEMBE AR E R (&) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
BEERFERERNIEZEREL Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material
RS () non-controlling interests (Continued)
MR R
TEEEBY FERBRNEHTE
Place of BHLA ABRFFERESWET
incorporation and  Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Rt FERER
ARER principal place of interests held by to non-controlling Accumulated
Name of company business non-controlling interests interests non-controlling interests
—E-CF —E--F —E_CE —ECZ-F —E-_CE —EC-F
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
% % TET FET TET FET
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
EIZEHRAERAT i
PRC 49 49 87,608 145,866 495,737 741,590
BEEEREERLA HE
PRC 51 51 62,071 33,563 471,205 305,713
RILEBRRERAR HE
PRC 45 45 54,094 115,221 358,174 327,983
HBEZEBREERLA i
PRC 49 49 38,402 7,890 265,687 411,760

LEEREBRRBRAA P
PRC 48.5 48.5 954 7,392 265,214 242,039

BRFZEEMRBRAF TH
PRC 49 - 19,392 - 192,929 -

AR ERFEAM 3,835,420 5,284,288
BT

Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests

13,205,760 12,780,747
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RE IS IRRMIEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE—_Z_—_F+4+_-_B=+—HILEE For the year ended 31 December, 2022

48. T EM B ATIER (&) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

53

7328

#8aR

HEEERGARLA HUERRRERAR HBEERRARAT  WEERERMRERLE P
“B-_CE -E--% CZB-CZE -2--F CZB-CE -E--F CZBE-CE -E--F CZEBCCE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022
TEn T TEn T T T T Tir T
HKS'000  HKSO000  HK$'000  HKSO000  HK$'000  HKSO000  HKS$'000  HKSO000  HKS$'000

THLE Current assets 476,401 350,217 737,192 652,963 410,800 470,048 535,015 619,500 132,856
FroAE Non-current assets 1,182,549 918,259 811,202 584,427 733,840 1017152 657,178 680,680 328,438
ROaE Curtent liablfes (635372 (658046  (6939%9)  (496624)  (605129)  (66067T)  (54046) (771009  (55,232)
ErBaE Non-current iabilies (98508  (10093) (5753 (11915 (12040) (5609 (17184 (7028  (123%0)
FRAEEAELER Equity aftributable to owners of the

Company 303,865 293,724 420,528 400,868 260,884 329,154 215,191 260,104 200,803
R Non-controlling interests 471,205 305,713 358,174 327,983 265,687 411760 265,214 242,039 192,929
WA Revenue 1,104,822 709,984 3,523,770 1906232 1,312,350 1,095,862 653,515 656,371 186,231
BX Expenses (G83115) (644174 (3403560) (1650186) (1233980)  (996105)  (B5TA9) (40483 (146,656)
FREF Profit for the year 121,707 65,810 120,210 256,046 78,370 97,667 1,966 7,888 39,575
KRAEE ABLER Profit attributable to owners of the

Company 59,636 32,247 66,116 140,825 39,968 89,777 1,012 49% 20,183
FERERES AT Proft attributable to the

non-controlling interests 62,071 33,563 54,004 115,221 38,402 7,890 954 7392 19,392
FRER Profit for the year 121,707 65,810 120,210 256,046 78,370 97,667 1,966 7,888 39,575

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022



e R RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

48. T EM B ATIER (&) 48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

52

7388

#55R

FEEARAERLT PLERRFERLR HEERRRERAD  LEERERRFERLA A7
“§--F -E--F C-B-CE -E--F -$-cE -E--F CE-cE -E--F CECCE
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022
TEn Tin TEn Fin Tén Tin Tén Tin Tén
HK$'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000

KRAEEAER2ERELE  Total comprehensive income

attributable to owners of the

Company 60,192 30,41 66,116 140,825 39,968 89,777 1,012 49% 20,183
FERESEERERREE  Totel comprehensive income

attributable to the non-controlling

interests 62,648 33,563 54,004 115,221 38,402 7890 954 7392 19,392
EnrEhaEE Total comprehensive income for
the year 122,840 65,810 120,210 256,046 78,370 97,667 1,966 7,888 39,575
BfiERiER RS Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests @875 (11061 (85 (775%)  (17159) 113794 - - -
MEERHELORSRA/  Net cash inflow{outow) from
()58 operating activities 178991 147044 265566 255664 114754 69284 35005 3697 37842
RESBAELHRE(RL)/  Net cash (outflow)inflow from
RAEE investing activies (QUAOSI) (63574 (102480)  (6667) (3488 (2271)  (M07) (660 147
BESEFELORE(RE)/  Netcash (outfow)inflow from
TAFR financing activities 144,644 (72,820) (70599)  (214,089) (52,068) (16,030) (22,253) (34,208) 9
R () HASE Net cash (outfow)inflow 058 1150 047 (5122 90 w167 (128) 49598
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZE--F+-A=+—HLFE

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

49. TEEGENFER 49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
AEEESRE
JoRoR:E ] Attributable
ARER Place of HEmER equity interest TEEH
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
B —T-—F
2022 2021
% %
ERERELNEERAT hE AR H2,800,000,0007T 49 49 WERCERERRRES
PRC RMB2,800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BEMEREERRAERAF HE AR117,939,5007C 40 40 HERLRREEHRESR
PRC RMB117,939,500 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BERRRERRABRAT i AR717,578,6007C 49 49 HERLRREBHRESE
PRC RMB717,578,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EFERRRERAR HE AR 1,000,000,0007 49 49 HERLRREBHRES
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ELERRTRRABRAF HE AK148,000,0007C 50 50 WERLRLRERBRES
PRC RMB148,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
m)IEBERRRARNEBRRA  PE AR#122,423,37270 50 50 HERCERERBRESR
PRC RMB122,423,372 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BETHREREEERAA hE AK#100,000,0007T 49 49 HERCERERBRES
PRC RMB100,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2022
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R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT__F+-A=+—HLLFE  Forthe year ended 31 December, 2022

49. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)

AEEEGRE
RS Attributable
AR ER Place of HEfEX equity interest TREY
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
B —T-—F
2022 2021
% %
BMNEBREER FE AR #538,995,3007T 49 49 HERCRREERREE
PRC RMB538,995,300 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REBERRAR HE A& 5,000,000,0007 49 49 WHERICEREEHRES
PRC RMBS5,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
REAREERRERRF Gl AR 1,000,000,0007 49 - WERLRREBHRES
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HREAEBHARITERNEE R The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
AERNAIMN— ﬁﬂi‘ U7 2 [ A of which the decisions about the relevant activities require
ZENRATELRIEGIRE - Bt - the unanimous consent of the Group and the joint ventures.
EY/N ﬂ?ﬁi’rﬁﬁ$%l AERA] Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of

ARBEZRR - LRMIIHAEE
BERREAEEFANEEFAEXN
FEIABRAKREEEFEEARR
ARREERR  #HIEMAE
AMFBRHSAREBNITE °

)

D) ED

the Group.

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZE--F+-A=+—HLFE

50. T EHLEQATER

For the year ended 31 December, 2022

50. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES

AE0R/HELR
BAENRE REEELRE
R Equity interest Attributable
AAER Place of ERER held by the joint interest equity ITER
Name of company establishment Registered capital ventures/subsidiaries of the Group Principal activities
—g--f -E--F  ZEIZE —E--F
2022 2021 2022 2021
% % % %
AR EERH HE K 889,000,000 32.40 3240 3240 240  HERKARESEEEE
ARAE" PRC RMB889,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
TEURRER % ARH95,500,0007C 7 a 2.77 BT HERRR RERAER
EfRH PRC RMBY5,590,000 HABEARESGRESE
Sale of natural gas, LPG
and gas appliances and
connection of gas pipelines
EEMREERR % ARE1,571,340,0007T 39.17 39.17 39.17 3.7 HERLARESEREE
ARRE" PRC RMB1,571,340,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
ERRUTERER G AR¥40,000,0007 49 49 2.5 25 HERERENBREE
HRERAT PRC RMBA40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EEPRLERERE  HE AR%40,000,0007 36 36 36 % HERLRRESEEEE
ReRBERAR PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
IBARREEERAA & AR30,000,0007 49 49 49 49  HERARREREBREE
PRC RMB30,000,000 Sale of natural gas and connection

RERRZBNELBERRSM L

at

ARREERR LRI AEHE
BENFHARENEGESREERR
BEEEAXE -ARBEERR #
FIEMBE R A NHIBE B A BE S
RITE °

of gas pipelines

These companies have listed their shares on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange.

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details
of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the

Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2022
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Five Year Financial Summary

¥E RESULTS

BET-A=+T—HILFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-N\F ZE-NF ZZ2-TF —T--F CZBIZH

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

TAET TERT TAET TERT TER

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000

L'ON REVENUE 52,288,103 56,976,290 55,864,169 79,642,030 94,338,329

F R A PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 5,861,417 6,499,743 6,711,888 8,439,832 6,308,519
&1 ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

TRTHEEA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 4,450,101 5,043,477 5,161,292 6,395,368 4,733,455

FEER MR NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 1,411,316 1,456,266 1,560,596 2,044,464 1,575,064

5,861,417 6,499,743 6,711,888 8,439,832 6,308,519

EEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

+-A=+—-18

31 December

—T-N\F ZT-NF ZTZTF TZ—F =ZB-=F

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

FHEL FET FHET FHT FHT

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BEMBE TOTAL ASSETS 74,903,377 81,824,020 93,870,809 106,136,308 112,051,660

BEHEME TOTAL LIABILITIES (42,853,810) (46,001,805) (47,002,450) (52,098,646) (59,511,194)

A s (E TOTAL EQUITY 32,049,567 35822215 46,868,359 54,037,662 52,540,466
PEMERRA EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO:

ARREEA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 24,081,120 26,795,437 36,274,287 41,256,915 39,334,706

FEIE R i NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 7,968,447 9,026,778 10,594,072 12,780,747 13,205,760

A s (E TOTAL EQUITY 32,049,567 35822215 46,868,359 54,037,662 52,540,466

EMRALRERLT —B-—FEH
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HEEEL

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Ping (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

Mr. WANG Gaogiang

Mr. LIU Xiaoyong

Mr. LIU Jian

Mr. HE Youdong (Appointed on 28th September, 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. YANG Yuchuan
Mr. HU Xiaoyong

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

Mr. LIU Xiaoyong

Mr. LIU Jian

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. HU Xiaoyong
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Victoria place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM10
Bermuda
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Corporate Information

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. WANG Gaogiang

Mr. HE Youdong (Appointed on 28th September, 2022)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. YANG Ping (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YANG Yuchuan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM10
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-02

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong
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FEROBBFETE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO08

Bermuda

BEREBROBFELS &
SERERBERAF

BEEREB165E
BREBAPOTE

LEGAL ADVISOR
Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HM08

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
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